

ARIS

PROCEEDINGS



American Peanut Research

and

Education Society, Inc.

Volume 16 Number 1



Volume 16

4

.

Number 1

1984

Proceedings

of

American Peanut Research and Education Society, Inc.

> Meeting Mobile, Alabama July 17-20, 1984

Publication Date November, 1984

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 1984-1985

.

PresidentGale A. Buchanan	(1985)
Past PresidentFred R. Cox	(1985)
President-ElectDonald H. Smith	(1985)
State Employee RepresentativeJohnny C. Wynne	(1985)
USDA RepresentativeAubrey C. Mixon	(1987)
Industry Representatives:	
ProductionGerald W. Harrison	(1985)
Shelling, Marketing, StorageG. Max Grice	(1986)
Manufactured ProductsTerry Grinsted	(1986)
National Peanut Council PresidentPerry Russ	(1985)
Executive OfficerJ. Ron Sholar	(1985)

D

ž

ş

COMMITTEES 1984-1985

PROGRAM COMMITTEE	
D. H. Smith, Chairman	(1985)
FINANCE COMMITTEE	
T. E. Boswell	(1985)
H. A. Melouk	(1985)
T. West	(1986)
J. Bone	(1986)
W. E. Dykes, Chairman	(1987)
NOMINATING COMMITTEE	
Fred Cox, Chairman	(1985)
J. E. Mobley	(1985)
J. Kirby	(1985)
PUBLICATIONS & EDITORIAL COMMIT	TEE
T. Coffelt, Chairman	(1985)
D. Banks	(1985)
W. T. Mills	(1986)
N. Sugg	(1986)
C. Kvien	(1987)
M. Schubert	(1987)
A. Mixon, Ex-Officio	
H. Pattee, Ex-Officio	
C. T. Young, Ex-Officio	
PEANUT QUALITY COMMITTEE	
R. E. Worthington, Chairman	(1985)
G. M. Grice	(1985)
H. E. Pattee	(1985)
S. K. Pancholy	(1985)
D. T. Bateman	(1986)
L. L. Khatri	(1986)
K. Rushing	(1986)
E.J. Williams	(1987)
N. Lovegren	(1987)
LIAISON MEMBERS	
Durward Bateman, Southern	
Agricultural Experiment	
Station Directors	(1985)
0. D. Smith, American Society	
of Agronomy	(1986)

PUBLIC RELATIONS COMMITTEE	
Leland Tripp, Chairman	(1985)
Paul Blankenship	(1985)
G. A. Sullivan	(1985)
C. Warnken	(1986)
W. H. Bordt	(1986)
D. L. Hartzog	(1987)
Dave Hogg	(1987)
BAILEY AWARD COMMITTEE	
D. W. Gorbet	(1985)
R. F. Hooks	(1985)
M. K. Beute, Chairman	(1986)
J. C. Smith	(1986)
D. L. Ketring	(1987)
C. Swann	(1987)
FELLOWS COMMITTEE	
K. Garren	(1985)
A. Perry, Chairman	(1986)
R. Hammons	(1986)
L. Tripp	(1987)
H. Pattee	(1987)
A. J. Norden	(1987)
W. V. Campbell	(1987)
GOLDEN PEANUT AWARD ADVISORY	
J. Butler, Chairman	(1985)
F. McGill	(1985)
T. B. Whitaker	(1986)
D. A. Emery	(1986)
A. J. Norden	(1987)
L. Tripp	(1987)
SITE SELECTION COMMITTEE	
A. M. Schubert, Chairman	(1985)
R. E. Pettit	(1985)
J. L. Steele	(1986)
R. W. Mozingo	(1986)
B. Whitty	(1987)
D. W. Gorbet	(1987)
R. Berberet	(1988)

(1988)

B. L. Clary

€

-11

e

. S

PAST PRESIDENTS, APRES

× 2

₽

2

Fred C. Cox	(1983)	J. Frank McGill	(1975)
David C. H. Hsi	(1982)	Kenneth H. Garren	(1974)
James L. Butler	(1981)	Edwin L. Sexton	(1973)
Allen H. Allison	(1980)	Olin D. Smith	(1972)
James S. Kirby	(1979)	William T. Mills	(1971)
Allen J. Norden	(1978)	J. W. Dickens	(1970)
Astor Perry	(1977)	David L. Moake	(1969)
Leland Tripp	(1976)	Norman D. Davis	(1968)

FELLOWS OF APRES

Dr. Allen J. Nor	den (1984)
Dr. William V. C	ampbell (1984)
Dr. Harold Patte	
Mr. Leland Tripp	(1983)
Dr. Kenneth H. G	iarren (1982)
Dr. Ray O. Hammo	ns (1982)
Mr. Astor Perry	(1982)

BAILEY AWARD WINNERS

1984 - C. S. Kvien, R. J. Henning, J. E. Pallas, and W. D. Branch
1983 - C. S. Kvien, J. E. Pallas, D. W. Maxey, and J. Evans
1982 - E. Jay Williams and J. Stanley Drexler
1981 - N. A. de Rivero and S. L. Poe
1980 - J. Stanley Drexler and E. Jay Williams
1979 - David A. Nickle and David W. Hagstrum
1978 - John M. Troeger and James L. Butler
1977 - Johnny C. Wynne
1975 - Robert E. Pettit, Frederick M. Shokes, and Ruth Ann Taber

GOLDEN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION AWARD WINNERS

1984	Leland Tripp
1983	Richard Cole, Timothy Sanders, Robert Hill, and Paul Blankenship
1982	J. Frank McGill
1981	G. A. Buchanan and E. W. Hauser
1980	T. B. Whitaker
1979	J. L. Butler
1978	R. S. Hutchinson
1977	H. E. Pattee
1976	D. A. Emery
1975	R. O. Hammons
1974	K. H. Garren
1973	A. J. Norden
1972	U. L. Diener and N. D. Davis
1971	A. E. Waltking
1970	A. L. Harrison
1969	H. C. Harris
1968	C. R. Jackson
1967	R. S. Matlock and M. E. Mason
1966	L. I. Miller
1965	B. C. Langley
1964	A. M. Altschul
1963	W. A. Carver
1962	J. W. Dickens
1961	W. C. Gregory

TABLE OF CONTENTS

OPENING SESSION

Importance of the Land Grant Universities in Peanut Research and Extension---- 11 G. A. Buchanan

TECHNICAL SESSIONS

Plant Pathology - Nematology

Population Dynamics of <u>Meloidogyne</u> arenaria in a Peanut Field R. Rodriguez-Kabana, A. K. Culbreath, and D. G. Robertson	14
Combinations of 1,3-D and Aldicarb for Control of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in Peanut	14
Corn and Sorghum as Rotational Crops for Control of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in Peanuts P. S. King, R. Rodriguez-Kabana, and J. T. Touchton	15
Occurrence of Peanut Pod Rot in Oklahoma and Phytopathogenic Fungi and Nematodes Isolated from Diseased Plants A. B. Filonow and M. W. Andrews	15
Evaluation of Chlorpyrifos and the break down product 3,5,6-trichloro-2- pyridinol for <u>Sclerotium</u> <u>rolfsii</u> control A. S. Csinos	16
White Mold Suppression on Peanuts with Lorsban 15G A. K. Hagan and J. R. Weeks.	16
Practical Implications of Resistance to Dicarboximide Fungicides in Sclerotinia minor from Peanuts T. B. Brenneman, P. M. Phipps, and R. J. Stipes	17
Comparisons of Hollow Cone and Flat Fan Spray Nozzles for Peanut Leafspot Control T. Kucharek and R. Cullen	17
An Assessment Method for Evaluating Foliar Fungicides for Control of Leaf Spot of Peanut K. E. Jackson and H. A. Melouk	18
Parasitic Fitness Parameters of Benomyl-Resistant and Sensitive Isolates of <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u> on peanut cv. 'Tamnut 74' H. A. Melouk and D. H. Smith.	18
Resistance to Early Leafspot in Peanuts P. Subrahmanyam, S. N. Nigam, P. Ngwira, and A. J. Chiyembekeza	19
Factors Influencing Yield Responses of Peanuts Following Seed Treatment with Bacillus subtilis J. T. Turner and P. A. Backman	19
Production Technology - Pest Management	
Peanut Production at Various Management Levels D. T. Gooden, C. E. Drye, and J. W. Chapin	20
Determination of Growth Period Required for a Full-Season Runner to Exceed a Short-Season Spanish Peanut in Yield, Value and Seed QualityA. C. Mixon and W. D. Branch	20

_

۹.

•

4

Page

Peanut Pest Management in South Texas P. F. Lummus and C. T. Gasch	21
Application of Current Technology to Achieve Maximum Profits in Peanut	
Production A. H. Allison, P. M. Phipps, O. E. Rud, J. C. Smith, and G. G. Gallimore	21
Irrigation and Tillage Effects on Peanut Yields in Virginia F. S. Wright, D. M. Porter, N. L. Powell, and B. B. Ross	22
Response of Three Peanut Cultivars to Different Rates of Gypsum G. A. Sullivan and W. Ismail	22
Response of Florunner Peanuts to Gypsum (Landplaster) J. I. Davidson, Jr., R. J. Henning, P. D. Blankenship, T. H. Sanders, R. J. Cole, R. A. Hill, and W. R. Guerke	23
Evaluation of Fenitrothion as a Protectant for Stored Farmers Stock Peanuts L. M. Redlinger and R. A. Simonaitis	23
Evaluating Pest Management Programs Using Telephone Survey J. C. French and J. R. Weeks	24
Results of 1984 IPM Peanut Survey in Alabama J. R. Weeks and J. C. French	24
Yield Evaluation of Herbicide Tolerant Peanut Genotypes M. S. Riffle, D. H. Teem, B. J. Brecke, and D. W. Gorbet	24
Twin Rows as a Supplement to Yield and Weed Control in Peanuts G. Wehtje, R. H. Walker, M. G. Patterson, and J. A. McGuire	25
Effects of Row Patterns and Weed Control Systems on Peanut Yield, Weed Control, and Net Returns D. L. Colvin, R. H. Walker, M. G. Patterson, and J. A. McGuire	25
Physiology, Seed Technology, Processing and Utilization	
Effect of Kylar on Fatty Acid Composition of Seed of Five Peanut Cultivars R. W. Mozingo and J. L. Steele	26
Changes in the Polypeptide Composition of the Peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.) Seed During Roasting S. M. Basha and C. T. Young	26
Trypsin Inhibitors in Peanut Seed Protein E. M. Ahmed, K. Bieshiada, and M. B. Shaik	27
Response of Two Commercial Cultivars of Peanuts to Hot Water Treatment and Accelerated Storage A. L. Branch, R. E. Worthington, M. S. Chhinnan, and T. O. M. Nakayama	27
A Determination of the Relative Storage Life of Raw Peanuts N. V. Lovegren, F. W. Parrish, and R. O. Hammons	28
Rapid Colormetric Test for Ethanol-Related Off-Flavors in Peanuts	28
Reproductive Response of Peanut Cultivars to Photoperiod F. P. Gardner	29
Effect of Soil Temperature on Yield Factors of Florunner Peanuts T. H. Sanders and P. D. Blankenship	29
Membrane Thermostability of Peanut Genotypes D. L. Ketring	30

Ŷ

In Vitro Culture of Peanuts and Preliminary Field Evaluation of Cloned Material	30
R. N. Pittman, D. J. Banks, and B. B. Johnson	50
Effects of Duration, Timing and Intensity of Single and Multiple Droughts on Peanuts	31
R. C. Nageswara Rao and J. H. Williams	
Growth and Partitioning Responses of Four Peanut Genotypes to <u>Cercospora</u> Leafspot	31
K. V. Pixley, K. J. Boote, F. M. Shokes, and D. W. Gorbet	
Response of Florunner Peanuts to Application of Kylar M. E. Walker, T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos, and B. G. Mullinix, Jr.	32
Use of the CASAS (Computerized Automated Seed Analysis System) Dynamic Electrical Conductivity Analysis as an Indicator of Potential Freeze Damage in Peanut Seed	32
R. D. Keys, G. A. Reusche, and R. Margapuram	52
Effect of Ethrel Seed Treatment on Growth, Yield, and Grade of Two Virginia-type Peanuts	33
T. A. Coffelt and R. K. Howell	
Water Relations and Yield of Peanut Genotypes Grown Under Irrigated and Rainfed Conditions P. I. Erickson, D. L. Ketring, and Ming-Teh Huang	33
Influence of Cultivar, Spacing and Sowing Date on the Performance of Peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.) E. O. Auma and F. P. Gardner	34
Entomology	
<u>Entomology</u> Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage	25
Entomology	35
<u>Entomology</u> Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	
<u>Entomology</u> Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	
<u>Entomology</u> Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35 36
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35 36 36
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts- J. M. Cheshire, Jr., W. L. Hargrove, C. S. Rothrock, and M. E. Walker Relation of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Damage to Peanut Pods and the Incidence of <u>Aspergillus flavus</u> - R. E. Lynch and D. M. Wilson Control of Lesser Cornstalk Borer with Granular Chlorphrifos- J. W. Chapin Summary of Peanut Insect Control with Chemicals Applied Through Irrigation Systems- L. W. Morgan and M. H. Bass Evaluation of Collections of International Peanut Germplasm for Insect Resistance- W. V. Campbell, J. C. Wynne, M. Keerati-Kasikorn, E. P. Cadapan, and S. Sirisingh <u>Breeding and Genetics</u> Agronomic Response of Two Resistant Lines to Leafspot Management- D. W. Gorbet, A. J. Norden, F. M. Shokes, and D. A. Knauft	35 35 36 36 37
Entomology Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts	35 35 36 36 37

A Wild <u>Arachis</u> Winter Nursery in South Texas------ 38 D. J. Banks, R. N. Pittman, and C. M. Heald

•

s

4

٩ŀ

Development of Foliar Diseases Resistant Groundnut Lines at ICRISAT L. J. Reddy, S. N. Nigam, P. Subrahmanyam, S. L. Dwivedi, R. W. Gibbons, and D. McDonald	38
Application of IBPGR/ICRISAT Minimum Descriptors to <u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L. Germplasm	39
C. E. Simpson, E. R. Howard, and D. L. Higgins	39
An Investigation of Oil Quality in Ontario-grown Peanuts E. E. Sykes and T. E. Michaels	39
Extension Technology, Harvesting and Storing	
Evaluation of Soil Extracting Reagents for Determining Available Calcium to Peanut Fruit T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos, and M. E. Walker	40
A Microcomputer Program to Aid County Agents in CBR Disease Management Decision MakingJ. E. Bailey	40
Cation Exchange Constants for a Gapon Model from Peanut Production Soil F. J. Adamsen	<u>.</u> 41
Peanut Nodule Mineral Content R. K. Howell and L. P. Rose, Jr.	41
Electronic Moisture Measurement of Peanuts J. H. Young	42
Effects of Microwave Vacuum Drying on Quality of Florunner Peanuts J. L. Pearson, W. L. Shupe, T. H. Sanders, J. L. Butler, J. L. McMeans, and S. R. Delwiche	42
Cooling a Peanut Warehouse with Aeration and/or Mechanical Ventilation J. S. Smith, Jr., and J. I. Davidson, Jr.	43
Separation and Removal of Aflatoxin Contaminated Peanuts at Peanut Cleaning and Shelling Plants	43
P. D. Blankenship, J. I. Davidson, Jr., T. H. Sanders, and C. T. Bennett	43
Variability in Grade Determinations for Farmers' Stock Peanuts J. W. Dickens, T. B. Whitaker, and J. I. Davidson, Jr.	44
Factors Affecting Flavor and Headspace Volatiles of Cooked Peanuts C. T. Young and R. W. Mozingo	44
Mycotoxins	
Relation of Preharvest Aflatoxin Contamination to Duration of Environmental	45
Stress R. J. Cole, P. D. Blankenship, T. H. Sanders, and R. A. Hill	45
Colonization of Organic Matter Substrates in Soil by <u>Aspergillus</u> <u>flavus</u> J. P. Stack and R. E. Pettit	45
Development of Statistical Models to Simulate the Testing of Farmers' Stock Peanuts for Aflatoxin Using Visual, TLC, and Minicolumn Methods T. B. Whitaker, J. W. Dickens, J. I. Davidson, and V. Chew	46
Comparison of Methods for the Analysis of Cyclopiazonic Acid in Peanuts J. A. Lansden	46
Flavonoids and <u>A. flavus</u> Resistant Peanuts D. J. Daigle, A. Mi xon, A. J. DeLucca, II, and T. A. Coffelt	47

P

Effect of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Peanut Pod Damage on Colonization by a Mutant of <u>Aspergillus parasiticus</u>	47
D. M. Wilson and R. E. Lynch	
SYMPOSIA	
Irrigation Systems for Peanut Production	
Irrigation Equipment, Scheduling, and Limitations of Each SystemE. D. Threadgill	48
The Technology for Successful Chemigation C. C. Dowler	49
Irrigation Schedules for Peanut Production E. W. Rochester	50
Chemical, Genetic, and Engineering Aspects of Foliar Disease Management	
Management of Peanut Cultivars with Genetic Resistance F. M. Shokes, D. W. Gorbet, and R. H. Littrell	51
Performance of Tilt 3.6EC in Peanut Leafspot Control H. G. Hancock and J. D. Weete	52
Management Strategies for Optimal Use of Chlorothalonil on Florunner Peanuts in the Southeast P. A. Backman	52
Effect of Fungicide Application Technique on Deposition, Disease Control and Pod Yield R. H. Littrell and F. H. Shokes	53
Management of Nematodes in Peanuts	
	E A
Population Dynamics and the Management of <u>Meloidogyne</u> <u>arenaria</u> in Peanuts R. Rodriguez-Kabana	54
Management of <u>Meloidogyne</u> <u>arenaria</u> in Peanut During the Past Ten Years D. W. Dickson	54
Nematicides for Nematode Control on Peanut N. A. Minton	55
DISCUSSION GROUPS	
Peanut Stripe Virus	
Peanut Stripe Virus Infecting U.S. Peanuts: An OverviewJ. W. Demski	56
Use of Cytological and Immunodiffusion Techniques to Aid Virus Identification- D. E. Purcifull, R. G. Christie, E. Hiebert, Z. Xiong, and S. R. Christie	57
Plant Introductions and the Distribution of Peanut Seed G. R. Lovell	58
Peanut Stripe Virus, Infection of Peanuts, and Breeding ProgramsJ. C. Wynne	59

Regulation of Seed Distribution as Influenced by New Diseases or Insect Pests- 60 B. G. Lee and A. Elder

8

.

۶.

ŝ

£

Extension and Industry

Peanut Disease Loss Estimates for Major Peanut Producing States in the United States for 1983 R. V. Sturgeon, Jr.	62
No EDB! Now What? for Root Knot Nematode Control on Peanuts T. A. Lee, Jr.	65
New Developments from Helena Chemical CompanyA. Underwood	65
QUANTUM [®] 4000 - A New Type of Seed Treatment for Peanuts	66
Product Characteristics of Lorsban 15G in Peanut D. B. Hale	66
Actellic; An UpdateC. Weed	66
Harvest Plus: A High Analysis, Complete Foliar Nutritional R. E. Woodward	67
New Products for the Control of Sclerotinia Blight of Peanut P. M. Phipps	67
Standardized Systems for Nematicide Evaluation - Variable Data: Why and How?- C. H. Baldwin, J. Bailey, D. Dickson, and R. Kabana	68
SOCIETY BUSINESS	
Minutes of APRES Board of Directors Meeting 17 July 1984 Minutes of the Regular Business Meeting of the American Peanut	69
Research and Education Society	71 72
President's Report	75
Executive Officer's Report Program Committee Report	77 78
Finance Committee Report	88
Publication and Editorial Committee Report	90
Peanut Quality Committee Report	91
Site Selection Committee Report Public Relations Committee Report	92 93
Golden Peanut Award Advisory Committee Report	93
Bailey Award Committee Report	94
Nominating Committee Report Fellows Committee Report	95 95
Ligican Depresentative Retween APDES and the	
American Society of Agronomy Report	97
By-Laws	98 104
Author Index	125

.

OPENING SESSION

ς.

4

Importance of the Land Grant Universities in Peanut Research and Extension. Gale A. Buchanan, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station.

Few would argue over the importance of the land grant university's research and extension programs in peanuts. In fact, most of you would probably agree that the peanut industry, as we know it today, has been made possible to a great extent by research and extension programs.

In no way do I wish to detract from the contributions of American industry, hardworking and innovative producers, and in no small measure, good soil and a favorable climate that occur throughout most of the peanut producing regions of the United States.

Many of us remember well how we produced peanuts in 1950. In fact, the average peanut producer used about the same tools in 1950 that were available at the turn of the century. this does not mean that major contributions had not been made in improved cultivars, greater knowledge of fertility and better management practices, but the real changes in peanut production have occurred since 1950.

Recall, if you will, where we were in peanut production in 1950. The great strides had been dreamed about, but not made, in pest control, particularly weeds and diseases. Harvesting was almost always dictated by the level of disease infestation late in the season. Remember, also, the cost both in dollars and human drudgery in controlling grasses and other weeds in peanuts. And harvesting - digging with the moldboard plow minus the wing, and the stationary combines.

These few examples clearly document where we were just a few years ago. Peanut yields in Alabama were below 1,000 pounds per acre in 1950 as compared to 2,450 pounds per acre in 1983. However, this was down from 2,950 pounds in 1982. Although credit for this phenomenal increase in productivity must be shared with industry, innovative producers, and others, the bottom line makes it clear that research and education programs are largely responsible for the strides we have made.

It would be nice if we could end the story on this positive note, because it is a good one with a lot of excitement and glory to share with all concerned--but there is another side to the story that must be faced. Probably never in the history of the peanut industry has the need for effective research and extension programs been greater than is true today. It is a challenge that each of us faces if we are to see peanuts remain a viable commodity in the United States. Please allow me to share with you some of my thoughts on this subject and how I visualize the role of research and extension programs of the land grant universities continuing to develop during the coming years.

There are a few relevant facts that should be recognized at the outset. First, peanuts are a high quality and highly desirable commodity. The fact that peanuts are not necessarily accepted should be thought of as potential for growth. Second, there are substitutes for many of the uses of peanuts today. Thirdly, the United States represents only about 10% of world production.

We should also recognize that someone, somewhere, is going to produce peanuts. We would like to find the key that will ensure that U.S. farmers are the ones who will be producing peanuts in the future. The peanut producing regions of this country certainly have the soils, climate, and expertise to produce peanuts effectively and efficiently enough to be competitive on the world market.

For the remainder of my presentation, I would like to discuss a few of the areas where I feel research and extension programs in land grant universities can make a difference and assure that we, in the United States, will be successful in peanut production in the future.

It is important to note that there are opportunities for important contributions from all of the traditional areas of peanut research. Consequently, I would like to simply recognize the importance of such areas as fertility and

general cultural practices, and emphasize that research in each area should be expected to produce continued technology necessary for successful peanut production in the future.

Tillage

Much research has been conducted through the years regarding the effects of cultivation of peanuts. However, only in recent years has any research been done concerning reduced tillage as a primary production practice in peanuts, and this has been on a limited basis. Sufficient data, however, have been accumulated to indicate the potential of utilizing reduced tillage production practices for satisfactory peanut production, particularly in some areas of the southeast. The advantages of reduced tillage practices need further clarification, as do the means to achieve these advantages (i.e., slit till, row till, no till, etc.).

Pest Management

The control of pests remains one of the major areas of additional research emphasis in peanuts. While tremendous strides have been made in recent years in effectively mitigating the effects of a number of peanut pests, the problem remains a long way from effective solution. The loss in recent years of some extremely important and effective nematicides clearly indicates that this is an area where considerable fundamental research remains to be done. The loss to other pesticides is there, too! The continued refinement of herbicides, resulting in highly effective control of certain weed species, simply points toward the need for more definitive information regarding the effects of weeds on crops. The dynamics of all pest populations--diseases, nematodes, and weeds - in relation to yield and economics of production should be evaluated for both presently used cultivars and those under development.

In order to effectively utilize available pest control technology, we must have a clear understanding of the losses caused by these pests before the implementation of control measures. Because of the losses of some practical pesticides in recent years and the continuing high cost of other pest control technology, it is imperative that we continue to look for broader based biological control measures for insects, nematodes, weeds, and diseases. Coupled with this is the need for utilization of various cultural practices which mitigate or lessen the effects of various pests without causing substantial or significant losses in yields. The possibility of developing artificial populations of natural enemies by rotation, interplanting other crops, or culture and release of predators, is another area that deserves careful consideration.

Microcomputers

The utilization of microcomputers will continue to increase dramatically during the next decade. It is important that we begin now to develop appropriate computer programs for peanuts that will enable producers to effectively utilize all technology involved in the production of peanuts. In order for the peanut producer to effectively utilize the technology available, he must have an understanding and appreciation for computers and how they can be used in his production and marketing systems. The use of computers will be crucial in optimizing the decision-making process in the years ahead.

Postharvest Technology

The area of postharvest technology will require considerable research emphasis during the next decade.

Irrigation

It's ironic that the Southeastern United States, which has 50 to 60 inches of rainfall per year, still has droughts which can be devastating for all of our crops, including peanuts. In order to minimize the risks involved in producing a high value crop such as peanuts, we need further refinement in irrigation technology. New developments in various irrigation systems, coupled with basic economics, is an important area that needs further research attention.

Economics

۹,

2

One of the most important considerations for peanuts, as well as for other commodities, is a clear understanding of the economic considerations of all aspects of production. If peanuts are to remain a viable crop, we need further input-output analyses of all production aspects of this crop.

Genetics and Breeding

We must have renewed effort in the traditional area of genetics and breeding of peanuts. In addition, we must not overlook the potential for contributions from the growing field of molecular genetics.

Summary

In order for the U.S. peanut farmer to make a reasonable profit, he must grow a minimum of 1.5 tons per acre--three times the minimum requirement in the developing world. As these developing countries (many of whom are represented here) continue their technological advances, however, they will provide more peanuts to the world market and force the U.S. farmer to further improve his efficiency through increased yield or reduced costs.

Only through unparalleled efficiency can the U.S. producer compete as the developing world closes the present gap. Such improved efficiencies will come only as the products of careful research covering the spectrum of peanut science. It is our challenge to provide that research.

PLANT PATHOLOGY - NEMATOLOGY

Population Dynamics of Meloidogyne arenaria in a Peanut Field. R. Rodriguez-Kabana, A. K. Culbreath, and D. G. Robertson, Department of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, AL 36849.

The development of larval populations of Meloidogyne arenaria (Neal) Chitwood in soil was studied for 2 years in a peanut (Arachis hypogaea L) field near Headland, Alabama. The field had been with peanut for the preceeding 5 years and was planted every fall with hairy vetch (Vicia villosa Roth) to serve as cover crop and maintain populations of the nematode. Soil samples for nematode analysis were collected every 15-20 days during the entire peanut season every year. At each sampling a total of 24 plots were sampled. The plots were 2-row (each 0.9 M wide) x 10 M, and were planted with Florunner peanuts. Samples from each plot consisted of 16-20, 2.5-cm-diam soil cores taken from the root zone along the center of each plot. The cores were composited and a 100 cm³ subsample was used to determine the number of larvae using the "salad bowl" incubation method. Analysis of the data indicated that larval populations of M. arenaria in soil developed according to the logistic equation model. Larval populations at planting time were <10 larvae/100 cm³ soil each year; the populations developed quickly attaining 50% of the theoretical maximal population for the field within 100 days after planting when the rate of population development stopped increasing.

Combinations of 1.3-D and Aldicarb for Control of Meloidogyne arenaria in Peanut. C. F. Weaver, R. Rodriguez-Kabana, and P. S. King, Department of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, AL 36849.

The efficacy of planting time applications of the fumigant 1,3-dichloropropenes (1,3-D) and the systemic nematicide aldicarb (Temik® 15G) for control of Meloidogyne arenaria (Neal) Chitwood in Florunner peanut (Arachis hypogaea L) was studied in a field near Headland, Alabama. Aldicarb was applied at 1.1 and 2.2 Kg a.i./ha in a 20 cm band with the seed furrow in the middle; 1,3-D was injected as Telone® II to a depth of 25 cm at rates of 18.7, 37.4, and 56 L/ha using 2 injectors/row set 25 cm apart with the seed furrow in the middle between the injectors. All possible combination treatments with the 2 nematicides at the rates described were also studied. All treatments reduced soil larval populations of the nematode determined 4 weeks prior to harvest. All treatments but one (1,3-D at 18.7 L/ha) resulted in increased yields. Factorial analysis of the yield data revealed no significant interaction between the effects of 1,3-D and the effects of aldicarb on the The effects of aldicarb on yield when considered independently of the variable. effects of 1.3-D were significant; maximal yield response to aldicarb was obtained by the use of the 1.1 Kg a.i./ha rate and no significant additional response was obtained with the 2.2 Kg a.i./ha rate. Maximal yield response to applications of 1,3-D was obtained with either of the 2 highest dosages; there were no significant differences between the 37.4 and the 56 L/ha rate. Results suggest that the effects of 1,3-D and aldicarb treatments on yield were additive.

Corn and Sorghum as Rotational Crops for Control of Meloidogyne arenaria in Peanuts. P. S. King, R. Rodriguez-Kabana, and J. T. Touchton, Departments of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, and Agronomy, Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, AL 36849.

The value of corn (Zea mays L.) and sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L) Moench) as rotational crops for control of Meloidogyne arenaria (Neal) Chitwood in peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) was studied in two 3-year experiments conducted in a field near Headland, AL. The experiments compared several rotational schemes with the performance of continuous peanuts; plant applications of ethylene dibromide (EDB) were included in some of the schemes to determine the value of nematicide use in the rotations. Corn and sorghum reduced larval populations in soil; however, the populations recovered quickly when peanuts followed either of the 2 other crops. The use of EDB to control M. arenaria in a continuous peanut situation was not reliable; yield differences between fumigated and unfumigated plots under continuous peanut culture while significant during the first year were not so after 3 years. Highest peanut yields were obtained from plots which had been with corn or sorghum in the preceeding 2 years and which had been fumigated every year. Results showed that reliance on corn or sorghum as the sole means for controlling M. arenaria in peanut fields cannot be economically justified.

Occurrence of Peanut Pod Rot In Oklahoma And Phytopathogenic Fungi And Nematodes Isolated From Diseased Plants. A. B. Filonow* and M. W. Andrews, Department of Plant Pathology, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078.

A pod rot survey of 37 peanut fields was done from early September to mid October, 1983. Thirty plants per acre and 2-8 acres per field were sampled. Sixteen fields (43%) had pod rot as diagnosed by symptoms and isolation of pathogens from diseased pods. Pod rot was found on cv. 'Comet', Starr', 'Pronto', 'Spanco' and 'Florunner'. Pythium myriotylum, Rhizoctonia solani AG4, Fusarium solani and Sclerotium rolfsii were isolated from diseased pods in 437, 197, 30% and 54% of the 37 fields. Soil populations were 1,000-27,000 propagules(p)/g soil for F. solani; none detected (ND)-5,500 p/g for P. myriotylum; ND-34.0/100 g soil for S. rolfsii and ND-16.9 p/100 g for R. solani AG4. Two or more of these fungi were isolated from diseased pods in 78% of the fields. All isolates of P. myriotylum and R. solani AG4 and 9 of 11 isolates of F. solani were pathogenic to seedlings of cv. 'Tamnut 74'. Twenty-two of the fields had southern blight, and all fields with pod rot also had southern blight. Pratylenchus spp., Meloidogyne spp. and Criconemella spp. were found in 42%, 42% and 16% of the fields, respectively. Root populations of species of Pratylenchus and Meloidogyne were ND-62/g root and ND-207/g, respectively. Seventy-eight percent of the fields with nematodes also had rotted pods with one or more fungal pathogens.

Evaluation of chlorpyrifos and the break down product 3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinol for Sclerotium rolfsii control. A. S. Csinos, Plant Pathology Department, Coastal Plain Station, Tifton, GA 31793.

3

Chlorpyrifos techincal, 4EC and 15G and the break down product 3,5,6trichloro-2-pyridinol (Pyridinol) were evaluated <u>in vitro</u> for activity in reducing radial growth sclerotial inhibition of <u>Sclerotium rolfsii</u>. Ten cm diameter petri plates containing water agar amended with 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 25 and 100 μ g/ml of chlorpyrifos technical, 4EC, 15G and pyridinol were inoculated with either a single infested rye seed or with 10 sclerotia and incubated for 72 hrs at 27 C in an unlighted incubator. Pyridinol, chlorpyrifos 4EC, chlorpyrifos 15G and chlorpyrifos technical reduced radial growth in decending order of activity. Pyridinol was as active as PCNB (the standard) at \geq 10 μ g/ml. Sclerotial germination and formation was inhibited by chlorpyrifos (technical) and chlorpyrifos 15G at \geq 25 μ g/ml, chlorpyrifos 4EC at \geq 10 μ g/ml, and pyridinol at \geq 1 μ g/ml. Chlorpyrifos may suppress growth of <u>S. rolfsii</u> and reduce germination of sclerotia when applied as an insecticide on peanuts <u>in</u> vivo.

White Mold Suppression On Peanuts With Lorsban 156. A. K. Hagan and J. R. Weeks. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service, Auburn University, AL 36849.

Efficacy of Lorsban 15G, Terraclor 10G, and combination of Lorsban 15G + Terraclor 10G for white mold suppression was evaluated at 11 locations in a 6 county area over a 2 year period. Two row plots, 27.4 m long, were arranged in a randomized complete block design with a minimum of 4 replications. Terraclor 10G (112 kg/ha), Lorsban 15G (14.6 kg/ha), and Lorsban 15G (14.6 kg/ha) + Terraclor 10G (112 kg/ha) were applied on an 45.7 cm band at mid to late pegging. Lorsban 15G and Terraclor 10G were applied individually to plots treated with both materials. Disease ratings were made after the peanuts were inverted. Plots were harvested with a field combine and yields were calculated at 10% moisture. Across all locations in 1982 and 1983, significantly fewer white mold hits were recorded in the treated plots than the controls. Lorsban 15G was as effective as Terraclor 10G in suppressing white mold on peanuts. No significant differences in disease development or yield response were observed between these treatments in either year. The Lorsban 15G + Terraclor 10G combination provided better disease suppression than either Lorsban 15G or Terraclor 10G alone in 1983 but not 1982. Yield response to the combination treatment was superior to Lorsban 15G or Terraclor 10G both years. White mold activity was not uniform across all locations. Little or no yield response to any treatments was noted at locations where disease activity was low.

Practical Implications of Resistance to Dicarboximide Fungicides in <u>Sclerotinia</u> <u>minor</u> From Peanuts. T. B. Brenneman*, P. M. Phipps, and R. J. Stipes, Tidewater Research Center, VPI&SU, Suffolk, VA 23437.

In vitro studies with Sclerotinia minor on media amended with iprodione (I) and vinclozolin (V) demonstrated a 1.8% mutation rate for fungicide resistance. Resistant strains grew at fungicide concentrations up to 100 µg/ml, and were cross-resistant to both I and V as well as dicloran (D) and PCNB. On non-amended media, some fungicide-resistant strains grew slower than sensitive strains, but produced more sclerotia. Additional tests indicated that some resistant strains were more sensitive to osmotic stress. Both fungicide-sensitive and -resistant strains were pathogenic to Florigiant peanut and produced similar levels of disease in field microplots. Three applications of V (0.84 kg/ha) effectively controlled disease caused by either sensitive or resistant strains. Similar treatments with I (1.12 kg/ha) and D (2.8 kg/ha) provided only partial control. Disease severity at harvest was suppressed 13, 20 and 84% by D, I and V, respectively. Isolates of S. minor from microplots infested with fungicide-resistant strains still exhibited in vitro resistance at harvest, whereas sensitive strains remained sensitive. Additional microplots infested with equal numbers of sclerotia from sensitive and resistant strains showed resistant variants to be somewhat less competitive. These data indicate that in vitro dicarboximide resistance may not be correlated with in vivo resistance; the latter has not been detected in surveys wherein 622 isolates were evaluated from naturally-infested field plots treated with either D, I or V.

<u>Comparisons of Hollow Cone and Flat Fan Spray Nozzles for Peanut Leafspot Control.</u> Tom Kucharek and Richard Cullen, Plant Pathology Dept., University of Florida, Gainesville, Fl. 32611.

2

Field tests in 1982 and 1983 were conducted to determine if peanut leaf spot control would differ when the fungicide, chlorothalonil, was delivered through hollow cone (HC) or flat fan (FF) nozzles (N) on a horizontal sprav boom. In 1982, D2-25 and D4-13 HCN were compared to 8002 and 8003 FFN. In 1983, D2-25 HCN were compared to 8003 FFN. In both tests the Florunner peanut cultivar was planted and spray was delivered at 2109 g/cm² in 374 l/ha of water via three nozzles/row, the outer two being on swivels to adjust for canopy growth. All nozzle treatments were tested at the highest and half of the highest labeled rate of chlorothalonil/hectare. No discernible or statistical differences occurred in leafspot numbers or associated defoliation between nozzle treatments where the fungicide was applied at the same rate. All assessments at any one time on leafspot numbers and defoliation counts were least at the high fungicide rate, but statistical differences between assessments did not always exist between equivalent or non-equivalent nozzle treatments at different fungicide rates. That adequate disease severity existed in both tests is indicated by the 93% and 95% defoliation assessments within the unsprayed treatments at 107 and 137 days after planting in the 1982 and 1983 tests, respectively. Peanut yields, measured in the 1983 test, did not differ statistically (P = .05 or .01) between nozzle treatments regardless of fungicide rate but all sprayed treatments were significantly different (P = .01) from the unsprayed treatment.

An Assessment Method For Evaluating Foliar Fungicides For Control Of Leaf Spot Of Peanut. K. E. Jackson* and H. A. Melouk. Department of Plant Pathology and USDA -ARS, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078.

Ten fungicides were evaluated for control of Cercospora arachidicola on cv. 'Pronto'. Peanuts were planted in late May, 1983 at Stillwater and Perkins, OK. Plots were 3.65 X 9.15 m with rows spaced at 0.91 m. Treatments were replicated four times in a completely randomized block design. Plots were kept continually moist by sprinkle irrigation. Fungicide application began July 6 and continued on a 14-day interval until September 29. One week following the last application, leaf spot was rated for amount of leaf necrosis, leaf defoliation and sporulation. A leaf spot reaction index (LSRI) was calculated by multiplying the leaf spot index by the sporulation index as described by Melouk et al. (Plant Disease: 1984, in press). Data were analyzed using nonparametric statistical methods. The magnitude of the LSRI reflected the efficacy of a fungicide treatment. For example, KWG 1608 (Mobay) and chlorothalonil both had a similar leaf spot index, but KWG 1608 had a lower LSRI than chlorothalonil because of a lower sporulation index. The LSRI is useful in two ways, separating the performance of different fungicides or various rates of the same fungicide, which appeared similar in efficacy by the leaf spot index alone, and the efficacy of the fungicides on degree of sporulation.

Parasitic Fitness Parameters of Benomyl-Resistant and Sensitive Isolates of Cercospora Arachidicola on Peanut cv. 'Tamnut 74'. H. A. Melouk* and D. H. Smith. USDA-ARS, Dept. of Plant Pathology, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078, and Texas A & M Univ., Yoakum, TX 77995.

Parasitic fitness parameters of three benomyl-resistant and five benomyl -sensitive isolates of <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u>, the causal agent of early leaf spot, were determined on peanut cv. 'Tamnut 74'. Fitness parameters measured were: disease efficiency (the number of lesions resulting from a given amount of inoculum), sporulation capacity (number of conidia produced per mm^2 of diseased tissue), sporulation (number of conidia produced on an infected leaflet) and virulence (the relative ability to produce a given amount of necrosis). Shoots of cv. 'Tamnut 74' were inoculated with the isolates of <u>C. arachidicola</u>, and fitness parameters were determined as previously described (Phytopathology 73: 556-558). Significant differences (P=0.01) among isolates occurred in the measured fitness parameters; however, there was no relation between sensitivity or resistance to benomyl and parasitic fitness of isolates. Therefore, benomyl resistant isolates of <u>C. arachidicola</u> do not appear to pose a threat in inducing more destructive leaf spot on peanut than benomyl-sensitive isolates.

<u>Resistance to Early Leafspot in Peanuts</u>. P. Subrahmanyam*, ICRISAT, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh 502324, India; S.N. Nigam, ICRISAT Regional Groundnut Program for Southern Africa, P. Ngwira and A.J. Chiyembekeza, Chitedze Agricultural Research Station, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Early leafspot caused by <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u> Hori. is a serious disease of peanuts in Malawi. Disease surveys in the 1982/83 crop season showed that early leafspot was causing severe damage to peanuts throughout Malawi and was especially severe in the Central region where the bulk of the crop is grown. Preliminary field screening of 1975 germplasm and breeding lines for resistance to this disease was carried out at Chitedze Agricultural Research Station, Lilongwe, using the 9-point disease scale (1 = no disease, and 9 = extensive damage to the foliage). Most entries showed extensive defoliation (70-100%) due to early leafspot. However, some entries had little defoliation $[(TG3 \times NC Ac 17090) F2-B2-B1-B2-B1-B1]$, low infection frequency $[(NC Ac 17133-RF \times TMV2) F2-B-B1]$, and small lesions with poor sporulation (ICG 5216, ICG 8528 and ICG 8529). None of the entries combined all these factors for resistance. It is interesting that the genotypes NC 3033, P1 270806, P1 259747 and P1 350680 reported resistant to early leafspot in the USA were susceptible to this disease in Malawi.

Factors Influencing Yield Responses of Peanuts Following Seed Treatment with Bacillus subtilis. *John T. Turner and P. A. Backman, Dept. of Botany, Plant Pathology and Microbiology, Alabama Agr. Exp. Sta., Auburn University, AL 36849.

2

Bacterization of peanut roots by <u>Bacillus subtilis</u> has been shown to increase seed germination and often to produce more vigorous plants, resulting in increased yields. In 1983, studies were undertaken to more precisely identify those fields that would benefit from this biological seed treatment. Twenty-four randomly selected fields were planted with seeds which received standard fungicide treatments and seeds treated with fungicides plus the bacterium (ABG-4000[®]). In fourteen fields yield increases of more than 5% were recorded, while four locations resulted in yield increases in excess of 15% due to the bacterial treatment. Average yield increase for all fields was 8.5%. Field histories were examined to determine what common characteristics existed among responsive and nonresponsive locations. Crop rotation and planting date emerged as two factors determining the level of yield response. The sites which benefited most from the bacterial treatment were those which were planted early (prior to May 10) and had legumes as a crop in either or both of the previous 2 years.

PRODUCTION TECHNOLOGY - PEST MANAGEMENT

<u>Peanut Production at Various Management Levels.</u> D. T. Gooden, C. E. Drye and J. W. Chapin. Edisto Expt. Stn. Clemson Univ., Blackville, SC 29817

Tests were conducted during 1982 comparing peanut production at two management levels and in 1983 three levels of management were compared. Management levels included; 1) all production practices and 2) extension recommended management in 1982. In 1983 a third level was added, 3) limited input. Extension recommended management required the greatest level of management and included traditional extention tools such as soil sampling, nematode sampling, weed mapping, insect scouting, leafspot monitoring and other proven techniques. Yields and grade were similar when recommended management was compared to using all known production techniques. Recommended production management resulted in lower variable cost and greater net returns than with all practice management. When management was reduced to a level that omitted certain critical steps, yield, quality and net profits were less than acceptable.

Determination of Growth Period Required for a Full-Season Runner to Exceed a Short-Season Spanish Peanut in Yield, Value and Seed Quality. A. C. Mixon*, USDA-ARS, and Wm. D. Branch, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, Ga. 31793.

In a 3-year study (1980-1982) at the Georgia Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, Georgia, the full-season Florunner and the short-season Pronto cultivars were harvested over six growth periods at 10-day intervals beginning 90 days after planting. Florunner peanut plants harvested at the 110-day and each succeeding 10-day growth period up to 140 days in this study produced greater yields of pods, greater percentage of soundmature seed, and greater calculated market value than the Pronto cultivar. This advantage of Florunner in yield and value was more pronounced in the peanuts harvested at the 120 to 140 days after planting, especially in 1981 and 1982.

Peanut Pest Management in South Texas. P.F. Lummus and C.T. Gasch, Texas Agricultural Extension Service, Pearsall, TX 78061.

An integrated pest management program was initiated in South Texas in 1983. This program is a cooperative effort between the Texas Peanut Producers Board, the Texas Agricultural Extension Service, and the Texas Pest Management Association. Infrared scanning, weather monitoring for prediction of foliar disease infection, light traps and pheromone traps were employed in conjunction with intensive field scouting to monitor pest populations on more than 3000 acres of South Texas peanuts. Primary pest problems encountered in 1983 included late leafspot, peanut rust, southern blight and burrowing bugs. An economic evaluation of the program indicated that pesticide costs of participating farmers were ca \$7/acre less than those of non-participants. Net yields of participants were substantially higher than those of non-participants for irrigated runner peanuts and Spanish peanuts.

Application of Current Technology to Achieve Maximum Profits in Peanut Production. A. H. Allison*, P. M. Phipps, O. E. Rud, J. C. Smith, Tidewater Res. Ctr., VPI&SU, Suffolk, and G. G. Gallimore, VPI&SU, Emporia, VA.

2

The current conventional management program for peanut production in Virginia was compared to prescription management programs for diseases, weeds, insects, agronomic factors, and a combined or total prescription management program at various locations from 1980 to 1982. Plots were 8 rows wide (7.3 m) by 12.2 m long, arranged in a complete randomized block design, and replicated five times in 1980 and four times in 1981 and 1982. Florigiant peanuts were planted ca May 15 and harvested ca October 10 each year. Historical records of crop production, and soil fertility and nematode assay reports were used to make prescription management decisions prior to planting. Subsequent decisions were made on the basis of weekly scouting trips for early detection of potential problems and/or pests. Over the three years of testing, the prescription management program averaged \$418/ha less than the conventional in total variable cost inputs, and increased net profit by an average of \$306/ha. Although quality of yield was not affected, the prescription management programs tended to produce yields that were slightly lower than yields achieved by a conventional management program.

Irrigation And Tillage Effects On Peanut Yields In Virginia. F. S. Wright, D. M. Porter, USDA, ARS, Tidewater Research Center, Suffolk, VA 23437; N. L. Powell and B. B. Ross, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA 24061.

The effects of irrigation, underrow ripping, and four seedbed preparation methods on peanuts yields was determined over a 4-year period. Florigiant peanuts were grown on a Norfolk loamy fine sand using recommended practices for control of insects, weeds and diseases. Irrigation significantly increased yields in one of the four years. Yield reductions in irrigated peanuts were attributed primarily to greater disease pressures. Underrow ripping versus no ripping had no significant affect on peanut yield. Yields were not affected by seedbed types, (a- flat, b-rotary tiller with bed shaper, c- disk bed, and d- rolling cultivator) with or without irrigation. Irrigated peanuts were prone to attack by both soilborne and foliar pathogens. A several-fold increase in the severity of Sclerotinia blight (<u>Sclerotinia minor</u>), pod rot (<u>Pythium myriotylum</u>) and leafspots (<u>Cercospora arachidicola and Cercosporidium personatum</u>) was noted in irrigated peanuts.

Response of Three Peanut Cultivars to Different Rates of Gypsum. G. A. Sullivan* and W. Ismail. Department of Crop Science, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, N.C. 27695-7620.

Three virginia type cultivars, NC 6, NC 7, and Florigiant, were each treated with 0,200,400 or 800 pounds per acre of gypsum at four locations during the 1983 crop year. A split-plot design with cultivars as the main plots was used at each location. All cultivars treated with gypsum had higher percentages of SMK's, total kernels, fancy pods and ELK's. Pod yields were higher for the gypsum treated plots at two locations. A location by rate of gypsum interaction existed for several dependent variables. The interaction is attributed to differing rainfall patterns. Analysis of soil (post-gypsum application) indicated soil pH was lower than the control in the gypsum treated plots. Tissue analysis (post-gypsum application) did not indicate any differences in element content attributable to gypsum applications. Calcium levels in both hulls and kernels were higher for the treated plots than for the controls.

Response of Florunner Peanuts to Gypsum (Landplaster). J. I. Davidson, Jr., USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, Georgia, R. J. Henning, University of Georgia Cooperative Extension Service, Tifton, Georgia, P. D. Blankenship, T. H. Sanders, R. J. Cole, R. A. Hill, USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, Georgia, and W. R. Guerke, Georgia Seed Test Laboratory, Atlanta, Georgia.

Although extensive research has been conducted to show the need for calcium in the pod zone during fruiting, there remains considerable differences in recommendations for applying supplemental calcium (gypsum). Most recommendations are based upon a minimum level of calcium in the soil at pegging. However, a three year study at the National Peanut Research Laboratory indicated that new strategies are needed for recommending gypsum. In addition to calcium levels, such strategies should consider soil type, calcium to potassium ratio, soil ph, and pod disease pressure. Overall application of gypsum provided only a 16 Kg/ha and a 0.4 percentage point increase in yield and grade respectively. However, application of gypsum when calcium to potassium ratio was less than 4.4 resulted in a 160 Kg/ha and 1.2 percentage point increase in yield and grade respectively. On sandy type soils (Americus, Norfolk and Red Bay) gypsum decreased yields and grades 118 Kg/ha and 0.3 percentage points respectively. Also on Greenville soils with ph greater than 5.8 gypsum decreased yields by approximately 180 Kg/ha. On Tifton soils, applications of gypsum increased yields and grades by 157 Kg/ha and 0.8 percentage points respectively. On Greenville soils with ph less than 5.8, applications of gypsum increased yields by approximately 252 Kg/ha. Increase in yield and grade from applying gypsum on Tifton soils with high ph appeared to be related to reduced disease pressure.

2

Evaluation of Fenitrothion as a Protectant for Stored Farmers Stock Peanuts. Leonard M. Redlinger[®] and R. A. Simonaitis, USDA-ARS, Stored-Product Insects Research and Development Laboratory, Savannah, GA 31403

Tests were conducted for the evaluation of fenitrothion at dosages of 10, 20, 30 and 40 ppm as a protectant for stored farmers stock peanuts. Untreated peanuts and peanuts treated with malathion at 52 ppm were used as standards for comparison. All treatments were replicated five times, stored in small bins, and exposed to insect pressure under warehouse conditions for a 1-year storage period. The peanuts were sampled at selected intervals to determine biological efficacy, insect damage and insecticidal residue degradation. Fenitrothion was more effective at all applied dosages than the standard malathion treatment, but only the 30 and 40 ppm rates provided satisfactory protection. Chemical analysis of treated peanuts showed degradation of fenitrothion and malathion were similar with a mean loss of 83 and 85\$ respectively after 1-year's storage.

Evaluating Pest Management Programs Using Telephone Survey. J. C. French and J. R. Weeks, Cooperative Extension Service, Auburn University, AL 36849 and Wiregrass Experiment Station, Headland, AL 36345

The Alabama peanut pest management program was evaluated for 1983 using a telephone survey. The preparation and administration of the questionnaire will be discussed. Problems encountered using this method will also be covered.

Results of 1984 1PM Peanut Survey in Alabama. J. R. Weeks and J. C. French, Alabama Cooperative Extension Service, Wiregrass Experiment Station, Headland, AL 36345 and Auburn University, AL 36849

A telephone survey was conducted during fall and winter (1983/1984) to obtain base-line data from Alabama peanut growers.

Results from the 135 respondents were evaluated to determine the level of adoption of certain 1PM practices. Each factor was weighted as to its importance to 1PM.

The results indicated 61% adoption of extension recommended practices. This survey will allow extension 1PM programs to target the areas of greatest need.

<u>Yield Evaluation of Herbicide Tolerant Peanut Genotypes</u>. M. S. Riffle, D. H. Teem, B. J. Brecke, and D. W. Gorbet, Agronomy Department, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611.

During 1982 and 1983, over 160 peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) genotypes were visually evaluated for tolerance to ten broadleaf herbicides not currently used on peanuts. From these, six genotypes including 'Florunner' were chosen for a yield evaluation using four herbicides. The six genotypes included five runner-type peanuts (pods) and one Virginia-type peanut. Herbicide treatments were: cyanazine applied preemergence at 1.68 and 2.52 kg/ha, prometryn applied preemergence at 2.24 and 4.48 kg/ha, and two postemergence applications of 2,4-D at 0.84 kg/ha. Alachlor plus naptalam plus dinoseb (3.4 + 3.4 + 1.7 kg/ha) applied at cracking followed by dinoseb (0.8 kg/ha) applied postemergence was included as a standard treatment. All genotypes exhibited tolerance to cyanazine at the low rate, however, yields were reduced at the high rate. The genotypes exhibited tolerance to both rates of prometryn, although Florunner's yield decreased significantly when the rate of prometryn was increased. Yield of all genotypes was reduced by 2,4-D, however, yield of Florunner was significantly higher than the other genotypes.

Twin Rows as a Supplement to Yield and Weed Control in Peanuts. G. Wehtje, R.H. Walker, M.G. Patterson and J.A. McGuire. Alabama Ag. Exp. Stn., Auburn Univ., AL 36849.

Weed control requirements and yields were evaluated for peanuts (<u>Arachis hypoqaea</u> L. 'Florunner') arranged in twin 18-cm rows and conventionally spaced 91-cm rows on a Dothan sandy loam (Plinthic Paleudult) at Headland, Alabama from 1981 to 1983. Twin rows enhanced peanut yields as well as suppressed weeds as evident by grass and broadleaf weed weights obtained prior to harvest. The ability of twin rows to significantly suppress grasses was only evident in the untreated checks where grass infestation was unacceptably high. Suppression of broadleaves was sporatic. While the twin row pattern enhanced yield, only in a few isolated incidences were optimum peanut yields achieved concomitant with a significant suppression of broadleaf weeds. Results indicate that twin rows enhance yields, and aid in weed control, but will not serve as a herbicide replacement.

<u>Effects of Row Patterns and Weed Control Systems on Peanut Yield, Weed Control, and Net Returns.</u> D.L. Colvin, Agronomy Dept., University of Florida, Gainesville, FL. 32611. R.H. Walker, M.G. Patterson, Agronomy Dept., Auburn University, Auburn, AL. 36849 and J.A. McGuire, Research Data Analysis, Auburn University, Auburn, AL. 36849.

٢

Field experiments were conducted from 1981 through 1983 on a Dothan sandy loam (Plinthic Paleudult) at Headland, Alabama to investigate the effects of row patterns and weed control systems on peanut yield, weed control and net returns to land and management. Experimental variables included three row patterns: (i) conventional 91-cm rows, (ii) twin 18-cm rows, and (iii) triple twin 18-cm rows, and six weed control systems, ranging from no weed control to varying herbicide and mechanical inputs. A constant seeding rate (128 kg/ha) was used regardless of row pattern. Results generally showed that weed control was affected somewhat by row patterns with broadleaf weeds being more responsive to row pattern manipulation than grass weeds. Fresh weed weights were generally lower as row patterns narrowed from conventional 91-cm spacing, however, exceptions did occur. Highest yields and net returns were obtained when peanuts were planted in the twin 18-cm rows and weed control included benefin applied preplant incorporated, plus alachlor applied preemergence, plus two timely cultivations.

PHYSIOLOGY, SEED TECHNOLOGY, PROCESSING AND UTILIZATION

Effect of Kylar on Fatty Acid Composition of Seed of Five Peanut Cultivars. R. W. Mozingo and J. L. Steele, VPI & SU and USDA-ARS, Tidewater Research and Continuing Education Center, Suffolk, VA 23437.

The effect of Kylar (succinic acid 2, 2-dimethylhydrazide), a plant growth regulator, on the fatty acid composition of seed of the peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) cultivars Florigiant, NC 6, NC 7, VA 81B and NC 8C was determined in Martin County. NC and Suffolk, VA in 1981 and 1982. Seed from treated and untreated peanut plots at each location were evaluated for fatty acid composition, iodine value and oleic/ linoleic (O/L) ratio. Duplicate laboratory analyses by gas chromatography of three pooled field replicates from 1981 demonstrated that Kylar applied to the foliage reduced the iodine value and increased the O/L ratio for Florigiant, NC 7 and NC 8C. Each of the three field replicates in 1982 was analyzed in duplicate and an analysis of variance performed. Significantly lower linoleic acid contents and iodine values were shown for all cultivars except VA 81B. Likewise, significant increases in the O/L ratio were recorded for Florigiant, NC 7 and NC 8C but significant changes were not noted in NC 6 and VA 81B. The greatest alterations in fatty acid composition occurred with NC 7. Palmitic, linoleic, eicosenoic, behenic, and lignoceric content significantly decreased while oleic content significantly increased with Kylar application. Thus, from the results of this two year study, the application of Kylar to reduce foliage growth also affected the fatty acid composition of seed from several peanut cultivars.

Changes in the Polypeptide Composition of the Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) Seed During Roasting. Sheikh M. Basha^{*} and Clyde T. Young, Peanut Research Laboratory, Div. of Agricultural Sciences, Florida A&M University, Tallahasee, FL 32307 and Dept. of Food Science, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC 27650.

It has been postulated that the free amino acids which serve as roasted peanut flavor precurssors are released during roasting following the hydrolysis of an unknown polypeptide. This study was initiated to identify and characterize the polypeptide involved in roasted flavor. Peanut seeds of CV. Florigiant were roasted in pure peanut oil at 147 C for 0 to 13 min. The samples are drained, cooled, blanched and ground into a meal. The meals were defatted with diethyl ether and protein was extracted(100 mg) with 3 ml of 9.3 M urea, 5 mM K₂CO₂, 0.5% DTT, and 27 nonidet P-40. The protein extract was then resolved by two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The results showed no significant changes in the major polypeptide (arachin) content during the first 4 min of roasting. After 4 min there was a gradual decrease in the content of a high molecular weight (70,000) polypeptide. Unlike the major polypeptides there was a dramatic decrease in the content of four low molecular weight(between 16,000 and 20,000) polypeptides between 0 to 4 min roasting period. By 4 min of roasting these polypeptides had completely disappeared. Based on the initial studies it appears that these polypeptides may be involved in development of the roasted flavor. Additional studies are in progress including a spanish, runner and virginia market-type peanuts and shorter roasting periods.

26

<u>Trypsin Inhibitors in Peanut Seed Protein</u>. B. M. Ahmed and K. Bieshiada, University of Plorida, Gainesville, Florida 32611, and M. B. Shaik, Florida A&M University, Tallahassee, Floida 32307.

Peanut proteins were extracted with 0.02 M HCl, precipitated with 70% ammonium sulfate and freeze-dried. The lyophilate was chromatographed on DEAE-cellulose (14x1.5 cm), with 0.01 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.6) as the eluant. Monitoring was accomplished by both the Lowry method for total protein and the test for antitryptic activity developed by Kakade, et al. (1974).

Three fractions which inhibited trypsin were collected. Respectively, these cuts inhibited $0.73\pm.09$, $0.45\pm.07$ and $1.02\pm.23$ mg of trypsin per mg of total protein. The first two fractions also exhibited the ability to retard the action of α -chymotrypsin. Their respective strengths were about 0.12 and 0.14 mg of chymotrypsin inhibited per mg of total protein.

Response of Two Commercial Cultivars of Peanuts to Hot Water Treatment and Accelerated Storage. A. L. Branch, R. E. Worthington, M. S. Chhinnan, T. O. M. Nakayama, GA Agric. Expt. Station, Dept. of Food Science, Experiment, GA 30212.

An 8 month peanut storage study was conducted using Virginia type NC-7 and Fla Early Bunch cultivars both low and high in linoleic acid, respectively. The objective was to determine if hot water blanching of peanuts before storage would enhance non-refrigerated storage stability. Both treated and untreated peanuts were stored at various conditions of 23°C, 55% RH; 27°C, 45% RH; 36°C, 65% RH. Unblanched kernels were stored at recommended conditions (2°C, 65% RH), and served as controls for the investigation.

The NC-7 peanuts appeared to be more stable in storage than the Fla Early Bunch peanuts as measured by lower peroxide and free fatty acid values. Rancid aromas were observed in all unblanched raw peanuts of the Fla Early Bunch cultivar. Lipoxygenase activity was found to be greatly reduced by the hot water treatment. Organoleptic evaluation data showed that blanching did not seriously alter sensory characteristics of the treated nuts. Hot water blanching appeared to improve stability of the stored peanuts. Varietal differences showed that oil unsaturation content influences storage stability.

A Determination of the Relative Storage Life of Raw Peanuts. N. V. Lovegren*, and F. W. Parrish, USDA, ARS, Southern Regional Research Center, P. O. Box 19687, New Orleans, LA 70179 and R. O. Hammons, USDA, ARS, Georgia Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, GA 31793.

8

ŧ.

Determination of the volatile profile by direct gas chromatography can be used to indicate relative storage life. Peanuts stored at room temperature in the shell will keep for a long time (months) and still be acceptable. The major changes in the peanut volatile profiles with time, after about one year at 70 to 75°P, are the increase in hexanal, hexanol and some other mound area peaks. These mound area peaks are from N-methyl pyrrole to just beyond nonanol. Most of the compounds in this area of the volatile profile are involved with lipid oxidation reactions. By increasing the test storage condition to the maximum temperature that might be in normal farm storage, i.e. 104°F, and accelerated storage test can be run in about two months by examining the rates at which the lipid oxidation compounds are produced. The SRRC volatile profile procedure is an ideal method of determining the amount of lipid oxidation volatile products in raw peanut samples.

Rapid Colormetric Test for Ethanol-Related Off-Flavors in Peanuts. H. E. Pattee, USDA-ARS, Botany Department, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC 27596-7625.

The acidic potassium dichromate-silver nitrate reagent has been evaluated as a rapid colormetric test for alcohol and aldehydes levels in peanuts. Increased levels of alcohols and aldehydes have previously been related to off-flavor in peanuts. The acidic potassium dichromate-silver nitrate colormetric test was found to give a linear response for peanut samples which had been spiked with known ethanol concentrations between 10 and 100 nL/g. A 200g peanut sample can be assayed in seven minutes, thus the method is rapid enough to be applicable to large numbers of samples such as would be analyzed at a peanut buying station. Forty-four samples from commercial lots of peanuts were analyzed and 20 samples were determined to have detectable levels of alcohol. Odor response analysis and subsequent statistical analysis showed a curvilinear relationship between alcohol level and odor response and thus confirms the previously published reports on the alcohol off-flavor relationship. The application of this method to quality control in peanut samples could be of significant value in improving the quality of peanuts being marketed and thus those being processed into consumer products.

Reproductive Response of Peanut Cultivars to Photoperiod. F. P. Gardner, Agronomy Department, Univ. of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611

The effect of photoperiod on flowering and pegging of three cultivars of peanut (<u>Arachis hypogeae</u> L.) was observed in a greenhouse experiment during winter, 1984 at Gainesville, FL. Cultivars consisted of: 'Pronto' (Spanish), 'Florunner', and 'Dixie Runner'. Photoperiods were: normal day (<12-hr), 14-hr, and 18-hr. The flowering response, days to first flower and nodal position, were similar irrespective of photoperiod. The length of the basic vegetative period varied with cultivar, but was not affected significantly by photoperiod: i.e., the obligate vegetative period averaged over all day-lengths was 3 days and 6 days less for Pronto than Florunner than Dixie Runner, respectively. The number of pegs/plant was reduced by the 18-hr day compared to normal and 14 hours and was about 2-fold greater for Pronto and Florunner than for Dixie Runner. Except for the apparent adverse affect of the extremely long day on peg number, these data support the conclusion that peanut cultivars are day-neutral and should not be influenced by photoperiod differences due to latitude and planting date.

<u>Effect of Soil Temperature on Yield Pactors of Plorunner Peanuts</u>. Timothy H. Sanders and Paul D. Blankenship, USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA

Florunner peanuts were grown in irrigated plots with soil temperature modified beginning 28 days after planting to produce mean soil temperatures warmer (28.9 C) and cooler (21.8 C) than ambient (24.6 C). Mean stem temperature of plants in the heated and cooled plots were ca. 1 C higher and lower than in the control plot (24.4 C). Flowering patterns were somewhat altered and profuse flowering continued approximately 14 days longer on plants in the cooled plot. Maturation, as determined by the hull-scrape method, was delayed in the cooled soil and accelerated in heated soil. Number and weight of pods per plant were highest in the cooled plot and lowest in the heated plot. The distribution of seed sizes was skewed toward smaller sizes in peanuts from the heated plot.

<u>Membrane Thermostability of Peanut Genotypes</u>. D. L. Ketring, USDA-ARS, Plant Science and Water Conservation Laboratory, P.O. Box 1029, and Agronomy Dept., Okla. State Univ., Stillwater, OK 74076.

Optimum mean ambient temperatures for vegetative growth of peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) plants are in the range of 25 to 30°C, while those for reproductive growth may be somewhat lower (20 to 25°C). Under field conditions the crop is frequently subjected to temperatures in the range of 35 to 40°C. These investigations were undertaken to develop a field sampling procedure to use the in vitro leaf disc method as a means to evaluate peanut genotypes for membrane thermostability. Differences in heat tolerance among genotypes of other crops have been indicated by the extent of electrolyte leakage from injured leaf cells due to elevated temperature treatment. A preliminary test in 1981 with ten genotypes showed significant differences among the genotypes and a significant day after planting (DAP) effect. However, CV's were excessive (38%). Modification of the procedure and method of leaf sampling reduced CV's to an acceptable level for field data (15-20%). Significant genotype (G), DAP, G X DAP interaction, and G X Year interaction were found. These interactions will require consideration when using the in vitro leaf disc method as a means to evaluate peanut genotypes for heat tolerance.

In Vitro Culture of Peanuts and Preliminary Field Evaluation of Cloned Material. R. N. Pittman*, D. J. Banks, USDA-ARS, and B. B. Johnson, Botany Dept., Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74076.

Immature leaves of cultivated and wild peanuts were cultured aseptically on a medium composed of Murashiage and Skoog salts, Gamborg's B5 vitamins, and 0.8% difco agar containing 1 mg/L naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) and N-6 benzyladenine (RA). Callus and/or regenerated plants were produced. <u>Arachis villosulicarpa</u> Hoehne leaflet cultures showed increased shoot primordia formation when major salts were reduced and BA/NAA was a high ratio. Roots differentiated from shoots when they were transferred to a medium with 6 to 8 μ M NAA and reduced salts. In a preliminary study comparing embryonic axis growth of PI 267771 on 11 different media, significant differences were found for root lengths and number of secondary roots, but differences were not found for shoot growth. In the field, tissue culture-derived plants were similar in yield and morphology to control plants.

Effects of Duration, Timing and Intensity of Single and Multiple Droughts on Peanuts. R. C. Nageswara Rao and J. H. Williams, International Crops Research for the Semi Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), India.

Twenty five peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.) genotypes, belonging mostly to spanish or valencia types, were grown in the field and subjected to either single or multiple droughts occurring at different crop growth stages. Twelve different patterns of droughts were imposed on the crops with 8 intensities of water application rates in each pattern. The water application rates were varied in the field by using line source sprinkler irrigation (Hanks <u>et. al.</u>, 1976). Some results on the response of these genotypes to single and multiple droughts were presented. A single short duration drought occurring at the seed filling phase was more damaging than drought during the vegetative phase. In this experiment a short drought during the early vegetative phase reduced the impact of a second drought imposed at the seed filling phase, indicating adaptative responses of peanuts to droughts. Intermittent irrigations during a long drought did not influence the nature of crops response to that drought.

Growth and Partitioning Responses of Four Peanut Genotypes to Cercospora Leafspot. K. V. Pixley*, K. J. Boote, F. M. Shokes, and D. W. Gorbet, Dept. of Agronomy, Univ. of Florida, Gainesville, FL., AREC, Quincy, FL, and ARC, Marianna, FL.

Crop growth, development, and dry weight partitioning to fruits in four peanut genotypes were measured under two leafspot control programs. A parallel study assessed leafspot severity and compared disease-induced defoliation patterns. Leafspot diseases reduced Florunner yield by 40% at 127 days after planting (DAP) and by 80% at 141 DAP. By contrast, leafspot-resistant genotypes F80202, F81206, and MA72 x 94-12 were much less affected by disease and increased in yield with later harvest. Moreover, the two higher yielding resistant genotypes equalled or surpassed yields of Florunner under good leafspot control.

Yield differences corresponded with the ability of the resistant genotypes to maintain higher leaf area indices throughout longer pod filling periods despite intense disease pressure. Mechanisms of this resistance included the continued allocation of photosynthate to leaf production during the pod filling period, and the delay of disease-induced defoliation. The latter was associated with a slower rate of disease development on individual leaves as documented by tagging leaves and following disease progress versus leaf age. The degree of genotypic resistance to leafspot declined as the growing season progressed in apparent association with the crop's shift into reproductive growth and/or epidemic development. Response of Florunner Peanuts to Application of Kylar. M. E. Walker*, T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos, and B. G. Mullinix, Jr., University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Stn., Tifton, Georgia 31793.

Field experiments were conducted for three years (1980-82) at Tifton, Georgia on Lakeland sand and at Plains, Georgia on Greenville sandy clay loam to study the effect of Kylar, a growth regulator, on yield, grade, nutrient uptake, vegetative characteristics, and disease of Florunner peanuts (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.). Kylar treatments consisted of 0, 1.12 (1 application), 1.68 (3 app.), 1.68 (6 app.), 2.52 (6 app.) kg/ha. The application of Kylar had no significant effect on yield of peanuts on Lakeland soil, but increased the yield more than 477 kg/ha with 2.52 kg/ha of Kylar on Greenville soil. On the Lakeland soil all Kylar treatments regardless of rate or number of application reduced peg and plant weight significantly. In general, Kylar increased only P and K concentrations in the leaf and stem. The number of disease loci (<u>Sclerotium rolfsii</u>) in peanuts tended to be less where Kylar had been applied.

Use of the CASAS (Computerized Automated Seed Analysis System) Dynamic Electrical Conductivity Analysis as an Indicator of Potential Freeze Damage in Peanut Seed. R. D. Keys*, G. A. Reusche, and R. Margapuram, Department of Crop Science, North Carolina State Univ., Raleigh, NC 27695-7620.

The CASAS (Computerized Automated Seed Analysis System) dynamic electrical conductivity (DEC) analysis was tested for use as an indicator of freeze damage in peanut seed. Preliminary measurements of several freeze damaged 1983 commercial peanut seed lots from the northern North Carolina southern Virginia production area indicated that freeze damaged lots had a greater total ionic efflux throughout the 3 hr DEC analysis than did undamaged lots. The difference was observable within 2-10 minutes after the start of imbibition. In a survey of approximately 100 1983 commercial seed lots from the same production area, 10% of the lots had the higher rate of efflux. The mean DEC efflux rate of the high efflux rate group was 0.42 micromhos/g/l hr, with a mean standard germ ination of 42\$. A reference point electrical conductivity (EC) value at 10 minutes after the start of imbitition was 0.92 micromhos/g/l. In contrast to this, the highest quality lots (≥95% germination) had a mean DEC efflux rate of only 0.13 micromhos/g/1/hr, and a 10 minute EC value of only 0.20 micromhos/g/1. To date, freeze damage has been the only observed type of damage to affect major changes in the ionic efflux of peanut seed during the first 10 minutes of imbibition. Heat or mechanical damage, age, or general poor seed quality have not been observed to have such an effect. A general 10 minute EC value of greater than 0.50 micromhos/g/l would indicate potential freeze damage in peanut seed.

32

ŧ.

Effect of Ethrel Seed Treatment on Growth, Yield, and Grade of Two Virginia-type Peanuts. T. A. Coffelt and R. K. Howell, USDA-ARS, Suffolk, VA, and Beltsville, MD.

Two virginia-type peanuts (Arachis hypogaea L.), NC 6 and NC 7, were observed to germinate slowly under field conditions. Three seed treatments (1%, 5%, and 10%) of ethrel were mixed with a recommended seed treatment (45% Difolitan and 25% PCNB) and dusted on the seed. The experimental design was a 2 (varieties) x 4 (3 ethrel treatments and an untreated check) factorial in a randomized complete block with four replications. The experiment was conducted for 2 years (1980 & 1981) at two locations (Suffolk and Beltsville). Factors studied were: Stand counts (10 and 14 days after planting), plant dry weight (18 and 42 days after planting), pod yield, grams/100 seed, % meat, % total sound mature kernels, % extra large kernels, and % fancy pods. No significant differences were found among ethrel treatments for any factor, except stand counts. Plots planted with ethrel-treated seed had significantly higher stand counts at 10 and 14 days than plots not planted with ethrel-treated seed. Highly significant differences occurred between locations for all factors. Highly significant differences occurred between years for all factors, except stand counts at 14 days and grams/100 seed. Highly significant differences occurred between varieties for all factors, except plant dry weight at 18 days, pod yield, and % fancy pods. These results indicate that, while stands may be improved with ethrel-treated seed, no significant increase in yield or grade factors was found.

<u>Water Relations and Yield of Peanut Genotypes Grown under Irrigated and Rainfed</u> <u>Conditions.</u> P. I. Erickson*, Agronomy Dept., Oklahoma State Univ., D. L. Ketring, <u>USDA-ARS</u>, and Ming-Teh Huang, Agronomy Dept., Oklahoma State Univ., Stillwater, OK 74078.

Peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.) genotypes have been identified that differ in their adaptation to drought. However, peanut physiological responses to water stress have not been adequately investigated to explain dessication resistance differences among genotypes. The objectives of this research were to examine differences in the internal water relations of three peanut genotypes (one spanish, two runner types) grown under irrigated and rainfed conditions and to relate differences, if any, to the yield potential and dessication resistance of each genotype. Significant differences in water relations parameters were found among genotypes between 50 and 64 days after planting, a critical period for peanut growth and development. Genotypic differences in osmotic adjustment and turgor maintenance capabilities were noted. Higher yields appeared to be related to greater ability of genotypes to maintain turgor through osmotic adjustment and retention of apoplastic water. Relative resistances to dessication based on genotypic differences in water relations parameters and yield were determined.

Influence of Cultivar, Spacing and Sowing Date on the Performance of Peanut (Arachia <u>Hypogaea L</u>). E. O. Auma and F. P. Gardner, Agronomy Department, Univ. of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611.

A field experiment was conducted in 1982-83 in which 'Pronto' (Spanish) and 'Florunner' were compared over three sowing dates (May, June, August), three inter-row spacings (35 cm, 70 cm, 105 cm) and three intra-row spacings (10 cm, 15 cm, 30 cm). August sowing resulted in drastic biomass, leaf area index and pod yield reductions. May or June sowing gave comparable yields in these parameters for Florunner, while for Pronto, May sowing gave lower yields than June sowing. Closer spacings significantly increased light interception, biomass and pod yields of Pronto while Florunner tended to perform the same at the variable spacings (particularly with the May and June sowings). Light interception and utilization and resultant growth and yield parameters differed with cultivars, sowing dates and spacings.

ENTOMOLOGY

<u>Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage</u> <u>Peanuts.</u> J.M. Cheshire, Jr., W.L. Hargrove, C.S. Rothrock and M.E. Walker, <u>Departments of Entomology</u>, Agronomy and Plant Pathology, University of Georgia, Georgia Station, Experiment, GA 30212 and Department of Agronomy, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Station, Tifton, GA 31793.

Soil insect damage was compared between conventional and conservation tillage peanut cropping practices in two experiments at each of seven sites. Peanuts were planted either into a prepared seed bed or into killed wheat or rye. At each site, peanuts were planted in early May and also behind grain harvest. Pod damage was caused primarily by wireworms during 1982 and by the lesser cornstalk borer during 1983. No significant differences in soil insect damage were detected between the two tillage systems in any of the experiments, but differences were observed between early and late plantings. Peanut yields, quality and disease incidence were also similar for the two cropping systems and will briefly be discussed.

Relation of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Damage to Peanut Pods and the Incidence of Aspergillus flavus. R. E. Lynch and D. M. Wilson, USDA-ARS, Insect Biology and Population Management Research Laboratory, and Dept. of Plant Pathology, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, GA. 31793.

During 1983, studies were conducted on the relationship between lesser cornstalk borer, <u>Elasmopalpus lignosellus</u> (Zeller), damage to peanut pods in the field, and the incidence of <u>Aspergillus flavus</u> Link. Florunner peanuts were planted on April 8, April 27, May 18, and June 10. Peanut pods were sampled on September 1, 8, and 15, and separated into undamaged, externally damaged, and pod penetrated classes according to lesser cornstalk borer feeding damage. The pods and kernels were assayed for the presence of <u>A. flavus</u> and <u>A.</u> <u>niger</u>. The incidence of <u>A. flavus</u> on the pods and kernels was significantly greater on pods that had been penetrated by lesser cornstalk borer feeding.

Control of Lesser Cornstalk Borer With Granular Chlorphrifos. J. W. Chapin, Clemson University, Edisto Experiment Station, Blackville, S. C. 29817

Lorsban 15G was applied at .97 lb. formulation per 1000 linear feet of row to Florunner peanuts with a heavy lesser cornstalk borer infestation ($\bar{x} = 2.45$ larvae/plant). The field was drought stressed at application and received .26" rainfall 8 days post treatment. During 5 days of this interval maximum air temperature exceeded 100°F. Larval mortality increased significantly in treated plots following rainfall. A total of 4.46" rainfall occurred from treatment to harvest. Larval suppression was measured up to 51 days post treatment. Mean yield was 1300 lbs. higher in treated plots of the 4 most heavily infested replicates. SMK + SS was 71% vs. 64% in check plots. The value of treated plots was greater by \$405 per acre.

Summary of Peanut Insect Control with Chemicals Applied through Irrigation Systems. Loy W. Morgan and Max H. Bass, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, Ga. 31793

A study, conducted over a three-year period, has included serveral insecticides which have been applied to peanuts through a solid-set irrigation system for evaluation as a means of controlling insect populations. The system was checked for uniformity of insecticide distribution and time needed for delivery. As no standard type formulations have been established for use in irrigation equipment, materials used in these experiments were applied as received from the suppliers. Damage by foliage-feeding insects, primarily corn earworm and fall armyworm larvae, and soil insect larvae, was evaluated. Significant differences in percent control among treatments were obtained, but yield differences were not significant. The necessity of using large plots in these studies possibly influences the significance of the results, because of non-uniformity in soil composition. In general, the synthethic pyrethroids, Pounce®, Pydrin®, and Ambush®, used at ca. 0.1 lb. AI/A were as effective as any of the other insecticides used.

Evaluation of Collections of International Peanut Germplasm for Insect Resistance. W. V. Campbell, J. C. Wynne, Dept. of Entomology and Agronomy, respectively, N. C. State University, Raleigh, N.C. 27695, M. Keerati - Kasikorn, Dept. of Entomology, Khon Kaen Univ., Khon Kaen, Thailand, E. P. Cadapan, Dept. of Entomology, Univ. of Philippines, Los Banos, and S. Sirisingh, Entomology, Dept. of Agriculture, Bangkok, Thailand.

Peanut germplasm from collections in North Carolina, ICRISAT (India) and Thailand was evaluated in single row field plots in 1981-1983 for resistance to tobacco thrips, potato leafhopper, corn earworm, southern corn rootworm and the twospotted spider mite. The 569 genotypes were rated for insect foliage and pod damage and 58 genotypes were evaluated for leaf chlorosis due to spider mite feeding. Genotype differences in feeding damage from this pest complex will be presented. Fifty-two selected genotypes from the North Carolina collection were evaluated in Kalasin, Thailand for insect resistance. The multiple insect resistant cultivar NC 6 and its insect resistant parent NC-GP 343 exhibited cross resistance to leafhopper and leaf miner. These data indicate a beneficial reciprocity from international germplasm testing for insect resistance.

BREEDING AND GENETICS

Agronomic Response of Two Resistant Lines to Leafspot Management. D. W. Gorbet*, A. J. Norden, F. M. Shokes, and D. A. Knauft, University of Florida, Agricultural Research Center, Marianna, Florida, Department of Agronomy, Gainesville, Florida, and Agricultural Research and Education Center, Quincy, Florida.

UF 80202 and UF 81206 are leafspot resistant runner market-type peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.) breeding lines from the University of Florida breeding program derived from crosses made in 1972 with the primary objective of improving leafspot disease resistance. PI 203396 is the main source of resistance in both lines, especially to late leafspot caused by Cercospora personatum (Berk. and Curt.) Deighton. In tests conducted at Marianna, including multiple harvest dates and different fungicide treatments for leafspot control, pod yields of UF 80202 and UF 81206 were 106% of 'Florunner', when sprayed with a fungicide (Bravo), and 195% and 219%, respectively, when no fungicide was applied. Grading factors (% total sound mature kernels, 100-seed weight, and % extra large kernels) and % oil were positively affected by fungicide applications on Florunner with little or no response on the breeding lines. In unsprayed harvest-date tests at Gainesville and Marianna during 1981-83, Florunner usually exceeded UF 80202 and UF 81206 in pod yields and grade up to 122 days after planting, after which Florunner yields dropped dramatically and the two breeding lines continued to increase in pod yields and grade. Florunner disease ratings were frequently 10 (dead) in unsprayed tests at 135 days or later whereas UF 80202 and UF 81206 typically rated <5.

<u>Genetics of Solid Purple and Purple Striped Peanut Testa Colors</u>. W. D. Branch, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Exp. Stn., Dep. of Agron., Tifton, GA.

Seed phenotypes of Arachis hypogaea L. are known to have uniform purple and purple stripes on flesh colored testae. The latter variegated characteristic has been found on some rust (*Puccinia arachidis* Speg.) resistant germplasm lines. Prior knowledge of purple striped inheritance could thus be advantageous in a breeding program. F_1 , F_2 , and F_3 data from flesh x purple and reciprocal cross combinations confirmed a one-gene model with incomplete dominance for the solid purple color. However, results from flesh and purple stripes on flesh crosses suggest two genes with stripes being partially dominant to non-striped.

A Wild Arachis Winter Nursery in South Texas. D. J. Banks and R. N. Pittman, USDA, ARS, Plant Science Research Laboratory, Stillwater, OK 74076; and C. M. Heald, USDA, ARS, Subtropical Research Laboratory, Weslaco, TX 78596.

A wild Arachis species field nursery was established in 1981-82 at the Subtropical Pesearch Station, Weslaco, TX (26° 05' N, 98° 00' W, 21m) to test the feasibility of using that location as an overwintering germplasm repository for selected species. The entries represented a wide range of tetraploid rhizomatous taxa and ecotypes and two perennial Arachis section species, A. diogoi Hoehne and A. helodes Martius ex Krap. et Rig. Altogether, 78 accessions were transplanted to microplots spaced 1.5 m apart in sandy loam soil. Sunken, bottomless plastic containers (38 cm deep x 44 cm dia.) were employed to prevent rhizome penetration across plots. The plants were watered and fertilized during the summers to maintain good growth. An exceptionally cold winter in 1983, which resulted in severe cold injury to citrus trees and tropical palms, provided a challenge for species survival. During December 23-25, temperatures at the site remained at 0 C or below for 54 hours, with the minimum temperature reaching -8 C. In the spring of 1984 all but two accessions, PI 338266 and PI 468177 (both rhizomatous species but weakly established), showed renewed growth when warm weather returned. The results suggest that long-term clonal preservation of most of the tetraploid rhizomatous and selected Arachis section species is possible at suitable sites on the U.S. mainland where winters are relatively mild.

Development of Foliar Diseases Resistant Groundnut Lines at ICRISAT L.J. Reddy*, S.N. Nigam, P. Subrahmanyam, S.L. Dwivedi, R.W. Gibbons, and D. McDonald, Groundnut Program, ICRISAT, Patancheru P.O. 502 324, A.P., India.

Breeding for resistance to the most devastating foliar diseases of groundnut, the leafspots and rust has received the highest priority in the groundnut breeding program at ICRISAT. More than 400 single, triple and double crosses were made using 12 rust and 9 late leafspot resistant germplasm lines. Several high yielding agronomically superior lines with high levels of resistance to rust and with moderate levels of resistance to late leafspot have been developed through mass pedigree method. Thirty lines possessed combined resistance to both rust and late leafspot. A few resistant lines gave more than 3000 kg/ha pod yields under rainfed condition. Some of the resistant lines showed better stability of yield performance across 5 environments in India.

The genetic analysis of parents F_1 , F_2 , BC_1 and BC_2 generations of resistant x susceptible crosses revealed that rust resistance is controlled predominantly by additive, additive x additive and additive x dominance gene effects.

Disruptive selection and backcross procedures would be adopted in future to increase the levels of late leafspot resistance in good agronomic backgrounds.

Recently a few early leafspot resistant sources have been identified and these lines will be intermated to accumulate the favourable alleles for resistance.

0

Application Of IBPGR/ICRISAT Minimum Descriptors To Arachis Hypogaea L. Germplasm. C. E. Simpson*, E. R. Howard, and D. L. Higgins, Texas Agricultural Experiment Station, Stephenville, TX 76401.

Sixty-seven minimum descriptors set forth by the IBPGR/ICRISAT descriptor list are being applied to the collections of <u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L. which have been made in South America from 1976 through 1983.

The descriptors are being applied to approximately 1600 accessions of material collected in Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Ecuador, Paraguay, and Peru. These collections have been made under projects sponsored by IBPGR and supported by several agencies in North and South America and ICRISAT.

The minimum descriptors include passport and collection data and characterization as shown in items 1.1 through 4.7.6 in the IBPGR/ICRISAT "Groundnut Descriptors" (AGP:IBPGR/80/66, September 1981).

Our oral presentation will describe some of our techniques and procedures for applying the characterization descriptors.

Results of the work will be published in catalogue form and will be distributed to interested scientists by the International Board for Plant Genetic Resources (IBPGR), Rome.

An Investigation of Oil Quality in Ontario-grown Peanuts. E. E. Sykes and T. E. Michaels, Crop Science Dept., University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, N1G 2W1, Canada.

A study of oil quality in Ontario-grown peanuts was undertaken in summer 1983. Nineteen lines comprising Valencia, Spanish, and Virginia market types were analyzed for total oil content and percent fatty acids. Maturity effects were also investigated by tagging firstappearing pods and leaving later-appearing pods untagged. In general, maturity effects were not significant for total oil, % oleic, and % linoleic acid. Significant varietal differences were found for these three characters. Total oil content ranged from 42-55% (on a dry wt. basis); % oleic ranged from 35-47% (as % of total fatty acids) and % linoleic 34-45%. Significant differences were found between the market types for these characters. Overall, Spanish exceeded Valencia exceeded Virginia for total oil; Virginia exceeded Spanish exceeded Valencia for % oleic; Valencia exceeded Spanish and Virginia for % linoleic. A subgroup of Chinese lines within the Virginia market type were found to differ significantly from the other Virginia lines overall. A high negative correlation (r = -0.92) between % oleic and % linoleic was found.

EXTENSION TECHNOLOGY, HARVESTING, AND STORING

Evaluation of Soil Extracting Reagents for Determining Available Calcium to Peanut Fruit. T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos*, and M. E. Walker. Departments of Agronomy and Plant Pathology, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton.

Soil tests generally presume that available nutrients will be absorbed by the plant's root system. The peanut fruit is unique in that it must absorb its own Ca from the soil in the immediate fruiting zone. For this reason, the most available form of Ca to the fruit is the most soluble form. Recent studies have shown that Mehlich No. 1 double acid extracting reagent (0.05 N HCl + 0.025 N H₂SO_A), the soil extracting reagent commonly used on Southeastern soils, extracts more Ca from soil than is actually available to developing fruit. The purpose of this study was to assess the availability of Ca to peanut fruit grown on a Stilson fine sand by comparing 10 soil Ca extractants: Mehlich No. 1, No. 2, and No. 3 reagents; water, 0.01 M NaNO2, 0.5 M NHACl (pH 7.0), 1 M KCl, 1 M NHAOAc, Morgan's, and Olsen's reagents. Plots were treated with three rates of three Ca sources: gypsum and dolomitic and calcitic limestones. Soil samples were taken on three dates: 17 days after applying Ca treatments, mid-season, and at harvest. Soil Ca test results were correlated with peanut yield, value, sound mature kernels, pod rot, and seed and hull Ca. The results showed that 0.01 M NaNO, soil extractable Ca had highly significant correlations (P = 0.0001) with all six peanut parameters for all three sampling dates. Water rated second in the number of significant correlations. Salts at or near normal strength rated third. The acidic Mehlich soil extractants rated last with no significant correlations.

A Microcomputer Program to Aid County Agents in CBR Disease Management Decision Making. J. E. Bailey, North Carolina Agricultural Extension Service, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina 27695-7616.

A microcomputer program was developed to aid county agents in giving recommendations to growers for CBR (causal organism <u>Cylindrocladium crotalariae</u>) management. Inputs are: growers name, address, phone, planting date, yield last time peanuts were grown, estimated yield of non-diseased peanuts, price per pound for crop, rotational crops, cost per gallon of fumigant, disease distribution in field, and percent infestation in diseased area. Outputs are: yield and dollar value lost to disease, evaluation of rotation, advice of cultural control and variety selection, and an analysis of the appropriateness on fumigating the whole field, the infested area or not fumigating. A report containing this information may be printed out for agent and/or grower records.

Cation Exchange Constants For A Gapon Model From Peanut Production Soil. F. J. Adamsen, USDA-ARS, Tidewater Research Center, Suffolk, VA 23437.

An experiment was designed to determine the exchange constants for Na^+ , Ca^{2+} , K^+ . Mg²⁺ and exchangeable acidity in a Gapon model. Fifty, 100 and 200 gram samples of the Ap horizon of a Kenansville loamy sand were extracted with 100 ml of solutions containing six concentrations of Na⁺ and Ca^{2+} and distilled water. Samples were shaken for 1 hour, centrifuged and filtered to remove soil particles. The concentrations of Na⁺, Ca^{2+} , K⁺ and Mg²⁺ and pH of each solution were determined. Each solution and moisture level combination was replicated four times. The data were used to calculate the exchange constants for the 5 competing cations for a Gapon exchange model. The data treatment assumes that exchangeable acidity is in the form of Al3+ on the exchange complex and that Al3+ is in equilibrium with Gibbsite in the soil. The pH of the solution obtained from the soil decreased by increasing concentration of either Ca^{2+} or Na^+ . This change was due to displacement of exchangeable acidity from the soil by Ca^{2+} or Na^+ . The exchange capacity of the soil was estimated to be 10 mmoles (+)/kq of soil. Therefore, the exchange sites could be saturated by Ca^{2+} or Na^+ at relatively low concentration (<0.05N) of added cations. Exchange constants calculated for this soil appeared to be more like those reported for organic soils rather than mineral soils suggesting that the exchange complex is dominated by the organic fraction in the soil. Changes in the constants involving Na and Ca occurred when Na was added to the soil which suggests Ca is held on sites not available to Na.

Peanut Nodule Mineral Content. R. K. Howell and L. P. Rose, Jr. ARS, USDA, Beltsville, MD 20705.

A void in knowledge of mineral metabolism of the root nodule is evident. To substantially improve the peanut-rhizobium nitrogen-fixation system a need to understand mineral metabolism of the symbiants with respect to soil mineral content is required. 'Florunner' was seeded on 5/28/83 into a Galestown silt loam with a pH of 6.2 and a P, K, and Mg content in medium to high range. The experiment was in a RCB with 3-row plots and 8 replications. On 10 October all plants within a 3 M row were dug and treated as one sample. Plants were washed thoroughly with tap and followed by distilled water. All plant samples were sub-divided into leaves, stems, roots, nodules, meat, and shells. Each sub-sample was dried, ground, weighed and analyzed for N, P, K, Ca, Mg, Mn, Fe, B, Cu, Zn, Al, and Na. Nodules contained significantly higher levels of Fe (446 ppm) than other tissues and had the second highest quantities of N, P, K and Ca, 4.8, .3, 1.7, and 1%, respectively. The shells contained significantly higher concentrations of Ca (.4%) than the seed (.2%). Iron, Al, and Na, too, were significantly more concentrated in shells than in seed. Our data suggests that the nodule is in a state of high metabolic activity until harvest.

Electronic Moisture Measurement of Peanuts. J. H. Young, Biological and Agricultural Engineering Department, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina 27695-7625.

During the 1983 peanut harvest season, peanut samples were evaluated for further calibration of the Dickey-john GAC-II moisture meter. Samples were also collected by the Federal-State Inspection Service (FSIS) for subsequent comparisons of the GAC-II meters with oven moisture contents and with the readings obtained by several meters currently used by the FSIS for peanut moisture measurement. Within the moisture range from 6 to 11% wet-basis moisture, the Dickey-john GAC-II meters using the constants provided by Dickey-john gave average meter errors as compared to oven moisture contents of -0.04, 0.15, and 0.13 percent moisture for Virginia-, runner-, and Spanish-type peanuts respectively. Moisture readings for high-moisture Virginia-type peanuts recently removed from dryers varied considerably from oven readings while readings for high-moisture runner-type peanuts which had thoroughly equilibrated prior to testing were quite accurate. There is a need for further tests to determine equilibration time needed for peanuts removed from a dryer.

Effects of Microwave -- Vacuum Drying on Quality of Florunner Peanuts. J. L. Pearson¹, W. L. Shupe², T. H. Sanders¹, J. L. Butler², J. L. McMeans¹, S. R. Delwiche², ¹USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA, 31742, ⁴USDA, ARS, Southern Agricultural Energy Center, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, GA 31793.

Four processing levels (X, 2X, 4X, 8X) of microwave--vacuum drying of shelled 1983-crop, Tifton, Georgia-grown Florunner peanuts and a traditional drying method for in-shell peanuts, as a control, were compared for their effects on 35 parameters of peanut quality. Flavor rating was not significantly (5%) affected by drying method or other recognized variables, but free fatty acids, raw kernel color and four sugars had pooled microwave-vacuum means significantly (P \leq 0.05) different from their control means. Various planned and unplanned variables correlated significantly (P \leq 0.05) with different quality parameters. Variation of samples in length of cold storage time before drying and in moisture content during cold storage after drying appeared to be major sources of variation in peanut quality.

42

z

Cooling & Peanut Warehouse with Aeration and/or Mechanical Ventilation. J. S. Smith, Jr. and J. L. Davidson, Jr., USDA, ARS, National Yeanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA.

Isotherms depicting the cooling patterns in cross sections of the peanut mass in a warehouse at bi-monthly intervals for a conventional mechanical ventilation system and a conventional mechanical ventilation system plus mechanical aeration system are presented and discussed. A typical steel building type warehouse 24.4 m by 48.7 m by 7.3 m at the eaves with a 45° roof slope was used for the study. Semi-circular perforated aeration duct was installed on the floor in half the warehouse with a fan blowing into the duct forcing air up through the peanuts. The operation of the aeration fan was controlled by a thermostat and a humidistat. The fan on the conventional ventilation system for the overspace operated continuously. The isotherms show that the addition of the aeration system hastened the initial cooling of the peanut mass thereby reducing the possibility of <u>A</u>. <u>flavus</u> growth and possible aflatoxin contamination of the peanuts.

Separation and Removal of Aflatoxin Contaminated Peanuts at Peanut Cleaning and Shelling Plants. P. D. Blankenship, J. I. Davidson, Jr., T. H. Sanders, and C. T. Bennett, USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA.

Approximately 7 tonnes of Segregation 3 official grade check samples from farmers stock peanuts marketed in 1980 were cleaned and shelled in the USDA pilot shelling plant. Large samples were removed at 28 different points in the shelling process within the plant. The portion of material that was removed from each point was blended and divided into four samples, ground, blended and subsampled. The subsamples were analyzed for aflatoxin using minicolumn chromotography. Measurements of pod damage and pod strength were directly correlated with aflatoxin levels while pod size, seed density, and pod terminal velocity were inversely correlated with aflatoxin levels. Use of these findings in designing farmers stock cleaning and shelling systems are discussed.

Variability in Grade Determinations for Parmers' Stock Peanuts. J. W. Dickens*, T. B. Whitaker, USDA, ARS, N. C. State University, Box 7625, Raleigh, NC 27695-7625 and J. I. Davidson, Jr., USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA 31742.

A sample which weighed approximately 30 kg was taken from each of 20 lots of runner-type farmers' stock peanuts. Each sample was thoroughly blended and subdivided into 16 subsamples of approximately 1800 g each. Each subsample was graded according to the procedures of the Federal State Inspection Service. Subsample variances with regard to grade factors and indicated price/ton based on the 1982 price support were computed for each of the 20 lots. The coefficients of variation averaged across all 20 lots were 16.3, 11.0, 2.3 and 2.2% for % foreign material, % loose-shelled kernels, % sound mature kernels plus % sound splits and price/ton, respectively. The difference between the highest price/ton and the lowest price/ton averaged \$38.79/ton across all 20 lots. The average price/ton for the 20 lots was \$478.19.

Factors Affecting Flavor and Headspace Volatiles of Cooked Peanuts. Clyde T. Young, Department of Food Science, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC 27695-7624 and R. Walton Mozingo, Tidewater Research and Continuing Education Center, Suffolk, VA 23437.

Peanuts were grown at TRACEC, VA and Northampton County, NC in 1982 and 1983 using recommended cultural and harvesting practices. Rainfall for both years was adequate at TRACEC but deficient at Northampton. Shelled extra large kernels (ELK) were processed as roasted, oil cooked, and old fashion cooked. These processed peanuts were evaluated for flavor and analyzed for volatiles, using a seven point hedonic scale and a headspace analysis system, respectively. Peanuts grown under normal rainfall usually had a higher acceptance and lower volatiles whereas those grown under drought conditions had lower acceptance and higher amounts of volatiles. The cooking method had the next greatest effect followed by variety effect. The lower scores of these peanuts was usually due to above threshold amounts of musty flavor and musty aftertaste.

MYCOTOXINS

Relation of Preharvest Aflatoxin Contamination to Duration of Environmental <u>Stress.</u> R. J. Cole¹, P. D. Blankenship¹, T. H. Sanders¹, and Robert A. Hill² ¹USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA; ²Southern Regional Research Center, New Orleans, LA

Previous experiments have established the optimum conditions of temperature and moisture for preharvest aflatoxin contamination of peanuts. The optimum conditions are a mean temperature in the geocarposphere of 29.5-30°C with a moisture level of between 40-60 bars. Visibly-undamaged peanuts subjected to these stress conditions during the last 45-50 days of the growing season were highly contaminated with aflatoxin at harvest. The objective for CY 1983 studies was to determine the length of stress period required for preharvest contamination of peanuts. Stress conditions were imposed 20, 30, 40 and 50 days before harvest. A stress period of 20 days before harvest was not sufficient to cause contamination. Peanuts subjected to stress conditions for 30, 40 and 50 days were contaminated, therefore, a threshold stress period for preharvest aflatoxin contamination of peanuts was between 20-30 days before harvest.

Colonization Cf Crganic Matter Substrates In Soil By Aspergillus Flavus. J. P. Stack and P. E. Pettit, Dept. of Plant Pathology and Microbiology, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas. 77843.

An investigation of the activity and survival of Aspergillus flavus in soil The ability of A. flavus to compete with the natural has been initiated. soil microflora in the colonization of a variety of substrates was studied. Peanut root segments (5 mm) were buried in nonsterile sandy-loam field soil (pH 6.8) adjusted gravimetrically to different initial moisture levels corresponding to to -0.1, -0.33, and -1.0 bars as determined with a pressure plate appartus. A. flavus was buried in the soil 1.0 cm from the Soils with no added A. flavus were also used. RS of root segments (PS). cotton, soybean, snapbean, and sorghum were buried in soil at -0.33 bars. After 7 days at 20, 30, or 35 C, the RS were retrieved, washed, and plated on a selective medium. Additional PS were plated prior to placement in soil to determine the initial A. flavus population. Peanut PS became colonized in soil at all temperatures and moistures tested. Approximately one half of the FS yielded A. flavus on the selective medium. PS of cotton, soybean, snapbean, and sorghum also became colonized in soil by A. flavus. Colonization occurred whether hyphae, conidia, or sclerotia were used as the source of A. flavus.

Development of Statistical Models to Simulate the Testing of Farmers' Stock Peanuts for Aflatoxin Using Visual, TLC, and Minicolumn Methods. T. B. Whitakers, J. W. Dickens, USDA-ARS, N. C. State University, Raleigh, NC 27695-7625, J. I. Davidson, USDA-ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA 31742, and V. Chew, USDA-ARS, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611.

The negative binomial equation was used to simulate the distribution of sample aflatoxin test results when replicated grade samples from farmers' stock peanuts are analyzed by the TLC and minicolumn methods. The Poisson equation was used to simulate the distribution of samples according to the number of kernels with visible <u>Aspergillus flavus</u> growth found in replicated grade samples from farmers' stock peanuts when the visible <u>A. flavus</u> method is used. The probability of accepting a lot of farmers' stock peanuts with a given aflatoxin concentration when using a 465-g grade sample and 4 different accept/reject levels were predicted with the models and compared to observed acceptance probabilities for each of the 3 methods. Comparisons between predicted acceptance probabilities and observed acceptance probabilities from a previous study were good for each method at each accept/reject level.

Comparison of Methods for the Analysis of Cyclopiazonic Acid in Peanuts. John A. Lansden, USDA, ARS, National Peanut Research Laboratory, Dawson, GA

Three methods for the determination of cyclopiazonic acid contamination in peanuts are compared for efficiency, precision and ease of use. The colorimetric method of Rathinavely and Shanmugasudram is easy to use and has a high extraction efficiency but may seriously overestimate the concentration of toxin. Thin layer chromatographic techniques are relatively easy to use, have good recovery efficiencies but may lack precision and require preparation of oxalic acid impregnated silica gel thin layer plates. High pressure liquid chromatography is more difficult, requires a special solvent and considerable sample processing but has better precision and accuracy than the other methods.

<u>Plavonoids and A. Flavus Resistant Peanuts</u>. D. J. Daigle, Southern Regional Research Center, P.O. Box 19687, New Orleans, La. 70179; A. Mixon, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, Ga.; A. J. Delucca, II, Southern Regional Research Center, P O. Box 19687, New Orleans, La. 70179; and T. A. Coffelt, TRACEC, P.O. Box 7098, Suffolk, Va. 23437.

Acetone extracts of a variety of peanuts were shown by Lindsey and Turner (1975), to inhibit the growth of A. flavus. They identified one of the inhibitory substances as 5,7-dimethoxyisoflavone. This present work with the use of standards and high performance liquid chromatography shows that a large number of peanut genotypes contain not the dimethoxy compound but 5,7-dihydroxyisoflavone. Twenty genotypes were laboratory screened for A. flavus resistance. The resistance of these peanuts and their correlation to 5,7-dihydroxyisoflavone will be discussed. The fungal inhibition characteristics of the dehydroxyisoflavone will also be presented.

Effect of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Peanut Pod Damage on Colonization by a Mutant of Aspergillus Parasiticus. D. M. Wilson, University of Georgia, Coastal Plain Station and R. E. Lynch, USDA-ARS, Insects Biology and Population Management Research Laboratory, Tifton, GA 31793.

Lesser cornstalk borer (LCB) larvae were fed peanut pods, maturity stage 2-6, as described by Lynch (1984). In one half of the laboratory test the LCB larvae were infested with a color mutant of Aspergillus parasiticus; the remaining larvae were not infested. After 10 days the peanuts were sorted according to damage category and the surviving larvae were recovered. Peanut hulls, kernels and larvae were placed on 10% malt salt medium and incubated at 30 C for 6 days before observation. Infestation of the larvae with A. parasiticus decreased LCB damage but did not influence larval survival. LCB damage was stage related. Kernels from penetrated pods contained more green A. flavus group and A. parasiticus than kernels from pods with no damage or external damage. Damage by LCB did not affect the incidence of fungi recovered from hulls. Aspergillus flavus was recovered from uninfested more often than infested treatments. Aspergillus parasiticus was recovered more often from kernels in stage 3 than those in 2, 4, and 5. Stage 6 kernels had the least A. parasiticus. These results show that LCB larvae can be vectors of A. parasiticus and that kernels in penetrated pods are often colonized.

IRRIGATION SYSTEMS

Irrigation Equipment, Scheduling, and Limitations of Each System. E. D. Threadgill, Dept. of Agric. Engr., Univ. of Ga., Coastal Plain Exp. Stn., Tifton, GA 31793.

Irrigation equipment for peanut production can be classified into five groups: surface, drip/trickle, traveling gun sprinkler, stationary sprinkler, and continuous move sprinkler. Surface systems are not well adapted to the topography and soils of most of the peanut production area. Drip/trickle is currently uneconomical due to the high capital cost of installation. Traveling gun sprinkler is well suited to small irregular shaped fields but is quite labor intensive and its popularity and use are generally declining. The stationary sprinkler was quite popular during the early days of irrigation but due to the intensive labor requirements is currently used on a very limited basis. The continuous move sprinkler systems (center pivot and linear move) are well suited to peanut irrigation and are used extensively for that purpose. The recent availability of small towable center pivots which can be adapted for irrigating small irregular shaped fields has greatly encouraged the increased use of center pivots throughout the peanut belt. Linear move systems are quite expensive and become economical only for large scale systems.

The use of irrigation systems for chemigation is becoming increasingly popular. Chemigation is primarily suited to irrigation systems of the continuous move sprinkler type. Mechanical components such as injection pumps, tanks and safety devices are now readily available for all types of chemigation systems. Safety considerations for chemigation are well defined and appropriate consideration must be given to both human and environmental safety when chemigation is practiced.

The potential benefits offered by irrigation with any irrigation system can only be realized when irrigation is properly scheduled. Several scheduling techniques are available with tensiometers being the most popular. Other techniques such as moisture blocks, checkbook and pan evaporation are used to some degree. Proper irrigation scheduling requires knowledge of the water requirements with respect to the age of the crop of various peanut types and varieties.

Irrigation alone will not solve the problems caused by poor management; however, it does offer the potential for consistently good peanut production. Irrigation should be considered as a crop input just like seed, fertilizer, etc., rather than only as insurance. This philosophy will help insure the proper use of irrigation in peanut production systems.

The Technology for Successful Chemigation. Clyde C. Dowler, USDA/ARS, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, GA 31793

The need and interest for effectively and economically utilizing center pivot sprinkler irrigation systems have resulted in cooperative research that has led to development of new application technology for applying agricultural chemicals through irrigation. This technology includes the application of insecticides and herbicides to plant foliage and soil, nematicides to soil, and fungicides to plant foliage. In general, the present chemigation research has been conducted on soils that include sands or loamy sands low in organic matter that are common to the Southeastern U.S. Rate of water application has ranged from 0.25 to 1.3 cm depending on soil type, soil moisture, chemical being applied, equipment capability, and specific pest management needs or objectives.

Commercially available equipment is used for injection of all chemicals into the irrigation systems. The pesticides have been injected as formulated commercial product or in mixing ratios of 1:1 to 1:15 or more in water or various nonemulsified oil carriers depending on equipment capability and research objectives.

Successful chemigation is dependent on a well-designed and properly functioning irrigation system, accurate calibration, and good management.

Chemigation of soil-applied materials has given good to excellent results. These include the soil fumigant metham, the nematicide phenamiphos, and herbicides such as alachlor, benefin, vernolate, and metolachlor. Chemigation to plant foliage has been somewhat more erratic, but research results are encouraging. Agricultural products can be applied to plant foliage through irrigation especially if some formulation adjustments are made. Agricultural chemicals that have been successfully applied through irrigation to plant foliage include the insecticides chlorpyriphos, carbaryl, permethrin, methylparathion, and acephate; the fungicides maneb, metalaxyl, and chlorothalonil; and the herbicides naptalam + dinoseb, fluazifop, acifluorfen, and lactofen.

Irrigation Schedules for Peanut Production. E. W. Rochester, Agricultural Engineering Department, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, Auburn, Alabama 36849

A 6-year study of peanut yield and quality responses to soil moisture levels was conducted to determine the most effective irrigation scheduling policy. Tensiometers used to measure soil moisture were placed at 6-, 12-, 18,- and 30-inch depths. Decisions to irrigate were based on values at 6 and 12 inches.

Several observations were noteworthy. There was an overall increase in yield of 520 pounds per acre for the irrigated peanuts compared to nonirrigated peanuts. The time for maturity was not necessarily the same for the irrigated and nonirrigated peanuts. Also, use of the 6 and 12-inch tensiometers to trigger irrigation resulted in the uneeded application of irrigation water in several years. In these years, the 30-inch tensiometer indicated that water was available and this value appeared to be a relatively good indicator of peanut yield. Because of the difficulty in applying adequate amounts of water to wet the soil to 30 inches, a 12- or 18-inch tensiometer or a combination of tensiometers at various depths might be used.

Differences in quality between irrigated and nonirrigated peanuts were indicated for some years. Typically, the irrigated peanuts had the same or slightly higher quality than the nonirrigated peanuts.

Late planting dates were evaluated during a 2-year period. Moisture availability appeared to be the only yield limiting factor. When irrigated, yields around 4000 pounds per acre were maintained. Peanut quality was improved by the later planting.

During the same 2-year period, an alternate planting pattern utilizing two rows spaced 7 inches apart were evaluated. Equal or greater yields were experienced for all treatments except for nonirrigated later plantings.

FOLIAR DISEASE MANAGEMENT

Management of Peanut Cultivars With Genetic Resistance. F. M. Shokes*, North Florida Research and Education Center, Quincy, FL 32351, D. W. Gorbet, Marianna Agricultural Research and Education Center, Marianna, FL 32446, and R H. Littrell, Department of Plant Pathology, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, GA 31793.

Resistance to the peanut leafspot diseases caused by Cercospora arachidicola (Hori) (CA) and Cercosporidium personatum (Berk. & Curt.) Deighton (CP) is available in plant introductions and some breeding lines. In the Florida breeding program, several lines have been identified with resistance, especially to CP. This resistance is insufficient for control of CA and CP under high inoculum loads, without the aid of a fungicide. However, yield losses in selected genotypes are only 12-35% without fungicide protection, compared to 50% loss with 'Florunner'. After 5 years of testing in Florida, and 2 years of testing in Georgia, a minimal spray program (4 sprays or less) seems feasi-ble. Two breeding lines have been identified with moderate levels of resistance which have good agronomic potential. Sustained high yield on these genotypes (ca 4000 kg/ha) without fungicide use, can be attributed in part, to maintenance of a higher leaf area index and a lower disease level than Florunner. The nature of all of the resistive components have yet to be determined but repeated observations of disease progress indicate that the resistance is rate-reducing (quantitative). A line should be available as a cultivar in the very near future. Some strategies that might be employed in use of such a cultivar are as follows:

- 1. Integration of fungicide programs with resistance.
 - A. Protectant fungicides may be used with minimal management programs.
 - B. Systemic fungicides might be employed to maintain disease below threshold levels.
 - C. Combinations of the above might be used to allow integrated control with minimal risk.
- 2. Disease forecasting might be used in conjunction with established thresholds to determine spray schedules
- Resistant cultivars might be used in some low risk areas in conjunction with good cultural practices to grow peanuts without leafspot sprays.

Performance of Tilt 3.6EC in Peanut Leafspot Control. H. G. Hancock* and John D. Weete. Depart. of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, Ala. Agric. Exp. Stn., Auburn University, Ala. 36849.

Propiconazole (Tilt 3.6EC), a member of the triazole class of sterolinhibiting fungicides, was tested to determine the optimum field application rate for peanut leafspot control and to determine the effects of Penetrator 3 (a blend of petroleum oil and non-ionic surfactant) on its performance. Four rates of Tilt 3.6EC (49, 74, 99, and 124 g a.i./ha) were applied alone or as tank-mixes with Penetrator 3 at 0.15 and 0.30% (v/v) in 140 L/ha. Bravo 500 (1235 g chlorothalonil/ha) and no treatment were included as controls. All fungicide treatments significantly reduced leafspot severity. Disease severity decreased quadratically with increasing Tilt and Penetrator 3 rate. A minimum rate of 99 g propiconazole/ ha was found to reduce infection equivalent reduction of defoliation. Tank-mixes of Tilt and Penetrator 3 were better (by <3%) than Tilt alone in reducing infection. However, plots treated with Bravo were less defoliated (by 3 to 6%) than those treated with Tilt (<u>+</u> Penetrator 3). Yield increased linearly with increasing Tilt rate, but Penetrator 3 failed to have any impact on yield of Tilttreated plots. Minimum rates of 49 and 74 g propiconazole/ha were required for yields equivalent to that of Bravo-treated plots at 138 and 150 days post plant, respectively.

Management Strategies for Optimal Use of Chlorothalonil on Florunner Peanuts in the Southeast. P. A. Backman, Dept. of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, Alabama Agr. Exp. Sta., Auburn University, AL 36849.

Presently almost all of the peanut acreage in the Southeast is sprayed with chlorothalonil for control of leafspot diseases; optimization of performance would mean reduced costs and increased profits. Frequent formulation changes made by industry have partially achieved this goal. During wet springs, spray programs initiated within one month of planting were superior to those started 6 weeks after planting. However this was not detectable in a dry season. Early season programs were found to control leafspot equally well if banded over-the-row at 1/3 rate, or if broadcast at full rate. High application rates and shortened spray intervals in the latter half of the crop season were found to achieve superior year-end disease control, but yield benefits were usually detected only with delayed harvest. Adjuvants (oil + surfactant) added to spray tanks were found to alter deposition (both positive and negative changes) and also to improve tenacity. Hot-dry weather was more destructive to chlorothalonil residues than was warm-wet weather. Leafspot disease prediction systems have not been successful in the Southeast due to localized weather phenomena, and the few spray applications eliminated by the practice.

Effect of Fungicide Application Technique on Deposition, Disease Control and Pod Yield. Robert H. Littrell and Fred H. Shokes, University of Georgia, Plant Pathology Department, Coastal Plain Station, Tifton, GA 31793 and University of Florida, Research and Education Center, Quincy, FL 32351.

Coverage of peanut foliage with effective fungicides is necessary to ensure economic pod yields. Without spraying yields could be reduced up to 50% as a result of defoliation caused by <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u> and <u>Cercosporidium</u> <u>personatum</u>. Fungicides are applied using hydraulic nozzles with spray volumes approximately 100 to 200 liters per hectare. A new concept in applying fungicides has been developed and is called controlled droplet application (CDA). This technique is well established as an efficient method for applying pesticides in uniform droplet sizes. CDA eliminates wasteful large spray droplets which contain excessive dosages and the large number of small droplets that do not reach the target area.

The CDA sprayer is compared to the conventional boom sprayer for coverage of foliage and deposition of chlorothalonil (applied as Bravo 500) on the leaf surfaces. Efficacy in disease control and influence on pod yields are compared at various dosages of chlorothalonil. No differences in coverage in the target area nor in deposition of fungicide were detected between the two appliances when the CDA spray volume was 9 liters per hectare. The conventional boom sprayer applied 94 liters per hectare. However, when spray volume of the CDA was increased to 27 liters, improved coverage and better canopy penetration was achieved as well as improved in disease control. It appears that should CDA be adopted spray volume should be no less than 27 liters per hectare and fungicide dose should not be reduced below the standard recommended level. There were indications of pod yield depression when the lower volume of spray was used in peanuts grown without use of irrigation. Additional research is underway to determine more precisely the influence of spray volume and effectiveness in controlling foliar diseases using the CDA.

Population dynamics and the management of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in peanuts. R. Rodriguez-Kabana, Department of Botany, Plant Pathology, and Microbiology, Auburn University, Alabama Agricultural Expt. Sta., Auburn, Alabama 36849.

Population development of the root knot nematode Meloidogyne arenaria in Florunner peanut can be described with the logistic equation. The rate of development of the population increases continuously during the first 12 weeks after planting. Typically 50% of the final population size is attained within 100 days after planting. This finding suggests that nematicide treatments be applied at planting or soon after to impede rapid population development of the nematode. Nematicide applications effected after 2-4 weeks of the crop are not as effective as those performed earlier. Maximal population size of the nematode is attained within 1-2 weeks before harvest. Consequently, the best time to sample for nematode analysis is at or near harvest time. Final population values for the nematode are negatively correlated with peanut yield. The type of population development exhibited by M. arenaria indicates that the value of corn or sorghum as rotation crops for the management of the nematode is questionable. Corn and sorghum sustain smaller populations of M. arenaria than peanut; however, only a small surviving population of the nematode is necessary to regenerate the "problem" when peanut is put back in the field after any of the 2 grass crops.

Management of Meloidogyne arenaria in Peanut During the Past Ten Years. D.W. Dickson.Department of Entomology and Nematology, University of Florida, Gainesville, Fl 32611.

During the past 10 years peanut growers have managed the peanut root-knot nematode (Meloidogyne arenaria) primarily with either dibromochloropropane or ethylene dibromide. Both chemicals were suspended by the Environment Protection Agency during 1977 and 1983, respectively. Growers generally applied these chemicals by injecting them into the soil with 2 - chisels per row spaced 8 to 10 inches apart, or with a single chisel per row at-time of planting. At this time there is no viable alternative at-plant soil fumigant available for use on peanut. 1, 3-dichloropropene or related compounds can be applied safely in certain peanut growing regions up to 7 days preplant (currently unavailable for several peanut growing counties in Florida). Alternative nematicides include nonfumigants which may be applied preplant or at-plant. Aldicarb, carbofuran, oxamyl, ethoprop are also approved for application at growth stages R1 to R2 (beginning bloom to beginning peg). The additional application of one of these three nematicides at R1 or R2 is suggested in peanut fields known to contain damaging population densities of M. arenaria.

Nematicides for Nematode Control on Peanut. N. A. Minton, USDA, ARS, Coastal Plain Experiment Station, Tifton, Georgia 31793.

Nematicides serve a major role in maintaining high peanut yields and quality in the United States. Several major nematode species, <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u>, <u>M</u>. <u>hapla</u>, <u>Belonolaimus longicaudatus</u>, and <u>Pratylenchus brachyurus</u>, cause economic loss of peanut. All cultivars in use today are susceptible to all of the above nematodes. Cultural practices such as rotations and fallow often are not effective and/or economical.

The number of nematicides available for nematode control of peanuts has always been limited. The cancellation by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of DBCP in 1978 and ethylene dibromide in 1983 and the termination of the manufacture of DD in 1984 has reduced the number of nematicides available even further. The loss of DBCP and ethylene dibromide has been especially costly to peanut producers. These two materials could be applied at seeding without crop injury and were often superior to nonfumigant nematicides in soils heavily infested with \underline{M} . arenaria. In addition, the cost of applying these two materials was usually less than for any other nematicide.

The only fumigant nematicide now available is 1,3-D which requires a waiting period between application and planting of peanuts. However, its use in Florida is now restricted by EPA to certain geographical areas because of the possibility of ground water contamination. In addition to this nematicidal fumigant, there is a group of products referred to as "multipurpose fumigants". These materials, in addition to containing the nematicidal component usually contain materials that have activity on some soilborne fungi. Included are a mixture of 1,3-D and chloropicrin, a mixture of 1,3-D and methyl isothiocyanate, and metham. All of these materials require a waiting period between application and seeding of peanut and are expensive.

The third group of nematicides, often referred to as nonfumigants, include aldicarb, carbofuran, ethoprop, fensulfothion, oxamyl, and phenamiphos. All of these materials may be applied at planting and certain ones of them may be applied postplant either as a nematicide or in combination with a fungicide for the control of <u>Sclerotium rolfsii</u>. Aldicarb has been detected in ground water in several locations in the United States and in specific geographical locations its use has been discontinued or restricted by EPA. The movement and degradation of other nematicides in the soil is being investigated. Hence, the longevity of the remaining nematicides is uncertain.

Development of new nematicides is progressing at a very slow pace. Presently there are very few proprietary nematicides being field tested, most of which are in very early stages of development. Therefore, replacements for those that have been withdrawn from use may not be forthcoming soon.

PEANUT STRIPE VIRUS

Peanut Stripe Virus Infecting U.S. Peanuts: An Overview. J. W. Demski, Department of Plant Pathology, Georgia Experiment Station, Experiment, GA 30212.

Peanut stripe virus (PStV) was first observed naturally infecting peanuts in the Plant Introduction plots at Experiment, Georgia, in the late summer of 1982. The virus was isolated from field peanuts to peanuts and other hosts by mechanical transmission in the greenhouse. During the winter of 1982-1983, pure cultures were obtained and methods developed for identification. During the early summer of 1983 the virus was again detected in peanuts at Experiment, Georgia, and also at the Plant Materials Center near Americus, Georgia, and the Coastal Plain Experiment Station at Tifton, Georgia. Only at this time did we perceive that PStV could be widespread and pose a threat to peanut production. Thus surveys of peanuts were made in Georgia (July 1983), North Carolina and Virginia (August 1983), and Texas and Florida (September 1983). PStV was found infecting peanuts in all states surveyed, but the virus was primarily restricted to institutional plantings and was not established in commercial peanut fields. Research during the summer of 1983, established that: PStV is seed transmitted in peanuts; was probably introduced into the U.S. from the Peoples Republic of China; the exchange of contaminated peanut seed is the primary source of inoculum; the virus is aphid transmitted in a nonpersistent manner; caused a 20% yield loss in one greenhouse test; is not serologically related to the endemic peanut mottle virus, but is related to soybean mosaic, blackeye cowpea mosaic and clover yellow vein viruses. Peanut seed harvested from the contaminated 1982 and 1983 field plots at Experiment, Georgia, were assayed for seed contamination. Twelve peanut seed from each of 56 entries were planted in the greenhouse and the seedlings individually assayed for PStV. Of the 672 seedlings, 39 were infected for a 5.8% seed transmission rate from field grown parents. If PStV does become established in commercial peanuts, the potential for annual epidemics is high because of the high seed transmission rate, the four and one half month growing season and the abundance of aphid vectors in all peanut growing areas. Assuming the U.S. peanut production is approximately 1,700,000 tons, with a value of \$500.00 per ton, the total production value would be near \$850 million. Therefore, by extrapolating, we can determine the range of yield losses that could occur. Using the formula: % plants infected x % yield loss = % total loss or total dollar loss, we obtain a range of possible losses; 5 x 5 = 0.25 or 2.1 M, 10 x 10 = 1.0 or 8.5 M, 20 x 20 = 4.0 or 34.0 M. 50 x 20 = 10.0 or 85.0 M. and 100 x 20 = 20.0 or 170.0 M.

Use of cytological and immunodiffusion techniques to aid virus identification.

D. E. Purcifull, R. G. Christie, E. Hiebert, Z. Xiong, and S. R. Christie

Departments of Plant Pathology and Agronomy, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611

Virus-induced symptoms alone are often unreliable for diagnosing the specific causes of virus diseases because different viruses may induce similar symptoms and also because symptoms may be modified by environmental factors, stage of infection, host cultivar, virus strain, and the presence of other viruses. Rapid laboratory diagnostic tests are suitable for this purpose. Differences in the morphology of cytoplasmic inclusions aid in distinguishing between infections caused by peanut stripe virus(PStV) and peanut mottle virus(PMV). Epidermal strips of infected leaves are stained with calcomine orange-brilliant combination and examined by light microscopy(Christie and Edwardson, 1977, Monograph No. 9, Univ. of Fla. Agric. Expt. Stn., 155 pp.). Individual samples can be processed in as little as 15 minutes. Immunodiffusion tests with sodium dodecyl sulfate-treated antigens(Purcifull and Batchelor, 1977, Univ. Fla. Agric. Expt. Stn. Technical Bulletin No. 788, 39 pp.) also are useful for distinguishing PStV from PMV. Results are obtained within 12-48 hours. Both light microscopy and immunodiffusion have been used to test mechanically inoculated peanut plants in the greenhouse and seedlings infected through seed.

<u>Plant Introductions and the Distribution of Peanut Seed</u>. Gil Lovell, Southern Regional Plant Introduction Station, Experiment, GA 30212.

Peanuts (Arachis spp.) form one of the largest and most active collections maintained and distributed by this Plant Introduction Station. We currently have 6,225 peanut introductions (PI's) from 101 countries. This plant germplasm was received by the USDA Plant Germplasm Quarantine Center (PGOC). Beltsville, Maryland. There, routine inspection was made to determine possible presence of insects, diseases, and soil. If insects or fragments thereof were found, the samples were fumigated with methyl bromide. Plant Introduction numbers were assigned to individual germplasm samples (collection or accessions) and then forwarded to us. Over the years (since 1950) a small percentage of the peanut introductions assigned to the National Plant Germplasm System have been distributed from the PGQC simultaneously to a requesting scientist and to the SRPIS. Since 1972, plant scientists receiving new peanut germplasm directly from the PGQC also received informational guidelines with reference to basic steps for observation and inspection during the initial grow-out season. Under the supervision of a staff Research Plant Pathologist we carried out these guidelines during each year's grow-out of new peanut introductions.

In 1979 we began receiving and increasing peanut germplasm received through exchanges with the People's Republic of China (PRC). In the successive years of 1979-80-81-82 our increase plantings included a total of 94 accessions that were grown with a total of 300 other peanut accessions from numerous countries. In the summer of 1982, for the first time, Dr. Grover Sowell, Jr., Research Plant Pathologist, ARS, noted symptoms that did not match those of the endemic Peanut Mottle Virus. He requested the expertise of Dr. Jim Demski, Virologist, Georgia Experiment Station to confirm his findings. By early January, 1983 enough laboratory data was collected to allow us to alert all peanut breeders in the U. S. of the symptoms of a peanut virus that had not been previously described in this country. We were also able to inform scientists and concerned administrative units in USDA and University Experiment Stations that experimental plots grown in association with peanuts from the PRC should be carefully observed for any unusual disease symptoms. Following the 1983 field surveys coordinated by Dr. Demski it was perceived that this new virus could be widespread. In planning our germplasm increase plantings for 1983 we included 33 new peanut introductions from PRC. As a necessary precaution we did not include any other peanut accessions. The plantings in 1983 did prove to be heavily infected with virus.

Following the first observation of the new virus symptoms in July of 1982, we placed an "in-house quarantine" on all peanuts from PRC and Taiwan. We also included all peanut introductions grown in the same increase plantings. This group of introductions will be tested through Dr. Demski's assay procedures. Because we have given priority to clearing breeding lines and new cultivars that are suspect, it will be the end of 1985 before we expect to be completed with the assay and clean-up of the PI germplasm.

Peanut Stripe Virus, Infection of Peanuts, and Breeding Programs. J. C. Wynne, Department of Crop Science, North Carolina State University, Raleigh 27695.

Germplasm is the foundation of an effective peanut breeding program. Diverse germplasm provides the necessary building blocks for future varietal improvement and the genetic diversity essential to maintain high levels of productivity. The introduction and use of diverse germplasm, although beneficial, involves risks of introducing a new pest or having the introduced germplasm being susceptible to a minor pest in the area.

Whenever a new pest or disease such as peanut stripe virus is discoverd, the first effect on the breeder is the restricted movement of germplasm from both foreign and domestic locations. It is clear that plant quarantine measures can play an important role in minimizing the risks of spreading diseases to disease-free areas. It is desirable, however, that regulations imposed should not be more stringent than required to prevent the spread of the disease. Regulations that are too strict could seriously limit the effectiveness of plant breeding. The USDA/APHIS/PPQ restriction on peanuts from the Peoples Republic of China and the voluntary restriction by breeders on the movement of virus-suspicious germplasm are proper measures that have been investigated.

Since the peanut stripe virus has been confined to research stations, the breeders are attempting to eradicate PStV by eliminating the virus from their breeding stocks. Germplasm suspected to be infected was not planted. Early and frequent inspection and roguing of planted stocks are also being practiced. Valuable germplasm that is infected will be grown in isolation in the greenhouse and increased from virus-free plants.

Breeders seed of each variety are being inspected since the use of virus-free seeds would eliminate the primary source of inoculum. Breeders seed is produced in virus-free areas. Seed fields will be frequently inspected and fields with virus-infected plants will not be used as foundation seed stocks if other seeds are available. Breeders in Georgia and Florida are attempting to plant virus-free breeders seed by testing seed lots using the ELISA test. However, with low infection frequencies a few virus-infected plants might not be detected in a large seed lot.

The breeders are also trying to assess the seriousness of PStV. If the virus is likely to be a serious problem, the breeder may need to expend considerable resources in attempting to find resistant germplasm or germplasm that does not transmit the virus through its seed. The reported high seed transmission rate and 20% yield loss indicate that PStV could become a serious problem. Of four lines introduced into North Carolina from China in 1981, only one line was found to be infected. Nine percent of the progeny from the line grown in the field during 1982 was virus-infected. However, the virus did not spread to adjacent plots during the 1982 growing season. The 18 virus-infected plants had a 20% reduction in yield and size of pods and seeds when grown in the greenhouse. The potential seriousness of PStV cannot be determined until the frequency of infection is determined for the 1984 crop.

Regulation of Seed Distribution as Influenced by New Diseases or Insect Pests. B. G. Lee and Al Elder, Survey and Emergency Response Staff, National Program Planning Staff, Plant Protection and Quarantine, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Hyattsville, Maryland.

Plant movement is of great interest to the U.S. Department of Agriculture. Many major agricultural catastrophes have resulted from the introduction of plant material that contained exotic plant pests. Powdery mildew and downy mildew of grape in France, Panama disease of banana in the Caribbean, and probably coffee rust in Brazil are examples of such catastrophes in foreign countries. The movement of plant germplasm poses a risk of moving exotic pests, particularly disease agents, along with the germplasm. This avenue of entry for exotic pests was recognized many years ago and provisions for regulating plant material for propagation including germplasm, was written into the Plant Quarantine Act.

The Act provides authority for the implementation of quarantine measures to keep exotic plant pests out of the United States. That authority, however, does not mean or dictate that all plant material is prohibited from being imported into the United States, but rather certain conditions must be met when importing material in order to prevent the inadvertent introduction of exotic pests. Judgment determinations are made relative to the likelihood of exotic pest introductions via plants or plant parts and conditions established for each plant genus. Some genera are denied entry, some allowed to be imported under permit and grown only under specified conditions at selected locations, and others under permit requiring treatment or other procedure.

Seeds, as parts of plants, are covered by the Plant Quarantine Act. All seeds imported into the United States are inspected on arrival. Those found to be infested with exotic insect pests, infected, or contaminated with exotic plant disease organisms are subject to treatment to eliminate the risk of pest or disease introduction. However, there are usually no effective quarantine treatments which will eliminate a fungus pathogen yet leave the seeds' viability relatively unimpaired. This means that most seeds infected or contaminated with pathogens are either reexported or destroyed. You recognize as we do that you cannot always detect a plant disease just by a visual examination of the seed, albeit a microscopic examination. Of course, we refer to the seedborne viruses and many internal seedborne fungi which require a more sophisticated laboratory detection method.

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service recognizes the need of researchers and plant breeders to acquire new germplasm for the genetic improvement of plant species. We support that action and have developed biologically sound procedures to accommodate the acquisitions while protecting our existing agricultural production systems. Quarantine and regulation provisions are necessary components of the activities designed to prevent the introduction of exotic plant pests. Quarantine and regulation provisions include seeds since they provide an excellent pathway for new disease and insect pest introductions into the United States.

60

Generally, we view seeds as being innocent of exotic pest introductions until proven guilty. Some seeds are in the guilty category and, consequently, are prohibited entry into the United States. Wheat, rice, corn, cotton, cassava, sugarcane, and true potato seed fall into this category. Prohibited entry means they may be imported only under Departmental permit under strict quarantine conditions and for scientific purposes. Evidence of pest introduction and potential or subsequent adverse impact on agriculture led us to take such action against these seed. You will recognize these as seed of crops of great value in the United States. Until recently, peanut seeds were considered to be in the innocent category.

The seeds of certain plant genera are of particular quarantine concern and are permitted entry only under special procedures for their growing in the United States. The nature of the quarantine conditions or safeguards prescribed for each kind of seeds will depend on a number of factors. These include the kinds of exotic diseases known to exist in the country of origin, the method of collection of the seeds, the possibility of disease organisms being transported with the seeds and whether in fact these organisms were transported, where and when the seeds are to be grown in the United States, and what safeguards can be employed to prevent the possible dissemination of exotic disease organisms. With the confirmation of peanut stripe virus in seed from the Peoples Republic of China, we are now considering prohibiting peanut propagative material from that country.

Seeds of most crop plants other than those already mentioned may be imported under permit without restrictions other than inspection on arrival. That inspection must indicate that the seeds are free from exotic plant pests and disease organisms.

61

EXTENSION AND INDUSTRY

Peanut Disease Loss Estimates for Major Peanut Producing States in the United States for 1983. The cooperation of the Plant Pathologists and Nematologists from those states reporting is greatly appreciated and acknowledged. Peanut disease loss estimate compiled by R. V. Sturgeon, Jr., Extension Plant Pathologist, Oklahoma State University.

Throughout the peanut producing areas of the United States, diseases continue to be a major limiting factor in producing maximum peanut yields. Peanut disease losses from the eleven states reporting ranged from a low of 5.02% reported by New Mexico to the highest loss of 26% reported by Florida (reported in Table I). This amounted to an approximate loss of 397,390 tons reported by ten of the states, and at 27 cents per pound the peanut growers from those reporting states lost over \$215,590,862 (reported in Table II).

Weather and control practices carried out by growers have an influence on disease incidence and loss. The severity of the disease is dependent on several environmental factors interacting with one another affecting both pathogen and peanut plant simultaneously. These conditions will vary between infection sites and seldom are they the same each year. Therefore, disease severity varies according to existing conditions.

The disease control programs growers maintain have a great influence on disease incidence and loss. The performance of these control practices become increasingly important because heavy loss in production can critically affect growers financially. Disease control and an economic dollar return depends greatly on early detection and accurate identification of the disease, selection of control practice and proper application. Commercial scouting or growers closely monitoring their peanut fields can reduce disease losses by providing early accurate identification of disease problems.

How much of this 215 million dollar loss that has been reported could have been prevented will never be known, yet we are confident that much of this loss could have been reduced by properly using available disease control practices.

Early and late peanut leafspots, <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u> and <u>Cercosporidium</u> <u>personatum</u> caused the greatest yield losses. The greatest loss of 15% was reported by Florida. Losses caused by nematodes were reported to have caused the next greatest loss; however, Southern blight, <u>Sclerotium rolfsii</u>, reportedly caused almost as much as all kinds of nematodes combined. Pod and root rot disease complex did not seem to cause as much of the damage as in past years. Seedling disease losses were greater in certain states and lower in others; yet, overall loss credited to the seedling disease complex was about the same as recent years. The peanut leafspots, nematodes and southern blight continue to be reported as the major disease problems as in past years. Pythium wilt reported by Virginia as a disease that should be recognized.

Estimating disease losses is difficult because of the many factors that influence the diseases and yields. However, loss estimates can be reliable when proper techniques are used such as field monitoring programs, disease control trials, crop reporting service, and surveys. Accurate disease loss estimates alert agricultural scientists, stimulate needed research and make the public aware of the existing problems.

There is a tremendous challenge for extension and research plant pathologists, nematologists and industry to reduce disease losses. More effective and economical disease control practices and management programs are needed by the peanut growers.

DISEASE	PATHOGEN	ALA	ARK	PLA	GA	N.C.	N.MEX	OKLA	<u>s.c.</u>	TEX	VA	LA
Seedling blight	Penicillium spp. <u>Pythium</u> spp. <u>Rhizoctonia solani, Pusarium</u> spp, <u>Rhizopus</u> spp, and etc.	-	3.0	2.0	-	T	1.5	1.0	0.5	2.0	T	4.0
Crown rot	Aspergillus niger	T	-	-	-	0.5	-	T	1.0	1.0	T	т
Southern blight	<u>Sclerotium</u> rolfsii	7.2	1.0	2.0	6.5	1.5	0.5	4.0	4.5	5.0	0.2	3.0
Sclerotinia blight	Sclerotinia sclerotium	-	-	-	-	1.0	0	1.5	o	T	3.0	т
Pod and Root Rot Complex	<u>Pythium</u> spp, <u>Rhizoctonia</u> solani, <u>Pusarium</u> spp.	1.0	1.0	2.0	4.0	1.0	1.5	3.0	4.6	3.0	0.4	2.0
Seg. 3 <u>A</u> . <u>flavus</u>	Aspergillus flavus	1.09	-	-	1.5	T	0	0.16	1.0	1.82	T	0.2
Black rot	Clyindrocladium crotalariae	0.2	-	-	-	8.0	0	-	3.5	0	3.0	0
Verticillium wilt	Verticillium spp.	-	-	-	-	т	0.02	0.3	-	0	0.1	0
Fusarium wilt	Fusarium spp.	-	-	-	-	0	0	o	-	T	0	0
Bactorial wilt	Pseudomonas solanacearum	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0
Early and Late Leafspot	<u>Cercospora</u> arachidicola Cercosporidum personatum	6.5	4.0	15.0	4.0	1.0	1.0	3.5	3.0	5.0	2.0	4.0
Web blotch	Phoma arachidicola	-	-	-	-	T	т	т	-	T	0	0
Leaf rust	Puccinia arachidis	0.01	-	т	-	0	0	0	-	т	0	0
Other leafspot	Alternaria spp. Leptosphaerulina <u>crassiasca</u>	-	-	-	-	т	т	T	0.5	т	T	T
Botrytis blight	Botrytis cinerca	-	-	-	-	т	0	o	-	0	0.1	0
Virus		т	-	-	1.0	T	0	o	-	T	T	1.5
Other disease										(Pyth:	0.1 ium Wi	1t)
Nematodes N. Root knot NUTS Root knot Lesion Sting	All kinds <u>Meloidogyne hapla</u> <u>Meloidogyne grenaria</u> <u>Pratylenchus brachyurus</u> <u>Belonolaimus longicaudatus</u>	5.0 (4.9) (0.1)	1.5	5.0	2.5 (0.3) (2.2)	(T) (2.0)	0,5	3.0 (1.75) (0.75)	4.0	5.0 (3.0) (2.0)	4.0 (3.5) (0) (T) (0.5)	5.0
Ring Total Percent Loss	Criconemella sp.	21.0	10.5	~ ~	21.5	(2.0)	5.02	(0.5)	22.6		12.9	19.7

TABLE 1- ESTIMATED PERCENT LOSS OF PEANUT YIELDS IN 1983 AS RESULT OF DISEASE DAMAGE

.

٠

.

.

Compiled by R. V. Sturgeon, Jr., Extension Plant Pathologist, Oklahoma State University with cooperation of Plant Pathologist and Nematologists from reporting states.

.

. .

TABLE II

Pounds 1/ Dollar² State and Acres Pounds Total & Loss Harvested Produced Loss Loss Alabama 183,000 455,670,000 121,127,468 32,704,416 21.0 Arkansas 2,800 5,700,000 668,715 180,553 10.5 Florida 160,160,000 56,252,432 15,188,157 56,000 26.0 562,000 1,556,740,000 426,368,280 115,119,436 Georgia 21.5 Louisiana 877 1,974,000 484,282 130,756 19.7 N. Carolinia 141,000 303,150,000 66,545,122 17,967,183 18.0 11,000 New Mexico 25,850,000 1,626,615 * 439,186 5.02 Oklahoma 92,000 179,540,000 36,253,269 9,788,383 16.8 6,832,558 1,844,791 S. Carolinia 13,000 23,400,000 22.6 48,764,135 363,792,000 13,166,316 Texas 22.82 29,858,094 8,061,685 96,000 201,600,000 Virginia 12.09

Estimated Loss of Peanut Production in 1983 as Result of Disease Damage

 $\frac{1}{2}$ Pounds Loss = Potential yield minus pounds produced.

Potential Yield - Pounds produced + (100% minus % estimated loss)

 $\frac{2}{2}$ Dollar Loss based on 27¢ per lb x pounds loss.

Compiled by R. V. Sturgeon, Jr., Extension Plant Pathologist, Oklahoma State University with cooperation of Plant Pathologist and Nematologists from reporting states.

.

No EDB1 Now What? for Root Knot Nematode Control on Peanuts. T.A. Lee, Jr., Extension Plant Pathologist, Texas A & M University, Stephenville, TX.

Root knot nematodes continue to be on the minds of many peanut farmers. Since each year something different in the area of chemical control limits their choices. There are methods available other than chemical control such as long term crop rotation, but for many producers this has not been a feasible method. In studying the history of nematode control for the last 10 to 15 years, somewhat of an evolution in chemicals has resulted. Ten years ago the principal chemical used to control nematodes was a material referred to as DBCP. This material was relatively inexpensive using 3/4 gallon per acre at a cost of about \$10 to \$12. Unfortunately, there were some environmental problems with this compound and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) saw fit to cancel its use and peanut growers lost a very valuable and inexpensive control tool. With the loss of DBCP, granular compounds began to make minor entries into the marketplace along with another compound, Ethylene dibromide (referred to as EDB). EDB like DBCP, was in its time the cheapest, most effective and probably the easiest to use of chemicals available for root knot nematode control. But again, the EPA stepped in and deemed the EDB to be harmful to human health and its use on peanuts was cancelled.

In the spring of 1984 many growers were asking "what am I going to do now?" There was one compound remaining with fumigant action (1,3-D). The 1,3-D compound is definitely not as easy to use as either DBCP or EDB and is more expensive. Therefore, many growers are taking a closer look at the granular compounds. These compounds are highly effective on nematodes but are almost out of the question for the dryland farmer since they require moisture for activation. Ideally, these compounds should be used in combination with the soil fumigant 1,3-D. A grower should determine his nematode problem in the fall just prior to harvest of the previous crop and should budget \$50,00/A for chemical control.

New Developments from Helena Chemical Company. Allen Underwood, Helena Chemical Company, Cayce-West Columbia, SC.

Testing of sterol inhibiting fungicides at full and reduced rates with the addition of Helena's Agri-Dex, Penetrator, and Soydex spray enhancement adjuvants continues in VA, AL, GA, SC and FL. Previous tests indicate that lower rates of fungicides plus Agri-Dex or Penetrator give equal results when compared to the higher rates of fungicides when used alone.

BRAVO-S, Paraguat Plus, Copper FF, Crop Oil Concentrate, and Surfactant WA are products bearing the Setre Chemical Company name that are being tested and marketed by Helena. Helena is a marketing agent for Setre Chemical Company.

A unique source of liquid Boron for foliar and soil application is being introduced this year.

QUANTUMtm 4000 - A New Type of Seed Treatment for Peanuts W.G. Hairston, Gustafson, Inc. Dallas, TX. .

QUANTUMtm 4000 is a new type of seed treatment that is made up of a unique strain of <u>Bacillus subtillus</u> bacteria. When germination begins, the bacteria colonize the developing root system and provide protection from root diseases. QUANTUM 4000 has in laboratory test been demonstrated to give off several antibiotics. These antibiotics, along with competition for growth sites with pathogens, appears to protect the peanut root system from several root diseases. In grower trials conducted in TX, OK, GA, and AL in 1982 and 1983 growers have averaged an increase in yield of 10%.

Product Characteristics of Lorsban 15G in Peanut. Dennis B. Hale, Dow Chemical Company, Atlanta, GA.

A review of the stability, persistence, moisture requirements, and metabolite formation of the granular formulation of chlorpyrifos will be given. These product characteristics help define the activity of Lorsban 15G on soil insects and white mold in peanut.

Actellic; An Update. Chris Weed, ICI Americas, Inc., Montgomery, AL.

Annual losses due to stored grain insects average between 10%-20% of the total crop produced. These losses are valued at \$200 to \$600 million. Insects spoil the grain directly by feeding on the kernels and indirectly by contaminating the crop with their waste, webbing, body parts, cast skins, and even the odor created by the infestation along with the distribution of fungi. Even the heat and moisture created by infestations contribute to storage losses.

The Environmental Protection Agency granted ICI Americas, Inc. an Experimental Use Permit for Actellic use on peanuts on September 2, 1983. This allowed the use of 22^{AOW} of active ingredient on up to 57,000 tons of peanuts. An Experimental Use Permit for small grains was granted on October 25, 1983. This allowed the use of 16^{ROW} of active ingredient on up to 133,629 tons of small grains.

Actellic 7E is an organophosphorus insecticide which provides excellent control of stored grain insects. It is active against a wide range of insects, including strains resistant to malathion. Actellic will provide protection of stored grain for up to 12 months for "in pile" feeders and up to 6 months for surface feeders.

Actellic will control the major economic insect pests of stored grain and peanuts at the following rates:

- A. Corn, wheat, and grain sorghum(6.4-5.5 fluid ozs) in 5 gallons of water applied to 30 tons of grain.
- B. Rice(10.1,-16 fluid ozs) in 5 gallons of water amplied to 30 tons of rice.
- C. Peanuts(11 fluid ozs) in 5 gallons of water applied to 15 tons of peanuts.

Actellic will be evaluated during 1994 as a can spray and also as a premise disinfestation spray. Harvest Plus: A High Analysis, Complete Foliar Nutritional R.E. Woodward, PhD., Director, Business Development, Stoller Chemical Company, Inc., Houston, TX

Recently patented chemistry provides a method of combining phosphate and potash with high levels of divalent metals in a soluble format. Foliar application of Harvest Plus supplies all the essential nutrients required for active metabolism ever when root mediated delivery is impared by water relations, nematodes, root diseases or soil chemistry. Field observations of Harvest Plus treated blocks included increased yield, improved quality, earlier maturity and better stress tolerances.

New Products for the Control of Sclerotinia Blight of Peanut. P. M. Phipps, Tidewater Res. Ctr., Suffolk, VA 23437.

More than 50 fungitoxicants (registered and experimental) were tested for activity against Sclerotinia minor utilizing the soil plate method. Ten chemicals were found to provide good suppression of mycelial growth and sclerotial production by S. minor. Five of these chemicals were subsequently shelved by industry and are no longer available. Four of the remaining five (PCNB, dicloran, iprodione, vinclozolin) have been evaluated over three years in field trials of peanuts. PCNB applied as a 10% granule at 5 lb a.i./A banded over the row ca Jul 15 and Aug 30 provided good disease suppression. PCNB as a 75W formulation sprayed over the row at similar timings and rates was ineffective in disease suppression. Dicloran applied as a 75W formulation at 3 lb a.i./A on demand and subsequently at 2.25 lb a.i. in two additional demand sprays gave fair to good disease suppression. Good disease suppression was also achieved with iprodione as a 50W formulation at 1 lb a.i./A on ca Jul 15, Aug 12 and Sep 10. Vinclozolin gave excellent disease suppression when applied as a 50W formulation at 0.75 lb a.i./A on a similar calendar schedule. Tank mixes of iprodione or vinclozolin with the 2nd, 4th and 6th sprays of benomy] plus flowable sulfur for leafspot control gave good to excellent suppression of both Sclerotinia blight and Cercospora leafspot. Only vinclozolin provided disease suppression when chlorothalonil was substituted for benomyl and sulfur in the tank mix. PCNB, dicloran and vinclozolin have received emergency approvals for utilization to control Sclerotinia blight of peanut in Virginia in 1984.

Standardized Systems for Nematicide Evaluation -Variable Data: Why and How? C.H. Baldwin, SDS Biotech Corp,; J. Bailey, N. Carolina State; D. Dickson, University of Florida; R. Kabana, Auburn University. .

2

FACTORS RESPONSIBLE FOR DATA VARIATION

1. Test site selection

- a. Nematode populationb. Size of testc. Soil typed. Cropping history
- 2. Experimental design

a. Number of treatmentsb. Number of replications

3. Application techniques used

a. In furrow b. Band and broadcast

4. Nematicide rates

a. Formulations b. Method of calculation

SUGGESTIONS TO REDUCE VARIATIONS

1. Standardize

a. Protocols from industryb. Calculationc. Labelsd. Reporting

APRES BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING Riverview Plaza Hotel, Mobile, Alabama 17 July 1984

President Fred Cox called the meeting to order at 7:30 P.M. The following board members were present: Fred Cox, Ron Sholar, David Hsi, Gale Buchanan, Johnny Wynne, Darold Ketring, Gerald Harrison, Max Grice and Perry Russ. Also attending were O. D. Smith, Don Smith, W. E. Dykes, Terry Coffelt, J. M. Troeger, Sydney Fox, Charles Simpson, Mike Schubert, Walt Mozingo, and Aubrey Mixon.

0. D. Smith reported on the American Society of Agronomy Meeting. Approximately 1,600 attended the 1983 meeting. Seventeen papers on peanuts were presented.

Fred Cox discussed several subjects of the past year. Dr. Durward Bateman of N.C. State has been appointed as representative from the Southern Agricultural Experiment Station Directors. A questionnaire to learn more about APRES members and their interest in different committees was sent to all members. A change in status and pay for the assistant to the Executive Officer was approved during the past year. The new assistant will begin work officially on July 30, 1984. Prior to that she will spend some time in training with the current assistant. A calendar of events has been established. A change in the financial reporting format has been established. The subject of changing the APRES fiscal year has been discussed with no decision made. A letter from Harold Pattee concerning the use of society funds to be combined with personal funds to purchase a word processor was discussed. President Cox indicated the consensus of the board was that the society should be using its own equipment.

David Hsi presented the report of the Nominating Committee. Gerald Harrison moved that the report be accepted. Seconded by Perry Russ. Motion passed.

W. E. Dykes presented the report of the Finance Committee. Perry Russ moved and Max Grice seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

The Publications and Editorial Committee report was presented by Terry Coffelt. David Hsi moved and Darold Ketring seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

The Peanut Quality Committee report was presented by John Troeger. Gale Buchanan moved and Perry Russ seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

Gale Buchanan presented the report of the Golden Peanut Research and Education Award Committee. Perry Russ moved and Gerald Harrison seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

David Hsi presented the Fellows Committee report. A discussion ensued and it was agreed that the Fellows Committee should be structured to include previous winners. Perry Russ moved and Max Grice seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

Charles Simpson presented the report of the Bailey Award Committee. A discussion of how the Bailey Award recipient should be selected ensued. Johnny Wynne moved and Gale Buchanan seconded that only volunteer papers be in competition for the Bailey Award. Motion passed. The committee recommended that a certificate (in addition to trophy bookends) be sent to the senior author of the winning paper. The possibility of presenting the current award and lesser awards was discussed as interest earned on the account is resulting in increases in the Bailey Fund with yearly expenditures less than interest earned. President-elect Buchanan will inform the Bailey Award Committee of the availability of funds for additional awards. Perry Russ moved and Gerald Harrison seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

Mike Schubert presented the report of the Site Selection Committee. The 1985 meeting will be held July 8-15 at the El Tropicano in San Antonio, Texas. The 1986 meeting will be held in Virginia Beach, Virginia, and the 1987 meeting to be held in Florida with the Orlando area as the most likely location. Gale Buchanan moved and Perry Russ seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

Gale Buchanan presented the report of the Program Committee. Perry Russ moved and Max Grice seconded that the report be accepted. Motion passed.

Perry Russ moved and Darold Ketring seconded that the registration fee be \$30 for members and \$35 for non-members. Motion passed.

President Fred Cox adjourned the meeting at approximately 10:10 p.m.

70

Minutes of the Regular Business Meeting of the AMERICAN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION SOCIETY Riverview Plaza Hotel, Mobile, Alabama, 20 July 1984

The meeting was called to order at 8:10 a.m. by President Fred Cox. The minutes from the 1983 meeting were approved and accepted. The Executive Officer report was presented by Ron Sholar. The Nominating Committee Report was presented by David Hsi. The Finance Committee Report was presented by William Dykes.

The Publications and Editorial Committee Report was presented by Terry Coffelt. Harold Pattee presented certificates to outgoing Associate Editors for <u>Peanut Science</u>.

The Peanut Quality Committee Report was presented by John Troeger.

The Public Relations Committee Report was presented by Sidney Fox.

The Site Selection Committee Report was given by Mike Schubert.

The American Society of Agronomy Liaison Report was presented by O. D. Smith.

The President's Report was presented by Fred Cox.

The Program Committee and President-Elect Reports were given by Gale Buchanan.

The meeting was adjourned at 9:20 a.m.

j,

AMERICAN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION SOCIETY

BALANCE SHEET AS OF

	June 30, 1984	June 30, 1983
<u>I</u>	SSETS	
CURRENT ASSETS		
Cash in Checking Account Certificate of Deposits Savings Accounts Inventory of Books	36,749.49 10,000.00 965.04 47,274.64	15,472.82 31,355.02 3,350.15 41,243.84
TOTAL ASSETS	94,989.17	91,401.83
LIABILITIES	AND FUND BALANCE	
LIABILITIES		
Advanced Payments for Peanut Science & Technology		23,049.69
TOTAL LIABILITIES		23,049.69
FUND BALANCE	94,989.17	68,352.14
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE	94,989.17	<u>91,401.83</u>

.

2

For More Complete Financial Statements See Accountant's Review Report

APRES STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY FOR YEAR ENDING

	June 30,	1984	June 30, 1983
RECEIPTS			
Membership & Registration	19,766.87	1	5,831.12
Proceedings & Reprint Sales	28.50		80.77
Special Contributions	3,400.00		3,795.00 3,049.69
Peanut Science & Technology Peanut Science Page Charges	13,155.89	2	3,049.09
& Reprints	11,604.12	1	3.311.33
Institutional Membership	1,632.50		1,196.50
Differential Postage Assessment -			
Foreign Members	2,167.50		1,375.24
Checking Account Interest	1,108.96		1,119.99
Savings Acct Wallace K. Bailey Ladies Activities	2,511.60 -0-		51.60 18.00
Proceeds from Certificates of	-0-		10.00
Deposits (Principal & Interest)	22,819.55		887.11
APRES Method Books	1,175.63		357.00
		-	
TOTAL RECEIPTS	<u>/</u>	9,371.12	61,073.35
EXPENDITURES			
Proceedings - Printing & Reprints	4,380.48		4,078.54
Annual Meeting - Printing	3,912.86		3,045.25
Secretarial	3,150.00		3,000.00 1,123.70
Postage Office Supplies	555.00 587.69		913.84
Travel - Executive Officer	421.24		-0-
Registration - State of Georgia	20.00		5.00
Miscellaneous	467.95		253.60
Peanut Science	15,059.00	1	4,750.00
Peanut Science & Technology	26,806.63	2	21,243.84
Bank Charges	350.72		72.17
Peanut Research	1,384.30		1,107.58
Purchased Certificate of Deposit	-0-	1	10,000.00
Membership Secondary Solf Employment Tax	54.33		-0-
Secretary - Self-Employment Tax Legal Fees	210.38 62.00		150.06 85.00
APRES Method Books	389.20		618.00
Sales Tax	282.67	_	266.71
		-	
TOTAL EXPENDITURES	5	58,094.45	60,713.29
EXCESS RECEIPTS OVER EXPENDITURES	* 2	21,276.67	360.06
Cash in Checking Acct Beginning of P	eriod <u>1</u>	15,472.82	15,112.76
Cash in Checking Acct End of Period	3	36,749.49	15,472.82

*Over 20,000 of this excess came from Certificates of Deposits.

,

73

Statement of Changes in Fund Balance for the Year Ending

	<u>June 30, 1984</u>	June 3) <u>, 1983</u>
Fund Balance - Beginning of Year		68,352.14	58,340.75
ADD:			
Interest Income	2,719.98	3,515.88	
Membership & Registration	21,399.37	17,027.62	
Special Contributions	3,400.00	3,795.00	
Peanut Science Paper Changes & Reprints	11,604.12	13,311.33	
APRES Method Book Sales	1,175.63	357.00	
Postage Assessments	2,167.50	1,375.24	
Proceedings & Reprint Sales	28.50	80.77	
Ladies Activities	-0-	18.00	
Peanut Science & Technology Sales	36,205.58	-0-	
Less: Cost of Books	20,775.83		
Net Proceeds	15,429.75		
Total	57,924.85	39,480.84	
DEDUCT :			
Proceedings - Printing & Reprints	4,380.48	4,078.54	
Annual Meeting - Printing	3,912.86	3,045.25	
Secretarial	3,150.00	3,000.00	
Postage	555.00	1,123.70	
Office Supplies	587.69	913.84	
Registration - State of Georgia	20.00	5.00	
Miscellaneous	467.95	253.60	
Peanut Science	15,059.00	14,750.00	
Bank Charges	350.72	72.17	
Peanut Research	1,384.30	1,107.58	
Secretary - Self Employment Tax	210.38	150.06	
Legal Fees	62,00	85.00	
APRES Methods Book	389.20	618.00	
Sales Tax - Texas, N. Carolina, Georgia	282.67	266.71	
Membership	54.33	-0-	
Travel - Executive Officer	421.24	-0-	
<u>Total</u>	31,287.82	29,469.45	
Net Increase in Fund Balance		26,637.03	<u>10,011,39</u>
Fund Balance - End of Year		94,989,17	68,352.14

.

4

1

•

. .

PRESIDENT'S REPORT F. R. Cox

This, the 16th year for the American Peanut Research and Education Society, has been a year of change. It has not been that transition from adolescence to maturity, as those of the "sweet sixteen" vintage might imagine. Rather, we have gone through our second change in Executive Officer. Yes, after 16 years, we are now just calling on the third person to serve in this capacity. Such an infrequent change has the potential of being quite disastrous, but that certainly was not the case. Both Don Smith and Ron Sholar are to be commended for their patience and detailed attention to the transfer of the duties of that office.

That office is an extremely responsible position for our Society, the Executive Officer guides the operational headquarters. He has the business office that responds to a multitude of questions and notices, keeps our finances straight, and generally rides herd on all contingents of our Society. Why he does this might be questioned, - for we pay him nothing, though we expect a lot from him and his assistant.

The change we have just gone through has helped identify just how much work and effort is involved in these operations. Awareness of this is not new, as a number of past presidents, and an Ad hoc committee, have urged the Society to increase its commitment to that office. This was the time, though, when the need became so obvious it could not be brushed aside. As a result, we have more than doubled the amount paid to the assistant to the Executive Officer. We are now paying our fair share and should be proud of it.

Our Society is not alone in increasing its commitment to help the Executive Officer. Oklahoma State University has agreed to provide an office and equipment for the assistant to our Executive Officer. Just the close proximity of personnel will increase efficiency tremendously. We are truly appreciative of the thoughtfulness shown by that University.

With such assistance, the Executive Officer should continue to handle the routine business of the Society efficiently. This will allow our officers, committees, and especially individual members freedom to pursue the goals of our Society - namely to promote scientific research on peanuts through significant meetings and publications. By these means we instruct and educate on the management and value of this great commodity.

Our meeting is singular - this one - but it has a quality and breadth that is to be admired. The research reported here is timely and well conceived. But experiencing the breadth of this meeting is likely the greatest reward for those attending. Each of us has a narrow field of specialization. All year we live within that field, barely acknowledging others. At our annual meeting, however, one cannot help but be amazed at the many diverse research and extension programs, all of which are increasing our knowledge of peanuts. This is a broadening experience and a noted advantage of being associated with a commodity group.

75

We also enhance scientific research on peanuts through our publications. A subcommittee of the Publication and Editorial Committee put out a nice brochure on our publications this year. This is assisting in the sales of our book <u>Peanut</u> <u>Science and Technology</u>. There is no doubt that this text is a classic in the field, and that sales will continue to progress well. We must plan now to set aside the returns from the sale of this book so that we will be in a good financial position to publish again in the future. That time will come sooner than we think.

Our journal, <u>Peanut Science</u> also is continuing to be a highly respected scientific publication. The editor, Harold Pattee, and his associate editors, have done well in maintaining the high quality of manuscripts that are included. The real credit for quality, however, goes to the numerous authors - to each of you as members of this society. Your record is excellent both here and in other writings on peanuts. The <u>Compendium of Peanut Diseases</u> edited by Morris Porter, Don Smith, and Rodriguez-Kabana is a recent example of an excellent publication on peanuts. The list will go on, just as we continue adding sections to the <u>Quality</u> <u>Methods</u> book published by our society. In all of these efforts we are indeed fulfilling our objective of promoting scientific research on peanuts.

We would not fulfill our objectives, or even operate as a Society, without considerable input from each of you as members. Some of this input is in service on committees. As you know, we have nine standing committees, and usually a few Ad hoc ones, that do considerable work and initiate policy for the Board of Directors to act upon. They have continued to do an excellent job and I would like to thank each committee member, but especially the chairmen and retiring members who have served so well for the outstanding jobs they have done this past year. They are, indeed, hard workers and this administration sincerely appreciates their efforts.

Report of the Executive Officer James R. Sholar

Although the fiscal year has officially ended, concluding our Annual Meeting is somewhat like putting the capstone on that year. As we conclude this meeting in the great state of Alabama, our Texas delegation is already planning bigger and better things for our 1985 meeting. But they will have a tough act to follow. Preliminary figures show that we have 290 registrants for this meeting and, according to Don Smith, this established a new registration record. Typically, attendance is in the 240-250 range. More importantly, our members have profited by the sharing of information to be carried back to our places of work and used to further our individual and collective efforts.

Our meeting continues to grow in international participation with the countries of Burma, the Philippines, India, Thailand, Japan, Canada, Senegal, Malawi, and France participating. Additionally, individuals from Virginia, Texas, Oklahoma, North Carolina, Maryland, Florida, Georgia, Alabama, New Mexico, South Carolina and California participated.

Our Society has grown to approximately 700 members in 5 categories -Sustaining, Organizational, Individual, Institutional, and Student. Among our individual memberships, international participation continues to grow at the most rapid pace.

I won't give the complete financial report as the finance committee is prepared to that. However, I can tell you that our net worth now exceeds \$94,000.

I would like to thank Don Smith for his help during the past year. Don has made every effort to make the transition in Executive Office as smooth as possible.

I look forward to serving as your Executive Officer for the next year.

Respectfully submitted,

James R. Sholar Executive Officer

77

PROGRAM COMMITTEE REPORT

The responsibilities for this committee were divided among three sections: (1) Technical Program, (2) Local Arrangements, and (3) Ladies' Program. The leadership of each of these sections is listed below. These individuals contributed enormously to the success of the meeting and deserve a heartfelt thanks.

Arrangement of presentations by the Technical Program section is given in the program. There were 97 presentations, including symposia on irrigation systems, on foliar disease management, on nematodes and a panel discussion on peanut stripe virus. The papers and discussions were excellent and the sessions were ably conducted by those who presided. All the participants are commended for making the program an outstanding success.

The Local Arrangements section provided the logistical support for the meeting. This section provided for hotel accommodations, on-site registration, exhibits, and other activities, including the golf tournament, the Uniroyal family picnic, the SDS Biotech social, the awards presentation, business meeting, and sightseeing tours. Each of those who contributed to the local arrangements is acknowledged in the program and is hereby commended.

The Ladies' Program provided information on the area, arranged tours and provided a hospitality room for spouses and families of members. Tours included a shopping spree and fashion show and visits to Bellingrath Gardens and the battleship Alabama. The ladies program was outstanding.

Program Committee

G. A. Buchanan, Chairman

Local Arrangements:

H. R. Griggs, Chairman

Technical Program:

- R. L. Guthrie, Chairman
- D. L. Hartzog, Co-Chairman
- P. A. Backman
- U. L. Diener
- J. C. French
- T. P. Mack
- N. R. Martin
- R. Rodriguez-Kabana
- R. E. Stevenson J. R. Weeks
- G. R. Wehtje

Ladies' Program:

- C. Griggs, Chairman
- L. King
- J. Hartzog
- B. French
- M. A. Bowden

L. J. Chapman, Co-Chairman S. Fox G. Gregory J. E. Mobley J. W. Everest A. K. Hagan J. O. Donald, Jr.

- L. M. Curtis

PROGRAM for the Sixteenth Annual Meeting of the American Peanut Research and Education Society, Inc.

TUESDAY, JULY 17

1:00-8:00 APRES Registration - Foyer, 2nd Floor 1:00-5:00 Ladies Hospitality - Room 510

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND DISCUSSION GROUPS

1:30	Finance - W. E. Dykes, presiding
1:30	Editorial - T. A. Coffelt, presiding
3:00	Site Selection - J. E. Mobley, presiding
3:00	Public Relations - S. Fox, presiding
4:30	Peanut Quality - J. M. Troeger, presiding
4:30	Bailey Award - C. Simpson, presiding
7:30	Peanut Commodity Advisory Committee on Germplasm - J. Wynne, presiding
7:30	Board of Directors - F. R. Cox, presiding

WEDNESDAY, JULY 18

GENERAL SESSION - F. R. Cox, presiding

8:30 Invocation - J. F. McGill

8:40 Welcome to Mobile - L. C. Mims, Mayor of Mobile

- 8:50 Welcome to Alabama and the Role of Agriculture in Alabama -Albert McDonald, Commissioner, Agriculture and Industries, State of Alabama
- 9:10 Importance of the Land Grant Universities in Peanut Research and Extension - Dr. G. A. Buchanan, Dean and Director, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University
- 9:30 Role of the Alabama State Docks in Southeastern Agriculture -E. G. Browning, Jr., General Traffic Manager, Alabama State Docks
- 9:50 Announcements G. A. Buchanan, Program Chairman R. Griggs, Local Arrangements Committee R. L. Guthrie, Technical Program Committee

10:00 Break

2

こ

TWO CONCURRENT SESSIONS

1. SESSION A -- SYMPOSIUM: IRRIGATION SYSTEMS FOR PEANUT PRODUCTION 2. SESSION B -- PLANT PATHOLOGY - NEMATOLOGY

SYMPOSIUM: IRRIGATION SYSTEMS FOR PEANUT PRODUCTION SESSION A. D. H. Teem, moderator

- 10:20 Irrigation Equipment, Scheduling, and Limitations of Each System. E. D. Threadgill.
- 10:50 The Technology for Successful Chemigation. C. C. Dowler.
- 11:20 Irrigation Schedules for Peanut Production. E. W. Rochester.
- 11:50 Lunch
- SESSION B. PLANT PATHOLOGY NEMATOLOGY M. Porter, presiding
- 10:20 Population Dynamics of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in a Peanut Field. R. Rodriguez-Kabana, A. K. Culbreath, and D. G. Robertson.
- 10:35 Combinations of 1,3-D and Aldicarb for Control of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in Peanut. C. F. Weaver, R. Rodriguez-Kabana, and P. S. King.
- 10:50 Corn and Sorghum as Rotational Crops for Control of <u>Meloidogyne</u> <u>arenaria</u> in Peanuts. P. S. King, R. Rodriguez-Kabana, and J. T. Touchton.
- 11:05 Occurrence of Peanut Pod Rot in Oklahoma and Phytopathogenic Fungi and Nematodes Isolated from Diseased Plants. A. B. Filonow and M. W. Andrews.
- 11:20 Evaluation of Chlorpyrifos and the Breakdown Product 3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridnol for <u>Sclerotium rolfsii</u> Control. A. S. Csinos.
- 11:35 White Mold Suppression on Peanuts with Lorsban 15G. A. K. Hagan and J. R. Weeks.
- 11:50 Practical Implications of Resistance to Dicarbimoxide Fungicides in Sclerotinia minor from Peanuts. T. B. Brenneman, P. M. Phipps, and R. J. Stipes.
- 12:05 Lunch

- 1. SESSION A -- PLANT AND SEED PATHOLOGY 2. SESSION B -- PRODUCTION TECHNOLOGY
- 3. SESSION C -- PROCESSING AND UTILIZATION
- SESSION A. PLANT AND SEED PATHOLOGY D. H. Smith, presiding
- 1:15 Comparisons of Hollow Cone and Flat Spray Nozzles for Peanut Leafspot Control. T. Kucharek and R. Cullen.
- 1:30 An Assessment Method for Evaluating Foliar Fungicides for Control of Leaf Spot of Peanuts. K. E. Jackson and H. A. Melouk.
- 1:45 Parasitic Fitness Parameters of Benomyl-Resistant and Sensitive Isolates of <u>Cercospora arachidicola</u> on Peanut cv. 'Tamnut 74'. H. A. Melouk and D. H. Smith.
- 2:00 Resistance to Early Leafspot in Peanuts. P. Subrahmanyam, S. N. Nigam, P. Ngwira, and A. J. Chiyembekeza.
- 2:15 Factors Influencing Yield Response of Peanuts Following Seed Treatment with <u>Bacillus</u> subtilis. J. T. Turner and P. A. Backman.
- 2:30 Discussion
- 3:00 Break

SESSION B. PRODUCTION TECHNOLOGY Larry Curtis, presiding

- 1:15 Peanut Production at Various Management Levels. D. T. Gooden, C. E. Drye, and J. W. Chapin.
- 1:30 Determination of Growth Period Required for a Full-Season Runner to Exceed a Short-Season Spanish Peanut in Yield, Value and Seed Quality. A. C. Mixon and W. D. Branch.
- 1:45 Peanut Pest Management in South Texas. P. F. Lummus and C. T. Gasch.
- 2:00 Application of Current Technology to Achieve Maximum Profits in Peanut Production. A. H. Allison, P. M. Phipps, O. E. Rud, J. C. Smith, and G. G. Gallimore.
- 2:15 Irrigation and Tillage Effects on Peanut Yields in Virginia. F. S. Wright, D. M. Porter, N. L. Powell, and B. B. Ross.
- 2:30 Response of Three Peanut Cultivars to Different Rates of Gypsum. G. A. Sullivan and W. Ismail.
- 2:45 Response of Florunner Peanuts to Gypsum (Landplaster). J. I. Davidson, Jr., R. J. Henning, P. D. Blankenship, T. H. Sanders, R. J. Cole, R. A. Hill, and W. R. Guerke.
- 3:00 Break
- SESSION C. PROCESSING AND UTILIZATION L. J. Chapman, presiding
- 1:15 Effect of Kylar on Fatty Acid Composition of Seed of Five Peanut Cultivars. R. W. Mozingo and J. L. Steele.
- 1:30 Changes in the Polypeptide Composition of the Peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.) Seed During Roasting. S. M. Basha and C. T. Young.
- 1:45 Trypsin Inhibitors in Peanut Seed Protein. E. M. Ahmed, K. Bieshiada, and M. B. Shaik.
- 2:00 Response of Two Commercial Cultivars of Peanuts to Hot Water Treatment and Accelerated Storage. A. L. Branch, R. E. Worthington, M. S. Chhinnan, and T. O. M. Nakayama.
- 2:15 A Determination of the Relative Storage Life of Raw Peanuts. N. V. Lovegren, F. W. Parrish, and R. O. Hammons.
- 2:30 Rapid Colorimetric Test for Ethanol-Related Off-Flavors in Peanuts. H. E. Pattee.
- 2:45 Discussion
- 3:00 Break

TWO CONCURRENT SESSIONS

1. SESSION A -- PANEL DISCUSSION: PEANUT STRIPE VIRUS 2. SESSION B -- MYCOTOXINS

- SESSION A. PEANUT STRIPE VIRUS INFECTING U.S. PEANUTS J. W. Demski, moderator
- 3:15 Peanut Stripe Virus Infecting U.S. Peanuts: An Overview. J. W. Demski.

Use of Cytological and Immunodiffusion Techniques to Aid Virus Identification. D. E. Purcifull, R. G. Christie, E. Hiebert, Z. Xiong, and S. R. Christie.

Plant Introductions and the Distribution of Peanut Seed. G. R. Lovell.

Peanut Stripe Virus, Infection of Peanuts, and Breeding Programs. J. C. Wynne.

Regulation of Seed Distribution as Influenced by New Diseases or Insect Pests. B. G. Lee and A. Elder.

Providing Peanut Stripe Virus Free Certified Seed. E. Elsner.

- 4:15 Discussion
- SESSION B. MYCOTOXINS U. L. Diener, presiding
- Relation of Preharvest Aflatoxin Contamination to Duration of Environmental Stress. R. J. Cole, P. D. Blankenship, T. H. Sanders, 3:15 and R. A. Hill.
- 3:30 Colonization of Organic Matter Substrates in Soil by Aspergillus flavus. J. P. Stack and R. E. Pettit.
- 3:45 Development of Statistical Models to Simulate the Testing of Farmers' Stock Peanuts for Aflatoxin Using Visual, TLC, and Minicolumn Methods. T. B. Whitaker, J. W. Dickens, J. I. Davidson, and V. Chew.
- Comparison of Methods for the Analysis of Cyclopiazonic Acid in 4:00 Peanuts. J. A. Lansden.
- Flavonoids and A. flavus Resistant Peanuts. D. J. Daigle, A. Mixon, 4:15 A. J. DeLucca, II, and T. A. Coffelt.
- Effect of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Peanut Pod Damage on Colonization by 4:30 a Mutant of Aspergillus parasiticus. D. M. Wilson and R. E. Lynch.
- 6:30 Uniroval Family Picnic

THURSDAY, JULY 19

- SESSION A -- EXTENSION TECHNOLOGY AND HARVESTING
 SESSION B -- SYMPOSIUM: CHEMICAL, GENETIC, AND ENGINEERING ASPECTS OF FOLIAR DISEASE MANAGEMENT
- 3. SESSION C -- PHYSIOLOGY AND SEED TECHNOLOGY
- EXTENSION TECHNOLOGY AND HARVESTING SESSION A. A. E. Hiltbold, presiding
- 8:00 Evaluation of Soil Extracting Reagents for Determining Available Calcium to Peanut Fruit. T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos, and M. E. Walker.
- A Microcomputer Program to Aid County Agents in CBR Disease Management 8:15 Decision Making. J. E. Bailey.
- Cation Exchange Constants For A Gapon Model From Peanut Production 8:30 Soil. F. J. Adamsen.

- 8:45 Peanut Nodule Mineral Content. R. K. Howell and L. P. Rose, Jr.
- 9:00 Discussion
- 10:00 Break
- SESSION B. SYMPOSIUM: CHEMICAL, GENETIC, AND ENGINEERING ASPECTS OF FOLIAR DISEASE MANAGEMENT P. A. Backman, moderator
- 8:00 Management of Peanut Cultivars with Genetic Resistance. F. M. Shokes, D. W. Gorbet, and R. H. Littrell.
- 8:25 Performance of Tilt 3.6 EC in Peanut Leafspot Control. H. G. Hancock and J. D. Weete.
- 8:50 Management Strategies for Optimal Use of Chlorothalonil on Florunner Peanuts in the Southeast. P. A. Backman.
- 9:15 Effect of Fungicide Application Technique on Deposition, Disease Control and Pod Yield. R. H. Littrell and F. H. Shokes.
- 9:40 Discussion
- 10:00 Break
- SESSION C. PHYSIOLOGY AND SEED TECHNOLOGY J. P. Bostick, presiding
- 8:00 Reproductive Response of Peanut Cultivars to Photoperiod. F. P. Gardner.
- 8:15 Effect of Soil Temperature on Yield Factors of Florunner Peanuts. T. H. Sanders and P. D. Blankenship.
- 8:30 Membrane Thermostability of Peanut Genotypes. D. L. Ketring.
- 8:45 In Vitro Culture of Peanuts and Preliminary Field Evaluation of Cloned Material. R. N. Pittman, D. J. Banks, and B. B. Johnson.
- 9:00 Effects of Duration, Timing, and Intensity of Single and Multiple Droughts on Peanuts. R. C. N. Rao and J. H. Williams.
- 9:15 Growth and Partitioning Responses of Four Peanut Genotypes to Cercospora Leafspot. K. V. Pixley, K. J. Boote, F. M. Shokes, and D. W. Gorbet.
- 9:30 Discussion.
- 10:00 Break

- 1. SESSION A -- SYMPOSIUM: MANAGEMENT OF NEMATODES IN PEANUTS.
- 2. SESSION B -- ENTOMOLOGY
- 3. SESSION C -- HARVESTING AND STORING
- SESSION A. SYMPOSIUM: MANAGEMENT OF NEMATODES IN PEANUTS R. Rodriguez-Kabana, moderator
- 10:15 Population Dynamics and the Management of <u>Meloidogyne arenaria</u> in Peanuts. R. Rodriguez-Kabana.
- 10:35 Nematicides for Nematode Control on Peanut. N. A. Minton.

- 10:55 Management of Meloidogyne arenaria in Peanut During the Past Ten Years. D. W. Dickson.
- 11:15 Discussion
- 12:00 Lunch
- SESSION B. ENTOMOLOGY T. P. Mack, presiding
- 10:15 Comparisons of Soil Insect Damage to Conventional and Conservation Tillage Peanuts. J. M. Cheshire, Jr., W. L. Hargrove, C. S. Rothrock, and M. E. Walker.
- 10:30 Relation of Lesser Cornstalk Borer Damage to Peanut Pods and the Incidence of Aspergillus flavus. R. E. Lynch and D. M. Wilson.
- 10:45 Control of Lesser Cornstalk Borer with Granular Chlorovrifos. J. W. Chapin.
- 11:00 Discussion
- 11:15 Summary of Peanut Insect Control with Chemicals Applied Through Irrigation Systems. L. W. Morgan and M. H. Bass.
- Evaluation of Collections of International Peanut Germplasm for Insect Resistance. W. V. Campbell, J. C. Wynne, M. Keerati-Kasikorn, 11:30 E. P. Cadapan, and S. Sirisingh.
- Discussion 11:45
- 12:00 Lunch
- SESSION C. HARVESTING AND STORING D. W. Gorbet, presiding
- 10:15 Electronic Moisture Measurement of Peanuts. J. H. Young.
- Effects of Microwave -- Vacuum Drying on Quality of Florunner Peanuts. 10:30 J. L. Pearson, W. L. Shupe, T. H. Sanders, J. L. Butler, J. L. McMeans, and S. R. Delwiche.
- Cooling a Peanut Warehouse with Aeration and/or Mechanical 10:45 Ventilation. J. S. Smith, Jr., and J. I. Davidson, Jr.
- Separation and Removal of Aflatoxin Contaminated Peanuts at Peanut 11:00 Cleaning and Shelling Plants. P. D. Blankenship, J. I. Davidson, Jr., T. H. Sanders, and C. T. Bennett.
- Variability in Grade Determinations for Farmers' Stock Peanuts. 11:15 J. W. Dickens, T. B. Whitaker, and J. I. Davidson, Jr.
- Factors Affecting Flavor and Headspace Volatiles of Cooked Peanuts. 11:30 C. T. Young and R. W. Mozingo.
- 11:45 Discussion
- 12:00 Lunch

- 1. SESSION A -- EXTENSION AND INDUSTRY 2. SESSION B -- PEST MANAGEMENT
- 3. SESSION C -- PHYSIOLOGY AND SEED TECHNOLOGY

SESSION A. EXTENSION AND INDUSTRY H. R. Smith, presiding

- 1:00 Peanut Disease Loss Estimates for Major Peanut Producing States in the United States for 1983. R. V. Sturgeon, Jr.
- 1:40 No EDB! Now What? for Root Knot Nematode Control on Peanuts. T. A. Lee, Jr.
- 1:50 New Developments from Helena Chemical Company. A. Underwood.
- 2:00 Quantum[™] 4000 A New Type of Seed Treatment for Peanuts. W. G. Hairston.
- 2:10 Product Characteristics of Lorsban 15G in Peanut. D. B. Hale.
- 2:20 Actellic; An Update. C. Weed.
- 2:30 Harvest Plus: A High Analysis, Complete Foliar Nutritional. R. E. Woodward.
- 2:40 Break

SESSION B. PEST MANAGEMENT H. Womack, presiding

- 1:00 Evaluation of Fenitrothion as a Protectant for Stored Farmers Stock Peanuts. L. M. Redlinger and R. A. Simonaitis.
- 1:15 Evaluating Pest Management Programs Using Telephone Survey. J. C. French and J. R. Weeks.
- 1:30 Results of 1984 IPM Peanut Survey in Alabama. J. R. Weeks and J. C. French.
- 1:45 Yield Evaluation of Herbicide Tolerant Peanut Genotypes. M. S. Riffle, D. H. Teem, B. J. Brecke, and D. W. Gorbet.
- 2:00 Twin Rows as a Supplement to Yield and Weed Control in Peanuts. G. Wehtje, R. H. Walker, M. G. Patterson, and J. A. McGuire.
- 2:15 Effects of Row Patterns and Weed Control Systems on Peanut Yield, Weed Control, and Net Returns. D. L. Colvin, R. H. Walker, M. G. Patterson, and J. A. McGuire.
- 2:30 Break

٦,

- SESSION C. PHYSIOLOGY AND SEED TECHNOLOGY E. Elsner, Presiding
- 1:00 Response of Florunner Peanuts to Application of Kylar. M. E. Walker, T. P. Gaines, A. S. Csinos, and B. G. Mullinix, Jr.
- 1:15 Use of the CASAS (Computerized Automated Seed Analysis System) Dynamic Electrical Conductivity Analysis as an Indicator of Potential Freeze Damage in Peanut Seed. R. D. Keys, G. A. Reusche, and R. Margapuram.
- 1:30 Effect of Ethrel Seed Treatment on Growth, Yield, and Grade of Two Virginia-type Peanuts. T. A. Coffelt and R. K. Howell.
- 1:45 Water Relations and Yield of Peanut Genotypes Grown Under Irrigated and Rainfed Conditions. P. I. Erickson, D. L. Ketring, and Ming-Teh Huang.

- 2:00 Influence of Cultivar, Spacing, and Sowing Date on the Performance of Peanut (<u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L.). E. O. Auma and F. P. Gardner.
- 2:15 Discussion.
- 2:30 Break

TWO CONCURRENT SESSIONS

- 1. SESSION A -- EXTENSION AND INDUSTRY 2. SESSION B -- BREEDING AND GENETICS
- SESSION A. EXTENSION AND INDUSTRY CONTINUED R. V. Sturgeon, Jr., presiding
- 2:55 New Products for the Control of Sclerotinia Blight of Peanut. P. Phipps.
- 3:25 Standardized System for Nematicide Evaluation Variable Data: Why and How? C. H. Baldwin, J. Bailey, D. Dickson, R. Kabana.
- 4:30 Business Meeting

SESSION B. BREEDING AND GENETICS W. C. Johnson, presiding

- 2:45 Agronomic Response of Two Resistant Lines to Leafspot Management. D. W. Gorbet, A. J. Norden, F. M. Shokes, and D. A. Knauft.
- 3:00 Genetics of Solid Purple and Purple Striped Peanut Testa Colors. W. D. Branch.
- 3:15 A Wild <u>Arachis</u> Winter Nursery in South Texas. D. J. Banks, R. N. Pittman, and C. M. Heald.
- 3:30 Development of Foliar Disease Resistant Groundnut Lines at ICRISAT.
 L. J. Reddy, S. N. Nigam, P. Subrahmanyam, S. L. Dwivedi,
 R. W. Gibbons, and D. McDonald.
- 3:45 Application of IBPGR/ICRISAT Minimum Descriptors to <u>Arachis hypogaea</u> L. Germplasm. C. E. Simpson, E. R. Howard, and D. L. Higgins.
- 4:00 An Investigation of Oil Quality in Ontario-grown Peanuts. E. E. Sykes and T. E. Michaels.
- 4:15 Discussion

9:00-10:30 Sweet Tooth Special - Sponsored by SDS Biotech Corp.

FRIDAY, JULY 20

- 7:30 Breakfast and Awards Ceremony
- 8:30 President's Address and Business Meeting
- 10:00 Adjourn

SPONSORS

Acknowledgement--On behalf of APRES members and guests, the Program Committee wishes to thank the following organizations for their generous monetary and material contributions in support of this meeting.

American Cyanamid Company	Helena Chemical Company
Chevron Chemical Company	Mobay Chemical Company
CIBA-GEIGY Corporation	Rhone-Poulenc, Inc.
Columbian Peanut Company	Seabrook Blanching Corporation
Dow Chemical USA	SDS Biotech Corporation
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company	The Nitragin Company, Inc.
Eli Lilly and Company	TUCO, Inc.
FMC Corporation	Union Carbide Agricultural Products, Inc.
Gandy Company	Uniroyal Chemical
Griffin Corporation	Valmont Industries, Inc.
Gustafson, Inc.	

ŝ

.

FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT

The Finance Committee met at 1:30 p.m. on July 17, 1984. The auditor's report and Peanut Science Editor's report were reviewed and found to be in order.

The committee prepared a proposed budget for fiscal year 1984-1985, and submitted the following recommendations to the Board of Directors:

- It is proposed that the inventory of Peanut Science and Technology be insured against loss or damage.
- It is proposed that the Bailey checking account be closed and the monies be placed with the general fund for greater interest earning potential.
- It is proposed that a committee be appointed to assess the need of a micro-computer/word processor.

Respectfully submitted,

Finance Committee W. E. Dykes, Chairman W. V. Campbell T. E. Boswell H. A. Melouk T. West J. Bone

88

AMERICAN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION SOCIETY 1984 - 1985 BUDGET

Receipts	
Membership & Registration	\$20,000.00
Proceedings & Reprint Sales	100.00
Special Contributions	4,000.00
Peanut Science & Technology	9,500.00
Peanut Science Page Charges	
& Reprint	14,000.00
Institutional Membership	1,800.00
Differential Postage Assessment-	
Foreign Members	2,500.00
Checking Account Interest	1,200.00
Proceeds from Certificates of	
Deposits (Principal & Interest)	3,000.00
APRES Method Books	1,500.00

Total Receipts

\$57,600.00

xpenditures	
Proceedings - Printing & Reprints	\$ 5,000.00
Annual Meeting - Printing	5,000.00
Secretarial	7,500.00
Postage	1,000.00
Office Supplies	1,000.00
Travel - Executive Officer	1,000.00
Miscellaneous	700.00
Peanut Science	25,000.00
Peanut Science & Technology	800.00
Bank Charges	700.00
Peanut Research	1,600.00
Secretary - Self-employment Tax	700.00
Legal Fees	1,000.00
APRES Method Books	1,000.00

Total Expenditures

\$52,000.00

Excess Receipts over Expenditures	\$ 5,600.00
Cash - Beginning of Period	\$47,714.53
Cash - End of Period	\$53,314.53

•

:

÷

.

Eight committee members and three guests were present at the annual meeting, July 17, 1984, at Mobile, Alabama.

Book sales of <u>Peanut Science and Technology</u> are continuing with 854 copies sold as of June 30, 1984. A brochure advertising <u>Peanut Science and Technology</u>, <u>Quality Methods</u>, and a membership form was printed and distributed. All orders for publications should be sent to Ron Sholar, who will ship all orders.

Peanut Science: 39 manuscripts were submitted for publication from July 1, 1983, through June 30, 1984. The January-June 1983 Issue consisted of 14 articles and 51 pages printed. The July-December 1983 Issue consisted of 18 articles and 63 pages printed plus 3 index pages. The January-June 1984 issue has 16 articles in press. In addition, 20 articles have been accepted or are in review. The average article length was 3.6 pages.

New Associate Editors recommended for Peanut Science with their areas of responsibility are: F. Scott Wright - Engineering, and Robert E. Lynch - Entomology. Thomas B. Whitaker - Engineering, and Sidney L. Poe - Entomology, have completed 6-year terms as Associate Editors. Paul Backman - Pathology, Terry Coffelt and Olin Smith - Breeding and Genetics, and Mike Schubert - Biochemistry - Physiology, have completed 3-year terms and are recommended for a second 3-year term.

<u>Peanut Research</u>: Four quarterly issues with 41 total pages were circulated to about 700 members and libraries. Reporters were recruited from Virginia, North Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Texas, Oklahoma, and Industry to help supply news of people, grants, research thrusts, updates on peanut scientists, APRES meetings, business of interest to members, and literature citations. One hundred ninety selected references plus 25 theses and dissertations were cited.

Quality Methods: New methods are continuing to be added to those already available. The 3-year terms for the Editor, Associate Editors, and Assistant Editor have expired. Clyde Young, Editor; Walt Mozingo, Associate Editor, and Ruth Ann Tabor, Assistant Editor, are recommended for a second 3-year term. Tim Sanders is also recommended for a 3-year term as Associate Editor.

<u>Proceedings</u>: The proceedings of the 1983 meetings were printed and mailed to the membership in December. Committee reports, papers, and abstracts relevant to the 1984 meeting should be delivered to Terry Coffelt by July 31, 1984.

Other Business:

President Cox has suggested that a calendar of events for APRES be developed. The committee recommends that it be published in each issue of <u>Peanut Research</u>.

The committee recommends that the Editor of $\underline{Quality\ Methods}$ be added as an Ex-Officio member of the committee.

The committee also recommends the purchase of insurance to cover the replacement costs of the unsold copies of <u>Peanut Science and Technology</u> in case of fire, theft, etc.

The committee, in behalf of the Society, expresses appreciation to our editors, authors, reviewers, and other contributors to our Society publications.

Respectfully submitted:

Olin Smith E. B. Browne Leland Tripp Don Banks W. T. Mills Norfleet Sugg Terry Coffelt, Chairman A. C. Mixon, Ex-Officio H. E. Pattee, Ex-Officio The peanut quality committee discussed:

1) Grading of farmer's stock peanuts.

Present grading equipment has been used for over 20 years with only minor changes. There is a need to adopt procedures that more adequately reflect quality. New varieties developed in recent years have larger seeds so that more immature kernels are graded as sound mature kernels. Aflatoxin detection at the buying point is inadequate. More automation of the grading procedure will alleviate the need to hire and train many inexperienced workers during the buying season. Quick and easy methods need to be developed to evaluate off-flavor, blanchability, roasting and other quality factors. A sub-committee chaired by Bill Dickens, was appointed to define and recommend grading procedures that more adequately reflect quality.

- Report of ad-hoc sub-committee to recommend peanut marketing standards and handling practices (Harold Pattee, ch.)
 - a) An inflection point in the moisture equilibrium curve between 6 and 8% suggests that certain enzyme systems may be changing at this point. Research is needed on quality changes in this region.
 - b) Past research suggests that peanuts in storage go through a 'ripening' process of several months. Research is needed to identify quality changes that may occur during this period.
 - c) Additional research is needed to identify the relationship between screen size and quality. Data for virginia-type peanuts (primarily Florigiant) showed higher flavor ratings for larger seed size. Information is needed for other types and varieties so that grading will more realistically reflect guality.
- 3) Quality Methods Handbook

Clyde Young reported that 24 quality methods have been approved and distributed. Five more methods should be ready within a few months.

Submitted by J. M. Troeger, chairman

2

Other members present: D. T. Bateman, G. M. Grice, K. W. Rushing, L. D. Tripp, H. E. Pattee, R. E. Worthington and C. T. Young (ex-officio)

Visitors: E. J. Williams, Craig Kvien, Walt Mozingo, Wilbur Parker, Doyle Welch, Wilda Martinez, Joseph Pominski, Norman Lovegren, J. W. Dickens, L. M. Redlinger and Gordon Monroe.

REPORT OF SITE SELECTION COMMITTEE

The meeting was called to order by J. C. Mobley, chairman. There were five members and one guest present.

Mr. Fleet Sugg requested that efforts be made to arrange APRES convention discounts with airlines in future years. Chairman Mobley instructed the committee to attempt to arrange this in the future.

The committee approved a report by Mike Schubert representing the Texas members which proposed holding the 1985 APRES Convention July 9-13, 1985, at the El Tropicano Hotel in San Antonio, Texas. In summary, the proposal involved daily rates of \$45 for single or double rooms with an \$8 charge for children over 12 years old staying in their parents' room; and a fairly standard package of convention services, complimentary rooms for officers, and meeting facilities. The hotel is near and readily accessible to tourist, shopping, and food facilities.

After reviewing proposals for the 1986 meeting presented by Walt Mozingo representing the Virginia members, the committee voted to recommend holding the convention at Pavilion Tower in Virginia Beach, Virginia, July 15-18, 1986. Proposed facilities, rates, and convention services were acceptable, and the Virginia members were instructed to finalize arrangements with the hotel pending approval by the APRES Board of Directors.

Dan Gorbet, Florida, reported that discussions had begun on possible meeting sites for the 1987 meetings. He reported that they were strongly considering the Orlando area.

Committee Members:

J. E. Mobley, Chairman, Alabama John French, Alabama Bob Pettit, Texas Mike Schubert, Texas Walt Mozingo, Virginia Jim Steele, Virginia Dan Gorbet, Florida Ben Whitty, Florida Report prepared by: Mike Schubert

92

Report of the Public Relations Committee

The Public Relations Committee on March 23rd and May 25th sent letters to all Farm publications in the peanut production area announcing the meeting on July 17-20th. They were asked to send representatives to the meeting. The Mobile T.V. and newspaper sent reporters for the Wednesday meeting.

No deaths were reported since our last meeting.

Respectfully submitted: S. Fox, Chairman W. Flannagan P. Blankenship G. A. Sullivan C. Warnker W. H. Bordt

GOLDEN PEANUT AWARD ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT

Documentation for candidates for the Golden Peanut Research and Education Award were forward by the National Peanut Council to individual members of the Golden Peanut Research and Education Award Advisory Committee for evaluation. Each member of the Committee evaluated the materials that were submitted and the candidates were ranked accordingly. Each individual's evaluation was returned directly to the National Peanut Council which selected the recipients for the award.

Gale A. Buchanan K. H. Garren J. L. Butler J. F. McGill T. B. Whitaker D. A. Emery

93

BAILEY AWARD COMMITTEE REPORT

The 1984 Bailey Award for best paper presented at the 1984 meetings in Charlotte, N.C., went to C. S. Kvien, R. J. Henning, J. E. Pallas, and W. D. Branch for their paper entitled

"Population and Pod Production."

This is the second consecutive year for Dr. Kvien to be senior author of the award winning paper.

The selection process was basically as in the previous year (see the 1983 APRES Proc. Vol. 15, p. 163) except that only one paper from each of seven areas of specialization was nominated for the final judging. The following is a listing of the dates and activities of the Bailey Award Committee for 1983-84:

- 1) All nominees (7) were notified of their selection by mail on August 9, 1983.
- 2) President F. R. Cox selected D. W. Gorbet to fill a vacancy on the committee in September 1983.
- Five (5) manuscripts were received by December 31, 1983.
- 4) Members of the Committee were sent copies of manuscripts and score sheets on January 16, 1984.
- 5) All score sheets were received by chairman before April 1, 1984. The scores produced a distinct winner.
-) Committee members notified to destroy manuscripts, April 2, 1984.
- President F. R. Cox, President elect G. A. Buchanan and Executive Officer J. R. Sholar were notified of the winning paper on April 2, 1984.

The other four papers judged by the committee were, alphabetically by senior author:

- Gardner, F. P. Peanut cultivar response to plant growth regulators.
 Lovegren, N. V., A. J. St. Angelo and F. W. Parrish. Evaluation of raw peanuts using the SRRC volatile profile procedure.
- 3) Phipps, P. M., and N. L. Powell. Criteria for effective utilization of peanut leafspot advisories in Virginia.
- 4) Wilson, D. M., and D. K. Bell. Aflatoxin production by Aspergillus flavus and A. parasiticus on visibly sound rehydrated peanut, corn and soybean seed.

The new screening process seemed to work well at the Charlotte meetings. The task of reviewing the manuscripts was not so great a burden for the committee and the papers nominated were probably more representative of the "best papers" presented at the 1983 meetings.

Seven areas of specialization to be used in nominating papers presented at the 1984 meeting are:

- (1) Plant Pathology Nematology
- Production Technology Pest Management (2)
- (3) (4) Physiology, Seed Technology, Processing and Utilization
- Entomology
- (5)
- Breeding and Genetics Extension Technology, Harvesting and Storing (6)
- (7) Mycotoxins

Also requested that Board of Directors decide if Symposium papers are to be considered for Bailey Award. Board voted the Symposium papers not be considered for Bailey Award.

Bailey Awards Committee 1984:

Respectfully submitted, C. E. Simpson, Chairman G. D. Alston substituting for R. J. Henning D. W. Gorbet R. F. Hooks M. K. Beute J. C. Smith

NOMINATING COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nominating Committee nominates the following to fill the positions identified:

President-Elect	Donald H. Smith Texas A & M University, Yoakum
Executive Officer	J. Ron Scholar Oklahoma State University, Stillwater
Board of Directors:	
	Autor C Mérico (1007)

USUA Representative	Aubrey C. Mixon (1987) ARS, Tifton, Georgia
State Employee Representative	Johnny C. Wynne (1985) North Carolina State University, Raleigh

1982-83 Nominating Committee:

Elbert Long Aubrey Mixon David Hsi, Chairman

FELLOWS COMMITTEE REPORT

The Fellows Committee nominates the following persons for election to fellowship by the American Peanut Research and Education Society:

Allan J. Norden

William V. Campbell

Fellows Committee:

Darold Ketring Ronald Henning Kenneth Garren Dallas Wadsworth Astor Perry Ray Hammons David Hsi, Chairman

•

FELLOWS - 1984 American Peanut Research and Education Society

Dr. William V. Campbell, Professor of Entomology, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina, has been active in entomology research with peanuts for 25 years. he has authored or co-authored over 80 scientific and professional publications and abstracts, including three book chapters on soybean and peanut insects. His research has been concerned with chemical applications for control of pests, identifying resistant germplasm lines for insect complexes, and studying mechanisms of insect resistance. His contributions have included development of insect control measures for use by North Carolina peanut growers and identification of sources of pest resistance for use in breeding programs in North Carolina and at the international center in India. He cooperatively released 'NC 6', the only peanut cultivar selected specifically for insect resistance. In addition to research contributions, he has contributed significantly to the education and training of a large number of students. His recent research on integrated pest management has assisted peanut growers in reducing production cost by using the insect resistant cultivar and following recommendations on economic thresholds.

Dr. Campbell has served APRES as a member of the Technical Program Committee three times and as a member of the Finance Committee. He has chaired the Entomology sessions at the annual meetings. He has also served as an associate editor of <u>Peanut Science</u> and has worked as an editor for indexing of <u>Peanut</u> Science and the new book on Peanut Science and Technology.

Dr. Campbell has gained an international reputation and is currently participating in cooperative projects with scientists in several Asian countries. He is a recognized researcher and teacher.

Dr. Allan J. Norden, Professor of Agronomy, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, has been doing research on oil seed crops at the University of Florida since 1958. He has been a member of the Florida Peanut Improvement Project since 1960 and leader of the project since 1963. He is an author of 6 chapters in books on peanut science and technology, 39 publications in refereed journals, 13 in other journals, 57 technical reports and bulletins and some 50 other publications. He has developed or assisted in the development of the cultivars 'Florunner', 'Early Bunch', 'NC-Fla 14', 'Altika' and 'Sunrunner'. He also assisted in the basic breeding leading to the development of 'NC 17'. His Florunner cultivar was grown on more than 380,000 hectares and contributed about 70% of the U.S. production. No other peanut cultivar has had so great an impact on peanut production. In addition to his outstanding research accomplishments, he has supervised numerous graduate students in their research and degree programs at the University of Florida. He has received numerous including Fellow in the American Society of Agronomy, the Golden Peanut Research Award and was recently inducted into the Florida Agriculture Hall of Fame.

Dr. Norden has served APRES as President (1978-79), President Elect, a member of the Board of Directors, and on numerous committees. He has also chaired sessions, led numerous discussion groups, and contributed chapters in the two books published by APRES.

Dr. Norden is recognized internationally for his ability and accomplishments in the area of peanut breeding and genetic research. He has participated on consultative assignments in many countries of the world. He is truly an outstanding plant breeder, researcher, scientist, and teacher.

LIAISON REPRESENTATIVE BETWEEN THE AMERICAN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION SOCIETY, INC., AND THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF AGRONOMY

The 75th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Agronomy (ASA) was held in Washington, D.C., on 14-19 August 1983. The theme for the convention was "Seeds, Soil, and Society." There were nearly 1600 papers given at the meetings of ASA and its affiliates, the Crop Science Society of America (CSSA) and the Soil Science Society of America (SSSA). These were organized into 170 paper sessions and 7 poster sessions.

Kenneth J. Frey was installed as president and W. E. Larson as president-elect of ASA; W. F. Keim and Robert F. Barnes became president and president-elect of CSSA; and D. R. Nielsen and E. C. A. Runge are president and president-elect of SSSA for 1983-84.

At least 17 papers in the joint sessions were concerned with investigations on peanut. W. D. Branch chaired the CSSA session where five papers reported peanut research. Ray Hammons described "Peanut Research and Production in China" during a session on international agronomy.

R. Harold Brown and Ray Hammons received special recognition and certificates at the completion of terms of service as Technical Editor -- Crop Physiology and Associate Editor -- Breeding & Genetics, respectively of CROP SCIENCE. Dr. Brown was elected to the position of Editor of CROP SCIENCE.

The Liaison Representative met with Societal officers and served as communicator between APRES and ASA.

A Colloquium, "Agriculture in China: Today and Tomorrow," was held in conjunction with and immediately following the 1983 ASA meetings. The 2-day program was sponsored by the International Agricultural Development Service, in cooperation with the Association of Chinese Soil and Plant Scientists in North America. Dr. Hammons represented APRES at the colloquium.

Respectively submitted:

Ray O. Hammons (for O. D. Smith) 12 December 1983

BY-LAWS of

AMERICAN PEANUT AND EDUCATION SOCIETY, INC.

ARTICLE I. NAME

Section 1. The name of this organization shall be "AMERICAN PEANUT RESEARCH AND EDUCATION SOCIETY, INC."

ARTICLE II. PURPOSE

<u>Section 1</u>. The purpose of the Society shall be to instruct and educate the public on the properties, production, and use of the peanut through the organization and promotion of public discussion groups, forums, lectures, and other programs or presentations to the interested public and to promote scientific research on the properties, production, and use of the peanut by providing forums, treatises, magazines, and other forms of educational material for the publication of scientific information and research public.

ARTICLE III. MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. The several classes of membership which shall be recognized are as follows:

a. <u>Individual memberships</u>: Individuals who pay dues at the full rate as fixed by the Board of Directors.

b. <u>Institutional memberships</u>: Libraries of industrial and educational groups or institutions and others that pay dues as fixed by the Board of Directors to receive the publications of the Society. Institutional members are not granted individual member rights.

c. <u>Organizational memberships</u>: Industrial or educational groups that pay dues as fixed by the Board of Directors. Organizational members may designate one representative who shall have individual member rights.

d. <u>Sustaining memberships</u>: Industrial organizations and others that pay dues as fixed by the Board of Directors. Sustaining members are those who wish to support this Society financially to an extent beyond minimum requirements as set forth in Section 1c, Article III. Sustaining members may designate one representative who shall have individual member rights. Also, any organization may hold sustaining memberships for any or all of its divisions or sections with individual member rights accorded each sustaining membership.

e. <u>Student memberships</u>: Full-time students who pay dues at a special rate as fixed by the Board of Directors. Persons presently enrolled as full-time students at any recognized college, university, or technical school are eligible for student membership. Post-doctoral students, employed persons taking refresher courses or special employee training programs are not eligible for student memberships.

<u>Section 2</u>. Any member, participant, or representative duly serving on the Board of Directors or a Committee of this Society and who is unable to attend any meeting of the Board of such Committee may be temporarily replaced by an alternate selected by the agency or party served by such member, participant, or representative upon appropriate written notice filed with the president or Committee chairman evidencing such designation or selection.

<u>Section 3.</u> All classes of membership may attend all meetings and participate in discussions. Only individual members or those with individual membership rights may vote and hold office. Members of all classes shall receive notification and purposes of meetings, and shall receive minutes of all Proceedings of the American Peanut Research and Education Society.

ARTICLE IV. DUES AND FEES

<u>Section 1.</u> The annual dues shall be determined by the Board of Directors with the advice of the Finance Committee subject to approval by the members at the annual meeting. Minimum annual dues for the five classes of membership shall be:

a.	Individual memberships :	\$ 15.00
b.	Institutional membership :	\$ 15.00
с.	Organizational memberships:	\$ 25.00
d.	Sustaining membership :	\$100.00
e.	Student memberships :	\$ 4.00

<u>Section 2.</u> Dues are receivable on or before July 1 of the year for which the membership is held. Members in arrears on July 31 for dues for the current year shall be dropped from the rolls of this Society provided prior notification of such delinquency was given. Membership shall be reinstated for the current year upon payment of dues.

Section 3. A registration fee approved by the Board of Directors will be assessed at all regular meetings of the Society. The registration fee for student members shall be one-third that of members.

ARTICLE V. MEETINGS

Section 1. Annual meetings of the Society shall be held for the presentation of papers and/or discussions, and for the transaction of business. At least one general business session will be held during regular annual meetings at which reports from the executive officer and all standing committees will be given, and at which attention will be given to such other matters as the Board of Directors may designate. Also, opportunity shall be provided for discussion of these and other matters that members may wish to have brought before the Board of Directors and/or general membership.

Section 2. Additional meetings may be called by the Board of Directors, either on its own motion or upon request of one-fourth of the members. In either event, the time and place shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Any member may submit only one paper as senior author for consideration by the program chairman of each annual meeting of the society. Except for certain papers specifically invited by the Society president or program chairman with the approval of the president, at least one author of any paper presented shall be a member of this Society.

Section 4. Special meetings or projects by a portion of the Society membership, either alone or jointly with other groups, must be approved by the Board of Directors. Any request for the Society to underwrite obligations in connection with a proposed special meeting or project shall be submitted to the Board of Directors, who may obligate the Society to the extent they deem desirable.

<u>Section 5</u>. The executive officer shall give all members written notice of all meetings not less than 60 days in advance of annual meetings and 30 days in advance of all other special project meetings.

ARTICLE VI. QUORUM

Section 1. Forty voting members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the business meeting held during the annual meeting.

Section 2. For meetings of the Board of Directors and all committees, a majority of the members duly assigned to such board or committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

ARTICLE VII. OFFICERS

<u>Section 1.</u> The officers of this Society shall consist of the president, the president-elect, the immediate surviving past-president and the executive officer

of the Society who may be appointed secretary and treasurer and given such other title as may be determined by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. The president and president-elect shall serve from the close of the annual general meeting of this Society to the close of the next annual general meeting. The president-elect shall automatically succeed to the presidency at the close of the annual general meeting. If the president-elect should succeed to the presidency to complete an unexpired term, he shall then also serve as president for the following full term. In the event the president or president-elect, or both, should resign or become unable or unavailable to serve during their terms of office, the Board of Directors shall appoint a president, or both president-elect and president, to complete the unexpired terms until the next annual general meeting when one or both offices, if necessary, will be filled by normal elective procedure. The most recent available past president shall serve as president until the Board of Directors can make such appointment.

<u>Section 3</u>. The officers and directors shall be elected by the members in attendance at the annual general meeting from nominees selected by the Nominating Committee or members nominated for this office from the floor. The president, president-elect, and surviving past-president shall serve without monetary compensation.

Section 4. The executive officer may serve consecutive yearly terms subject to re-election by the membership at the annual meeting. The tenure of the executive officer may be discontinued by a two-thirds majority vote of the Board of Directors, who then shall appoint a temporary executive officer to fill the unexpired term.

Section 5. The president shall arrange and preside at all general meetings of the Board of Directors and with the advice, counsel, and assistance of the president-elect and executive officer, and subject to consultation with the Board of Directors, shall carry on, transact, and supervise the interim affairs of the Society and provide leadership in the promotion of the objectives of this Society.

Section 6. The president-elect shall be program chairman, responsible for development and coordination of the overall program of the educational phase of the annual meetings.

<u>Section 7</u>. (a) The executive officer shall countersign all deeds, leases, and conveyances executed by the Society and affix the seal of the Society thereto and to such other papers as shall be required or directed to be sealed. (b) The executive officer shall keep a record of the deliberations of the Board of Directors, and keep safely and systematically all books, papers, records, and documents belonging to the Society, or in any wise pertaining to the business thereof. (c) The executive officer shall keep account of all monies, credits, debts, and property of any and every nature accrued and/or disbursed by this Society, and shall render such accounts, statements, and inventories of monies, debts, and property, as shall be required by the Board of Directors. (d) The executive officer shall prepare and distribute all notices and reports as directed in these By-Laws, and other information deemed necessary by the Board of Directors, to keep the membership well informed of the Society activities.

ARTICLE VIII. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. The Board of Directors shall consist of the following: a. The president

b. The most immediate past president able to serve

c. The president-elect

d. State employees' representative - this director is one whose employment is state sponsored and whose relation to peanuts principally concerns

research, and/or educational, and/or regulatory pursuits. e. United States Department of Agriculture representative - this director

 e. United States Department of Agriculture representative - this director is one whose employment is directly sponsored by the USDA or one of its agencies, and whose relation to peanuts principally concerns research, and/or education, and/or regulatory pursuits.
 f. Three Private Peanut Industry representatives - these directors are

f. Three Private Peanut Industry representatives - these directors are those whose employment is privately sponsored and whose principal activity with peanuts concerns: (1) the production of farmers' stock peanuts; (2) the shelling, marketing, and storage of raw peanuts; (3) the production or preparation of consumer food-stuffs or manufactured products containing whole or parts of peanuts.

g. The president of the National Peanut Council.

h. The executive officer - non-voting member of the Board of Directors who may be compensated for his services on a part-time or full-time salary stipulated by the Board of Directors in consultation with the Finance Committee.

<u>Section 2.</u> Terms of office for the directors' positions set forth in Section 1, paragraphs d, e, and f, shall be three years with elections to alternate from reference years as follows: e, 1972; d and f(1), 1973; and f(2) and f(3), 1974.

Section 3. The Board of Directors shall determine the time and place of regular and special meetings and may authorize or direct the president to call special meetings whenever the functions, programs, and operations of the Society shall require special attention. All members of the Board of Directors shall be given at least 10 days advance notice of all meetings; except that in emergency cases, three days advance notice shall be sufficient.

Section 4. The Board of Directors will act as the legal representative of the Society when necessary and, as such, shall administer Society property and affairs. The Board of Directors shall be the final authority on these affairs in conformity with the By-Laws.

<u>Section 5</u>. The Board of Directors shall make and submit to this Society such recommendations, suggestions, functions, operations, and programs as may appear necessary, advisable, or worthwhile.

<u>Section 6.</u> Contingencies not provided for elsewhere in these By-Laws shall be handled by the Board of Directors in a manner they deem desirable.

<u>Section 7</u>. An Executive Committee comprised of the president, president-elect, immediate surviving past president, and executive officer shall act for the Board of Directors between meetings of the Board, and on matters delegated to it by the Board. Its action shall be subject to ratification by the Board.

ARTICLE IX. COMMITTEES

Section 1. Members of the committees of the Society shall be appointed by the president and shall serve three-year terms unless otherwise stipulated. The president shall appoint a chairman of each committee from among the incumbent committeemen. The Board of Directors may, by a two-thirds vote, reject committee appointments. Appointments made to fill unexpected vacancies by incapacity of any committee member shall be only for the unexpired term of the incapacitated committeeman. Unless otherwise specified in these By-Laws, any committee member may be re-appointed to succeed himself, and may serve on two or more committees concurrently but shall not hold concurrent chairmanships. Initially, one-third of the members of each committee shall serve two-year terms, as designated by the president. The president shall announce the committees immediately upon assuming the office at the annual business meeting. The new appointments take effect

Section 2. Any or all members of any committee may be removed for cause by a two-thirds approval by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. The existing committees of the Society are:

a. <u>Finance Committee</u>: This committee shall include at least four members, one each representing State and USDA and two from Private Business segments of the peanut industry. This committee shall be responsible for preparation of the financial budget of the Society and for promoting sound fiscal policies within the Society. They shall direct the audit of all financial records of the Society annually, and make such recommendations as they deem necessary or as requested or directed by the Board of Directors. The term of the chairman shall close with preparation of the budget for the following year, or with the close of the annual meeting at which a report is given on the work of the Finance Committee under his chairmanship, whichever is later.

b. Nominating Committee: This committee shall consist of at least three members appointed to one-year terms, one each representing State, USDA, and Private Business segments of the peanut industry. This committee shall nominate individual members to fill the positions as described and in the manner set forth in Articles VII and VIII of these By-Laws and shall convey their nominations to the president of this Society on or before the date of the annual meeting. The committee shall, insofar as possible, make nominations for the president-elect that will provide a balance among the various segments of the industry and a rotation among federal, state, and industry members. The willingness of any nominee to accept the responsibility of the position shall be ascertained by the committee (or members making nominations at general meetings) prior to the election. No person may succeed himself as a member of this committee.

c. <u>Publication and Editorial Committee</u>: This committee shall consist of at least three members for three-year terms, one each representing State, USDA, and Private Business segments of the peanut industry. The members will normally serve two consecutive three-year terms, subject to approval by the Board. Initial election shall alternate from reference years as follows: private business, 1983; USDA, 1984; and State, 1985. This committee shall be responsible for the publication of Society-sponsored publications as authorized by the Board of Directors in consultation with the Finance Committee. This committee shall formulate and enforce the editorial policies for all publications of the Society subject to the directives from the Board of Directors.

d. <u>Peanut Quality Committee</u>: This committee shall include at least seven members, one each actively involved in research in peanuts - (1) varietal development, (2) production and marketing practices related to quality, and (3) physical and chemical properties related to quality - and one each representing the Grower, Sheller, Manufacturer, and Services (pesticides and harvesting machinery in particular) segments of the peanut industry. This committee shall actively seek improvement in the quality of raw and processed peanuts and peanut products through promotion of mechanisms for the elucidation and solution of major problems and deficiencies.

e. <u>Public Relations Committee</u>: This committee shall include at least seven members, one each representing the State, USDA, Grower, Sheller, Manufacturer, and Services segments of the peanut industry, and a member from the university of the host state who will serve a one-year term to coincide with the term of the president-elect. The primary purpose of this person will be to publicize the meeting and make photographic records of important events at the meeting. This committee shall provide leadership and direction for the Society in the following areas:

(1) Membership: Development and implementation of mechanisms to create interest in the Society and increase its membership. These shall include, but not be limited to, preparing news releases for the home-town media of persons recognized at the meeting for significant achievements.

(2) <u>Cooperation</u>: Advise the Board of Directors relative to the extent and type of cooperation and/or affiliation this Society should pursue and/or support with other organizations.

(3) <u>Necrology</u>: Proper recognition of deceased members.

(4) <u>Resolutions</u>: Proper recognition of special services provided by members and friends of the Society.

f. <u>Bailey Award Committee</u>: This committee shall consist of at least six members, with two new appointments each year, serving three-year terms. This committee shall be responsible for judging papers which are selected from each subject matter area. Initial screening for the award will be made by judges, selected in advance and having expertise in that particular area, who will listen to all papers in that subject matter area. This initial selection will be made on the basis of quality of presentation and content. Manuscripts of selected papers will be submitted to the committee by the author/s and final selection will be made by the committee, based on the technical quality of the paper. The president, president-elect and executive officer shall be notified of the Award

recipient at least sixty days prior to the annual meeting following the one at which the paper was presented. The president shall make the award at the annual meeting.

g. <u>Fellows Committee</u>: This committee shall consist of six members, two representing each of the three major geographic areas of peanut production and with balance among state, USDA and private business. Terms of office shall be for three years with initial terms as outlined in <u>Section 1</u> of this ARTICLE. The committee shall select from nominations received, according to procedures adopted by the Society (P148-9 of 1981 Proceedings of APRES), qualified nominees for approval by the Board of Directors.

h. <u>Golden Peanut Research and Education Award Committee</u>: This committee shall consist of six previous Golden Peanut Award recipients, representing each of the three areas of peanut production. Terms of office shall be for three years as outlined in <u>Section 1</u> of this Article. This committee shall serve as an advisory committee by screening nominations received by the National Peanut Council. The final selection shall be made by the National Peanut Council. For even-numbered years, the award shall be made for research accomplishments and for odd-numbered years, the award shall be made for educational accomplishments.

i. <u>Site Selection Committee</u>: This committee shall consist of eight members, each serving four-year terms. New appointments shall come from the state which will host the meeting four years following the meeting at which they are appointed. The chairman of the committee shall be from the state which will host the meeting the next year and the vice-chairman shall be from the state which will host the meeting the second year. The vice-chairman will automatically move up to chairman.

ARTICLE X. DIVISIONS

Section 1. A Division within the Society may be created upon recommendation of the Board of Directors, or members may petition the Board of Directors for such status, by a two-thirds vote of the general membership. Likewise, in a similar manner, a Division may be dissolved.

Section 2. Divisions may establish or dissolve Subdivisions upon the approval of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Divisions may make By-Laws for their own government, provided they are consistent with the rules and regulations of the Society, but no dues may be assessed. Divisions and Subdivisions may elect officers (chairman, vice-chairman to succeed to the chairmanship, and a secretary) and appoint committees, provided that the efforts thereof do not overlap or conflict with those of the officers and committees of the main body of the Society.

ARTICLE XI. AMENDMENTS

Section 1. These By-Laws may be amended consistently with the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation by a two-thirds vote of all the eligible voting members present at any regular business meeting, provided such amendments shall be submitted in writing to each member of the Board of Directors at least thirty days before the meeting at which the action is to be taken.

Section 2. A By-Law or amendment to a By-Law shall take effect immediately upon its adoption, except that the Board of Directors may establish a transition schedule when it considers that the change may best be effected over a period of time. The amendment and transition schedule, if any, shall be published in the "Proceedings of APRES".

Amended at the Annual Business Meeting of the American Peanut Research and Education Society, Inc., July 11, 1983, Charlotte, North Carolina

LIST OF APRES MEMBERS WITH ADDRESSES SEPARATED BY MEMBERSHIP TYPES

MEMBERSHIP TYPE: SUSTAINING

AL PEANUT PRODUCERS ASSN J. E. MOBLEY, PRES. P. O. BOX 1282 DOTHAN, AL 36302 205-792-6482 ANDERSON'S PEANUTS JAMES B. ANDERSON P.O. BOX 619 OPP, AL 36467 BEST POODS U.S. CPC INTERNATIONAL ROBERT E. LANDERS PO BOX 1534 UNION, NJ 07083 271-688-9000 THE BLAKELY PEANUT CO. 265 N MAIN STREET BLAKELY, GA 31723 DOTHAN OIL MILL COMPANY JOE SANDERS PO BOX 458 DOTHAN, AL 36301 275-792-4104 ELI LILLY & CO. ELANCO PRODUCTS CO. CHARLES E. MOORE 3035 DIRECTORS ROW, S. 408 MEMPHIS, TN 38131 PLOPIDA PEANUT PROD. ASSOC OLAN P. JOHNSON, EXEC. DIR PO BOX 447 GRACEVTLLE, PL 32440 PRITO-LAY RES. LIBRARY CONSTANCE S. KASLE 900 NORTH LOOP 12 IPVING. TX 75061 214-579-2271 GA AGRICULTURAL CONMODITY COMMISSION FOR PEANUTS T. SPEARMAN 110 EAST 4TH STREET TIFTON, GA 31794 912-386-3470 GRIPPIN CORPORATION JIMNY L. WHATLRY PO BOX 1847 VALDOSTA, GA 31603-1847 912-242-8635 GUSTAPSON, INC. KYLF W. RÜSHING PO BOX 660065 DALLAS, TX 75266-0065 214-931-8899 HERSHEY CHOCOLATE COMPANY CLARENCE J. CROVELL SENIOR STAPP TECHNOLOGIST 19 EAST CHOCOLATE AVE. HERSHEY, PA 17033 717-534-4595 ICI AMERICAS INC. R. A. HERRETT PO BOX 208 GOLDSBORO, NC 27530 919-736-3030 KEEL PEANUT COMPANY INC. RUFUS KEEL P.O.BOX 878 GREENVILLE, NC 27834 919-752-7626

LILLISTON CORPORATION WILLIAM T. MILLS BOX 3930 ALBANY, GA 31708 912-883-5300 NATL PEANUT COUNCIL PERRY A. RUSS SUITE 700 1000 SIXTEENTH ST. NW WASHINGTON, DC 20036 202-775-0450 NC PEANUT GROWERS ASSN. NORPLEET L. SUGG P.O.BOX 1709 ROCKY MOUNT, NC 27801 919-446-8060 OKLAHONA PEANUT CONNISSION WILLIAM PLANAGAN P.O. BOX D MADILL OK 73446 405-795-3622 PAUL HATTAWAY CO. R. F. HUDGINS, PRESIDENT P.O. BOX 669 CORDELE, GA 31015 PEANUT BUYERS, INC. WILLIAM T. PAIR PO BOX 246 SEMINOLE, TX 79360 PEANUT GROWERS COOPERATIVE MAPKETING ASSN. B. E. MARKS, JR. PO BOX 59 PRANKLIN, VA 23851 SDS BIOTECH CORP. GARY L. EILRICH PO BOX 348 7528 AUBURN ROAD PAINESVILLE, OH 44077 SEABROOK BLANCHING CORP. J.W.GARDNER, PRESIDENT BOX 609 EDRNTON, NC 27932 SNACK-MASTER G. CURTIS BUSK PO BOX 3289 ALBANY, GA 31708 912-883-4000 SOUTH CAROLINA PEANUT BD CURT EDENS ROUTE 1, BOX 61 DALZELL, SC 29040 SPRAYING SYSTEMS CO. STEVEN MITCHEL, JR. NORTH AVE. AT SCHMALE RD. WHEATON, IL 60187 STANDARD BRANDS J.J. EDELMANN RIVER RD., DEFOREST AVE. EAST HANOVER, NJ 07936 TEXAS PEANUT PRODUCERS BD MARY WEBB P.O.BOX 398 GORMAN, TX 76454 817-734-5853

.

THE NITRAGIN COMPANY INC. STEWART SMITH 3101 W. CUSTER AVE. MILWAUKEE, WI 53209 414-462-7600 I. S. GYPSUM CO. GERALDINE E. MASSOTH 101 SOUTH WACKER DRIVE CHICAGO, IL 60606 312-321-4399

2

VA PEANUT GROWERS ASSN. RUSSELL C. SCHOOLS CAPRON, VA 23829 804-658-4573

MEMBERSHIP TYPE: ORGANIZATIONAL

ALPORD REPRIG. WAREHS INC BRYANT SHUMPERT, VP INV. C P.O. BOX 5088 DALLAS, TX 75222 AMERICAN PELLETIZING CORP. CONRAD DYER 13 ISLAND DRIVE BRICK TOWN, NJ 08724 ANHEUSER BUSCH, INC. EAGLE SMACKS, S. GALLUZO I BUSCH PLACE 4TH FLOOR, BEVO ST. LOUIS, MO 63118 314-577-3931

BASP WYANDOTTE CORP. EARLE BUTTERFIELD 100 CHERY HILL ROAD PO BOX 181 PARSIPPANY, NJ 07054 201-263-0200

BIRDSONG PEANUTS TOM WEST PO BOX 1400 SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-3456

BIRDSONG PEANUTS T.H. BIRDSONG III PO BOX 698 GORNAN, TX 76454 817-734-2266

BORDEN PEANUT CO., INC. BOBBY BORDEN PO BOX 28 PORTALES, NN 88130 505-356-8545

E. J. BRACH & SONS ROBERT P. ALLEN BOX 802 CHICAGO, IL 60690

CANADA PACKERS INC. SIMSON CHAN 3 OVEREND ST. TORONTO, ONTARIO CANADA, M5A 3R2 416-366-4671

CHIPMAN CHEMICALS INC. DENNIS M. DANIELSON 2127 E. MEMORIAL DR. JAWESVILLE, WI 53545

CIBA-GEIGY CORP S.W. DUMPORD SUITE 716 5950 PAIRVIEW ROAD CHARLOTTE, NC 28210 734-554-6661

CSIRO LIBRARY DIV OF TROP. CROPS & PAST. CUNNNINGHAM LAB CARMODY RD. ST. LUCIA QLD AUSTRALIA 4067 GA PARM BUREAU PEDERATION ROBERT W. MARLOWE PO BOX 7068 MACON, GA 31204 GEORGE P. HARTNETT & CO. GEORGE P. HARTNETT 540 PRONTAGE ROAD NORTHFIELD, IL 60093 GYA PEANUT ASSOCIATION CHARLES P. COKER, MANAGER US 19 SOUTH CANILLA, GA 31730 912-336-5241 GILLAM BROS PEANUT SHELLER RUDY COBB, REPRESENTATIVE PO BOX 550 WINDSOR, NC 27983 HERSHEY FOODS CORP. DR. GIOVANNI BIGALLI HERSHEY FOODS TECH. CENTER PO BOX 805 HERSHEY, PA 17033 HOBBS-ADAMS ENG. CO. OLIVER K. HOBBS P.O.BOX 1833 SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-0231 HOFLER-KINCAID BROKERAGE DOUGLAS W. KINCAID, JR. PO BOX 1356 SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-0291 HOME BRANDS & CONGRA CO. 4600 LYNDALE AVE. NORTH MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55412 STEVE K. HUBER ALL AMERICAN NUT PRODUCTS 16901 VALLEY VIEW CERRITOS, CA 90701 J. R. JAMES BROKERAGE CO. RUTH J. MOORE P. O. BOX 220 300 EXECUTIVE COURT SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-934-3211 JACK COCKEY BROKERAGE CO. JACK COCKEY, JR. P. O. BOX 1075 SUPFOLK, VA 23434

LEAVITT CORPORATION JAMES T. HINTLIAN, PRES. P.O.BOX 31 100 SANTILLI HIGHWAY EVERETT, MA 02149 NABISCO BRANDS INC. LIBRARY 15 RIVER ROAD WILTON, CT 06897 203-762-2500 NATL. PEANUT CORPORATION D. CARTER PLANTERS PEANUTS 200 JOHNSON AVENUE SUPFOLK, VA 23434 804-934-6200 NC CROP IMPROVEMENT ASSN. FOIL W. MCLAUGHLIN 3709 HILLSBOROUGH ST RALEIGH, NC 27607 919-737-2851 OILSEEDS BOARD P.O. BOX 211 PRETORIA 0001 REPUBLIC OF SOUTH APRICA OKLA CROP IMPROVEMENT ASSN P.R. LEGRAND OKLA. STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 PEANUT PROCESSORS INC. P.O.BOX 158 DUBLIN, NC 29332 PEERLESS MANP. CO. W.E. DYKES PO BOX 293 SUELLMAN, GA 31786 912-679-5353 PERT LABORATORIES INC J. R. BAXLEY P.O.BOX 267 PEANUT DRIVE EDENTON, NC 27932 POND BROTHERS PEANUT CO. RICHARD POND P.O.BOX 1370 SUPPOLK, VA 23434 PORTALES VALLEY MILLS, INC. HERB MARCHMAN PO BOX 329 PORTALES, NM 88130 505-356-6691 PROCTOR & GAMBLE CO. STAN KREUTZER 6071 CENTER HILL ROAD CINCINATI ON 45224 513-977-7568 PROCTOR & SCHWARTZ, INC. W.G. PRICK 251 GBRALTAR ROAD HORSHAM, PA 19044 215-443-5200 RHONE-POULENC INC. HOWARD N. REYNOLDS PO BOX 902 GROVE HILL, AL 36451 ROHM & HAAS COMPANY PRED W. BELLEDIN INDEPENDENCE MALL WEST PHILADELPHIA, PA 19105 SMITH BROKPRAGE CO., INC. EDWARD D. SMITH 426 W. WASHINGTON ST. SUPPOLK, VA 23434

SOUTHEASTERN PEANUT ASSN. JCHN W. GREENE P.O. BOX 1746 ALBANY, GA 31702 STEVENS INDUSTRIES W. P. SMITH DAWSON, GA 31742 STEVENS INDUSTRIES CHUCK SUTTON PO BOX 272 DAWSON, GA 31742 SW PEANUT GROWERS ASSN ROSS WILSON GORMAN, TX 76454 817-734-2222 SW PEANUT SHELLERS SYDNEY C. REAGAN 10 DUNCANNON CRT. GLENN LK. DALLAS, TX 75225 TABA FOODS TYRONE MASSEY 1900 CONLES AVENUE ALBANY, GA 31703 912-439-7726 THE COLUMBIAN PEANUT CO. JOHN T. RATLIPPE PO BOX 1470 DECATUR, IL 62525 THE NAT. DAIRY DEVEL. BD. LIBRARY ASSISTANT POST BOX 40 AHAND 388 001 GUJARAT INDIA TOYO NUTS CO. LTD. 30 PUKAE-HAMANACHI HIGASHINADA-KU KOBE CITY, JAPAN 078-452-7211 UB (POODS) LTD. P.M. BUCKINGHAM BASTWOOD TRADING ESTATE ROTHERIAM, SOUTH YORRSHIRE S65 1TD ENGLAND UNIROYAL CHEMICAL 158 WIND CHIME CT. RALEIGH, NC 27609 UNIVERSAL BLANCHERS, INC. PO DRAWER 727 BLAKELY, GA 31723 VA-CA PEANUT ASSN. W. RANDOLPH CARTER LOCK DRAWER 499 SUPFOLK, VA 23434 804-539-2100 WILCO PEANUT CO. C.H. WARNKEN PO BOX B PLEASANTON, TX 78064 512-569-3808

،

MEMBERSHIP TYPE: INDIVIDUAL

FRED ADAMS DEPT. OF AGRONOMY AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-826-4100 PLOYD J. ADAMSEN USDA, ARS PO BOX 7099 SUPPOLK, VA 23437 DR. ESAM M. AHMED UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA DEPT. POOD SCIENCE GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1991 ROBERT E. AKIN GOLD KIST PEANUTS PO BOX 488 600 2ND ST. N.E. MOULTRIE, GA 31768 A. H. ALLISON TRACEC P.O.BOX 7219 SUPFOLK, VA 23437 304-657-6378 GEORGE D. ALSTON PO BOX 1177 STEPHENVILLE, TX 76401 817-768-2764 PRABHAKAR WASUDEO AMIN ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OP INTERN EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 C. R. ANDRESS STAUFFER CHEMICAL CO. 14007 FINEROCK HOUSTON, TX 77079 713-497-1691 N. MURTHI ANISHETTY IBPGR, PLANT PROD. & PROT. PAO, VIA DELLE TERME DI CARCCALLA 00100 ROME, ITALY CARROLL D. APPLEWHITE PMC CORP PT 3 BOX 61A TIFTON, GA 31794 PROFESSOR V. ARUNACHALAM NAT. FELLOW, GROUNDHUT PRO INDIAN AGR. RES. INST. PEG. STAT. RAJENDRANAGAR HYDERABAD 500030 INDIA 08-424-8224 ANDAM ASHRI FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE PO BOX 12 REHOVOT 76100 ISRAZL TIN AUNG DEPUTY ASST. GEN. MANAGEF AGR. PESEARCH INST. YEZIN, PYINMANA BURMA JAMES L. AYERS GOLD KIST INC. PO BOX 2210 ATLANTA, GA 30301 AMADOU BA LABORATOIRE MYWTOXINES ISRA SECTEUR CENTRE SUD BP A99 KAVLACK SENEGAL

.

H.F. BABB, JR. 217 HANGING TREE RD COURTLAND, VA 23837 PAUL A. BACKMAN BOTANY & PLANT PATH DEPT AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-826-4830 JACK BAILEY DEPT. OP PLANT PATHOLOGY BOX 7616 NC STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 919-737-2711 DARRELL BAKER NMSU AGR SCI CENTER STAR ROUTE, BOX 77 CLOVIS, NM 88101 505-985-2292 CHARLES H. BALDWIN, JR. 5797 TANAGER CT. MENTOP, OH 44060 JOHN BALDWIN COUNTY AGENT BOX 218 BRONSON, PL 32621 904-486-2165 DONALD BANKS AGRONOMY DEPT. OKLA. STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER. OK 74078 405-624-4124 D. BASHIR, DIRECTOR POOD RESEARCH CENTRE PO BOX 213 RHARTOUM NORTH SUDAN MAX BASS DEPT. ENTOMOLOGY-FISHERIES UGA COASTAL PLAIN STATION TIFTON, GA 31793 DAVID T. BATEMAN RT. 1 BOX 1688 TYNER, NC 27980 919-221-4777 ALLEN E. BAYLES BOX 2007 AIKEN, SC 29801 803-649-6297 PAUL W. BECKER TEXASGULF CHEMICALS, INC. 201-B MERRIWOOD DRIVE CARY, NC 27511 919-467-2194 PRED BELFIELD JR. AG. EXT. AGENT ROOM 102 AG. CENTER AG. CENTER DR NASHVILLE, NC 27856 D. K. BELL PLANT PATHOLOGY COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STATION TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3370 VICHITR BENJASIL KHON KAEN PIELD CROP RESEARCH CENTER KHON KAEN THAILAND

JERRY M. BENNETT BLDG. 164 INIVERSITY OF PLORIDA DEPT. OF AGRONOMY GAINESVILLE, FL J2611 904-392-6180 PICHARD BERBERET ENTOMOLOGY DEPT. OKLAHONA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATEP. OK 74078 405-624-5527 KARVIN BEUTE BOX 7616 N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 919-737-2737 N. M. BIRDSONG, JR. BIRDSONG PEANUTS P.O.BOX 776 PRANKLIN, VA 23851 804-562-3177 JCE R. BISHOP UNIROYAL 1110 N. MAIN ST. SYLVPSTER, GA 31791 912-776-2677 MARK C. BLACK PO DPAWER 1849 TAMU RES.EXT. UVALDE, TX 78801 P.P.C. BLAMEY DEPT. OF AGRICULTURE UNIV. OF QUEENSLAND ST. LUCIA, OLD 4067 AUSTRALIA 07-377-3829 PAUL BLANKENSHIP NATL PRANUT RESEARCH LAB. 1911 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4481 PETER D. BLOOME OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY 216 AGRICULTURE HALL STILLWATER, OK 74078 404-624-5425 HAROLD U. BLYTHE HOBBS-ADAMS ENGR. CO. 1100 HOLLAND RD. 57FFOLK, VA 23434 504-539-0231 HENRY BOCK CIBA-GEIGY PO BOX 1090 VERO BEACH, PL 32960 JIM BONE ICI AMERICAS, INC. AG CHEN DIV PO BOX 208 GOLDSBORO, NC 27530 919-736-1401 KENNETH J. BOOTE AGRONOMY DEFT. 304 NEWELL HALL UNIVERSITY OF PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1811 J.P. BOSTICK PO BOX 357 HEADLAND, AL 36345 T. E. BOSWELL TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY PO BOX 755 PLANT DISEASE RES. STATION YOARUM, TX 77995 512-293-6326

LEROY S. BOYKIN ICI AMERICAS INC.LOGY 3301 N. 20 TH ST. MCALLEN, TX 75801 512-682-4248 VILLIAM D. BRANCH DEPT. OP AGRON. COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STA. TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3561 JOHN M. BRANDT PLANTERS PEANUTS 200 JOHNSON AVE. SNPFOLK, VA 23434 804-539-2343 MARK BRAXTON PO BOX 20456 DOW CHEMICAL MONTGOMERY, AL 36120 BARRY J. BRECKE UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA AGR. RESEARCH CENTER BOUTE 3 JAY, FL 32565 904-994-5215 FLEMING G. BROOKS BROOKS PEANUT CO., INC. PO BOX 190 SAMSON, AL 36477-0190 SANUEL BROWN ROUTE 1, BOX 97 ROCHELLE, GA 31079 912-365-7189 GERALD BRUSEWITZ AG. ENGINEBRING DEPT. OKLA. STATE UNIVEPSITY STILLWATER. OK 74078 405-624-5428 CHRISTOPHER P. BRUTON PO BOX 1614 BANGKOK, 5, THAILAND 233-5606 P. C. BRYANT COUNTY AGENT, MARTIN CO. NC EXTENSION SERVICE WILLIAMSTON, NC 27892 919-792-1621 GALE A. BUCHANAN DEAN AND DIRECTOR AAES 107 COMER HALL AUBURN UNIV. , AL 36849 ROGER C. BUNCH PO BOX 248 TYNER, NC 27980 JAMES L. BUTLER SOUTHERN AGR. ENERGY CENT. COASTAL PLAIN EXPT. STA. TIFTON, GA 31793 912-386-3585 ELISEO P. CADAPAN DEPT. OF ENTOMOLOGY UNIV. OF THE PHILIPPINES COLLEGE, LAGUNA 3720 PHILIPPINES JOHN S. CALAHAN, JR. DEPT. BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES TARLETON STATE UNIVERSITY STEPHENVILLE, TX 76402 817-968-4158 IAN S. CAMPBELL 145-1 WOODLAKE PL. ATHENS, GA 30605

.

ē

W. V. CAMPBELL DEFT. OF ENTOMOLOGY N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY BOX 7613 RALFIGH, NC 27695-7613 919-737-2833 CHARLES S. CANNON RT. 2 BOX 171 ABB EVILLE, GA 31001 912-467-2042 JOHN CARDINA USDA-ARS COASTAL PLAIN EXPT. STAT. BOX 748 TIPTON, GA 31793 SAM P. CECIL 1119 MAPLE DRIVE GRIPPIN, GA 30223 404-228-8835 GARVIN CHANDLER CHANDLER ENTERPRISES W. STAR BT. BOX 93 PORTALES, NM 88130 505-356-8088 JAY W. CHAPIN SDISTO EXPERIMENT STAT. PO BOX 247 BLACKVILLE, SC 29817 803-284-3345 SHUI-HO CHENG 350 LIN-SEN RD. TAINAN, TAIWAN REPUBLIC OF CHINA JOHN CHERRY ERRC, ARS-USDA 600 E. MERMAID LANE PHILADELPHIA, PA 19118 J.M. CHESHIRE, JR. UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA GEORGIA STATION EXPERIMENT, GA 30212 BOBBY CLARY AG. ENGR. DEPT. OKLAHONA STATE UNIY. STILLWATER, OK 74078 405-624-5426 TERRY A. COFFELT TRACEC P.O.BOX 7098 SUPFOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6744 DESTRUE L. COLE UNIVERSITY OF ZIMBABWE DEPT OF CROP SCIENCE BOX MP167 MOUNT PLEASANT HARARE, ZIMBABWE RICHARD COLE NATIONAL PEANUT RES LAB 1911 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4441 JAMES R. COLLINS RHONE-POULENC, INC. PO BOX 1515 STATESBORO, GA 30458 RAYMOND D. COLTRAIN PEANUT BELT RESEARCH STAT PO BOX 220 LEWISTON WOODVILLE, NC 27849 919-348-2213

.

•

EDITH J. CONKERTON USDA-ARRC P.O. BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 DEMETRIOS CONSTATINOU DISTRICT AGRIC. OPPICE PAMAGUSTA AT LARMACA PO BOX 481 LARMACA, CYPRUS 041-527-00 P.R. COX SOIL SCIENCE DEPT. BOX 7619 N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7619 919-737-2388 MARK A. CRAWPORD DEPT OP BOTANY, PLT PATH & MICRO. AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 ALEX CSINOS DEPT PLANT PATHOLOGY COASTAL PLAIN EXP STA TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3370 DAVID G. CUMMINS GEORGIA EXP. STATION AGRONOMY DEPT. EXPERIMENT. GA 30212 404-228-7279 LARRY M. CURTIS AGR. ENGR. DEPT. AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 D.O.A., INST. DE RECHERCHES POUR LES HUILES & OLEAGINEUX-SERV. DOC. 11 SQUARE PETRARQUE 75116 PARIS, PRANCE DONALD J. DAIGLE SO. REG. RES. CENTEB PO BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 504-589-7594 JAMES I. DAVIDSON, JR. NATL PEANUT RESEARCH LAB. 1011 FORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4481 MARCELLA S. DAVIDSON HERSHEY CHOCOLATE COMPANY PO BOX 1028 STUARTS DRAFT, VA 24477 703-337-4700 JAMES C. DAVIS 418 KINBALL DRIVE MARION, SC 29571 803-423-3228 ROBERT DAVIS USDA-ARS STORED-PRODUCT INS. RES. 6 DEV. LAB., POB 22909 SAVANNAH, GÅ 31403 J.W. DEMSKI DEPT. PLANT PATHOLOGY GA. EXPT. STATION EXPERIMENT, GA 30212 404-228-7202 TED DENBOW US GYPSUM 417 BROOKGLEN RICHARDSON, TX 75080 214-690-4161

J. W. DICKENS ISDA-ARS NC STATE TNIV BOX 7625 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7625 919-737-3101 IPRISSA DICKO PROP. A L'UNIVERSITE I.S.P Bº 7021 CUAGADOUGOU UPPER VOITA WEST APRICA D. W. DICKSON NEMATOLOGY LAB. BLDG. 78, UNIV. OP PL GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1990 UPBAN L. DIENER 750 SHERWOOD DR. AUBURN, AL 36830 FRANK G. DOLLEAR RT. 3, BOX 460 PEARL RIVER, LA 70452 504-863-7490 DAVID E. DOUGHERTY BASP WYANDOTTE CORP. 1321 HICKORY HOLLOW LN. RALEIGH, NC 27610 919-834-7555 CLYDE C. DOWLER USDA-SEA-AR COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STA. TIFTON, GA 31793 912-386-3351 JAN DREYER PRIVATE BAG X 1251 Potchepstroom 2520 South Aprica C. E. DRYE EDISTO EXPT. STATION BCX 247 BLACKVILLE, SC 29817 W. G. DUNCAN 102 N.W. 29TH ST. GAINESVILLE, PL 32607 606-258-8479 S.L. DWIVEDI ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OF INTERN. EDUC. 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 PETEP DYCUS 29809 20TH AVE. S. PEDERAL WAY, WA 98003 RAY EDAMURA 1047 YONGE STREET TOPONTO, ONTARIO 144-213 CANADA 416-922-5100 GARY EILRICH SDS BIOTECH CORP. PO BOX 348 PAINESVILLE, OH 44077 ABDEL MONEIM B. EL AHMADI PLANT BREEDING SECTION GEZTRA RESEARCH STATION PO BOX 126, WAD NEDANI SUDAN GEPALD H. ELKAN DEPT. HICPOBIOLOGY BOX 7615 NC STATE UNIVERSITY RALFIGH, NC 27695-7615 919-737-2392

JAMES M. ELLIOT 109 BROCK STREET BAST TILLSONBURG, ONTARIO CANADA N4G 2A1 519-842-8321 DONALD A. EMERY NCSU CROP SCIENCE DEPT BOX 7620 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7620 919-737-3666 JOHN 4. EVEREST 106 EXTENSON HALL AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-821-4477 HELEN H. FAGBENLE 1001 N. PERKINS RD. APT. J-203 STILLWATER, OK 74075 ALEXANDER B. PILONOW PLANT PATHOLOGY OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 RALPH PINKNER NNST AGR SCI CENTER STAR ROUTE, BOX 77 CLOVIS, NM 88101 505-985-2292 NICHELE N. FLETCHER APT. CC 372 CASSIDY RD BUDD LAKE, NJ 07828 RHEA W. PORAKER SANDY LAND RES. STATION MANGUM, OK 73554 405-782-2046 SIDNEY W. POX UNIROYAL CHEMICAL RR 3 DONALSONVILLE, GA 31745 912-524-2724 Z. R. PRANK INST OF PLANT PROTECTION POB 6 BET-DAGAN, ISRAEL C. NICHAEL PRENCH EXT. AGRON.-WEED SCI. PO BOX 1209 TIPTON. GA 31793 912-386-3407 JOHN C. PRENCH HEAD, EXTENSION PEST MGT. EXTENSION HALL AUBURN UNIY., AL 36849 205-826-4940 WCODROE FUGATE P.O. BOX 114 WILLISTON, PL 32696 904-528-5871 JOE E. PUNDERBURK UNIVERSITY OP PLORIDA NPREC, IPAS ROUTE 2 BOX 638 QUINCY, PL 32351 T. POWELL GAINES AGRONOMY DEPARTMENT COASTAL PLAIN EXPT STAT TIPTON, GA 31793-0748 912-386-3360 ZHANG GAO-YING Shang dong agr coll Tai an county Shang dong province Peoples republic op china

÷

FRANK GAPDNER AGRONONY DEPT. UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 974-392-6187 ROBERT P. GARDNER VATIONAL PEANUT CORP. 200 JOHNSON AVE. SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-2343 KENNETH H. GARREN 408 KINGSALE ROAD SUFFOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6549 J. GAUTREAU B.P. NO. 59 BAMBEY SENEGAL R.W. GIBBONS ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST OP INTERN EDUC 809 TNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 IGNACIO GODOY SEC. OLEAGINOSAS INSTITUTO AGRONOMICO CP28 13 100 - CAMPINAS-S.P. BRAZIL DEWITT GOODEN CLEMSON UNIVERSITY BOX 247 EDISTO EXP. STATION DLACKVILLE, SC 29817 903-284-3345 DANIEL W. GORBET AGR. RES. CENTER RT 3, BOX 493 WARTANNA, FL 32446 904-594-3241 WILLIAM H. GRADIS ICI AMERICAS, INC. PO BOX 208 GOLDS BORO, NC 27530 919-731-5200 WILLIAM W. GREGORY, III PO BOY 515 Dothan, Al 36302 JAMES GRICHAR P.O.BOX 755 YOAKIH, TX 77995 512-293-6326 BILLY J. GRIPFIN BERTIE CO. EXT. SERV. PO BOY 280 WINDSOR, NC 27983 919-794-3194 TERRY GRINSTED SNACK-MASTER DIV. OF MARS, INC. PO BOX 3289 ALBANY, GA 31708 PICHARD L. GUTHRIE DEPT AGRON AND SOILS 202 PUNCHESS HALL AUPHEN UNIVERSITY, AL 36949 JOE W. HAAHN 198 WILDWOOD PINEVILLE, LA 71360 AUSTIN HAGAN 107 EXTENSION HALL AUBURN UNIVERSITY ANBURN AL 36849 205-826-4940

•

HENRY B. HAGWOOD PPG INDUSTRIES, INC. RT. 4, BOX 86 OXPORD, NC 27565 BILL HAIRSTON GUSTAFSON, INC. BOX 660065 DALLAS, TX 75266-0065 DENNIS B. HALE DOW CHEMICAL USA SUITE 2005 20 PERIMETER CENTER BAST ATLANTA, GA 30346 SIDNEY P. HALL, JR. RT 2, BOX 124 GREENWOOD, PL 32443 904-569-2687 J. E. HAMM PO BOX 403 SYLVESTER, GA 31791 912-776-2032 JOHN M. HAMMOND PO BOX 2369 AUBURN, AL 36830 205-887-7362 LUTHER C. HAMMOND 2169 MCCARTY HALL UNIVERSITY OP PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1951 R. O. HAMMONS CONSULTANT 1203 LAKE DR. TIPTON, GA 31794 912-382-3157 JOHN HANEY WESTRECO, INC. 555 S. 4TH STREET PULTON, NY 13069 RICHARD K. HANRAHAN RHONE-POULENC INC. PO BOX 125 MONMOUTH JCT, NJ 08852 201-297-0100 ZACKIE HARRELL GATESVILLE, NC 27938 919-357-1400 HENRY C. HARRIS 3020 SM 1ST AVENUR GAINESVILLE, PL 32607 904-373-1651 GERALD W. HARRISON SDS BIOTECH CORPORATION 2506 REDWOOD CT. #1 Albany, GA 31707 912-883-0764 DALLAS HARTZOG AGRONOMIST-PEANUTS AUBURN UNIVERSITY PO BOX 217 HEADLAND, AL 36345 205-693-2010 AVRAHAM HARTZOOK 7 MAZADA STREET REHOVOT 76 408 ISRAEL R.C. HEARPIELD UNITED BISCUITS LTD. WINDY RIDGE ASHLY-DE-LA-ZOUBH LEICS., 606 500 ENGLAND ROB HEILHANN SHELL DEVELOPMENT CO. 320 INTERSTATE N.PARKWAY SUITE 200 ATLANTA, GA 30339 LEWIE D. HELMS DOTHAN OIL MILL CO. PO BOX 458 DOTHAN, AL 36301 205-792-4104 RCNALD HENNING EXTYNSION AGRON-PEANUTS UNIVERSITY OF GA PO BOX 1209 TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3430 RAY HICKS Elanco 4216 Hickory Dr Montgonery, al 36109 G.L. HILDEBRAND 5 POWYS LANE NORTHWOOD PO MT. PLEASANT HARARE 7IMBABWE ROBERT A. HILL USDA ARS SRRC PO BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 ARTHUR E. HILTBOLD AGRONOMY & SOILS AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 35849 CLIFFORD HOELSCHER ENTOMOLOGY BLDG. RM. 411 TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 DAVID M. HOGG UNITED STATES GYPSUM CO. BOX 10811 RALFIGH, NC 27605 B00-621-9529 KAREN A. HOHB BEST POODS/CPC INTERN 1120 COMMERCE AVE. UNION, NJ 07083 VERNON M. HOLLOWAY 1206 N. BUENA VISTA AVE ORLANDO, FL 32818 305-295-2331 W. CLAYTON HOLTON, JR. ROUTE 3 BOX 288 CAMILLA, GA 31730 MICHAEL W. HOTCHKISS RT. 3 BOX 155 PORT VALLEY, GA 31030 ROBERT K. HOWELL BARC-WEST BELTSVILLE, MD 20705 301-344-3143 DAVID C.H. HSI NEW NEXICO STATE UNIV. AG SCIENCE CENTER 1936 MILLER ST. SW LCS LUNAS, NM 87031 505-865-4684 CHING-SHENG HSU TAINAN DIST. AGR. IMP. STA 350 LIN-SEN RD. TAINAN, TAIWAN REPUBLIC OP CHINA

JAN HULSEY HULSEY SEED LABORATORY,INC PO BOX 132 DECATUR, GA 30031 DAVID M. HUNT MOBAY CHEMICAL CORP. 526 SHELTON RD. AUBURN, AL 36830 G. HUTCHINSON PO BOX 592 HARARE, ZIMBABWE HASSAN ISHAG AGBICULTURAL RESEARCH CORP PO BOX 126 WAD MEDANI SUDAN YASUYUKI ISHIDA Agronomy labobatory Paculty of Education Saitma university URAWA, JAPAN KOW-CHOY IU C/O AGRICULTURE & PISHERIE CANTON RD. GOVT. OPPICES 393 CANTON ROAD KOWLOON, HONG KONG HENRY W. IVEY II AUBURN UNIVERSITY RT 2 HFADLAND, AL 36345 205-693-2363 CURTIS JACKSON ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OP INTERN. EDUC. 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 J.O. JACKSON 303 SW 22ND ST. SEMINOLE, TX 79360 KENNETH E. JACKSON 115 LIPE SCIENCES EAST OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 WENDY JACKSON SOUTHEASTERN PEANUT PARMER PO BOX 706 TIPTON, GA 31793 J.R. JAMES CIBA-GEIGY CORP. 410 SWING RD. GREENSBORO, NC 27405 ROLP JESINGER 513 NOVEMBER DR DURHAM, NC 27712 919-383-2396 WILEY C. JOHNSON DEPT. OF AGRONOMY & SOILS AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 DAVID J. JUDD UNIFOYAL CHEMICAL CO. CHELTENHAM ROAD EVESHAM, WORCS, WR11 6LW ENGLAND NOBLE S. KEARNEY, JR. PO DRAWER 1849 UVALDE, TX 78801 M. REERATI-KASIKORN FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE KHON KAEN UNIVERSITY KHON KAEN THAILAND 40002

,

.

2

2

THOMAS J. KERR DEPT. OP MICROBIOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA ATHENS, GA 30602 DAROLD L. KETRING AGRONOMY DEPARTMENT OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 405-624-7059 RORERT D. KEYS NC STATE UNIV. DEPT. CROP SCIENCE BOX 7620 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7620 919-737-3027 LAKHO L. KHATRI SWIFT/HUNT-WESSON POODS 1645 W. VALENCIA DRIVE FULLERTON, CA 92633 PAUL KING UNIROYAL CHEMICAL 3601 E. CELERY AVE. SANFORD, PL 32771 PEGGY KING DEPT, BOTANY & MICROBIOL. AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-826-4714 JAMES KIRBY AGRONOMY DEPT. OKLA. STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER_OK 74078 405-624-6417 IVAN W. KIRK SOUTHERN REG. RES. CENTER PO BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 504-589-7512 DAVID KNAUPT AGRONOMY DEPT 2183 MCCARTY HALL UNIVERSITY OP PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1823 JAYANT KOTHARI JADEWHITE INC. 1651 WEST 3RD ST. BROOKLYN, NY 11223 ARTHUR E. KRISINSKI 208 MONROE AVE EDISON, NJ 08820 MARK W. KRUK CPC INTERN/BEST FOODS 1120 COMMERCE AVE. UNION, NJ 07083 J. GARY KRUNMEN GARY'S PEANUTS, INC. 2105 CENTRAL AVE. CINCINNATI, ON 45214 513-621-2165 THOMAS A. KUCHAREK UNIVERSITY OF PLORIDA BLDG HSPP GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 CRAIG KVIEN DEPT. OF AGRONOMY UNIV. OF GEORGIA COASTAL PLAIN EIPT. STA. TIFTON, GA 31793 PERCIE LAMAR TOM'S FOODS PO BOX 60 CCLUMBUS, GA 31902

A.N. LAMPANG FIELD CROP RESEARCH INST. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE BANGKHEN, BANGKOK 10900 THAILAND JOHN LANSDEN NATL PEANUT RESEARCH LAB. 1011 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4441 THOMAS LEE, JR. P.O.BOX 1177 STEPHENVILLE, TX 76401 817-965-5071 JOHN LEIDNER PROGRESSIVE PARMER PO BOX 1603 TIPTON, GA 31794 912-386-0778 WILLIAM R. LEIGH PENT-A-VATE CORP. 966 W. PALM ST. LINDSAY, CA 93247 H. READ LESTER ROUTE 1 BURGESSVILLE, ONTARIO CANADA NOJ 1CO PRANK G. LIEDL, JR. CPC INTERNATIONAL 1120 COMMERCE AVE UNION, NJ 07083 WILLIAM LINDEMANN DEPT. OP CROPS & SOIL BOX 30 NEW MEXICO STATE UNIV. LAS CRUCES, NM 88003 ROBERT LITTRELL UNIV. OF GEORGIA COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STA. DEPT. OF PLANT PATHOLOGY TIFTON, GA 31793 RICHARD W. LIVINGSTON LIVINGSTON PARMS 11555 AVE. C. YUMA. AZ 85365 602-726-5494 ELBERT J. LONG SEVERN PEANUT CO. PO BOX 28 SEVERN, NC 27877 NORMAN LOVEGREN USDA SOUTHERN REG RES CENT BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 504-589-7593 GILBERT R. LOVELL COORDINATOR S-9 PROJECT USDA-ARS, GA EXP. STAT. EXPERIMENT, GA 30212 PATRICK LUMMUS PO DRAWER Z PEARSALL, TX 78061 JAMES N. LUNSPORD ICI AMERICAS INC. 101 LADD CIRCLE STATESBORO, GA 30458 EDMUND LUSAS TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY FOOD PROT. R&D CENTER OILSEED PRODUCTS BLDG. COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843

POBERT E. LYNCH INSECT BIOLOGY LAB. USDA - ARS TIFTON, GA 31793 KAZHMI NAEDA Faculty op Agriculture Kochi University Nankoku Kochi, Japan, 783 A. DUNSTAN MALITHANO PROJECT ADVISOR UNIV. EDUARDO MONDLANE C.P. 157, MAPUTO MOZAMBIQUE - APRICA COKE NARKHAN RT. 5 BOX 303 DUNNELLON, PL 32630 904-489-4839 N.D. MARSHALL NATHANIEL GIBBS (CANADA) 505 CONSUMERS RD SUITE 603 WILLOWDALE, ONTARIO, CANADA M2J 4 V8 BRUNO MAZZANI CENIAP, AGRONOMIA MARACAY, VENEZUELA 043-830994 South America J. PRANK MCGILL PIELD CONSULTANT M/M MARS PO BOX 81 TIPTCN. GA 31794 912-382-6912 AITHEL MCHAHON #19 TOWN & COUNTRY CIRCLE ARDMORF, OK 73401 905-223-3505 WM. S. MCNAMEE SOUTHEAST PARM PRESS PO BOX 1217 CLARKSDALE, MS 38614 DAVID MCNEAL USDA/ES 3341-S WASHINGTON, DC 20250 KAY MCWATTERS POOD SCIENCE DEPT. GA STATION Experiment, GA 30212 404-228-7284 NILS MELKERSON NABISCO BRANDS, INC. PLANTERS DIVISION 200 JOHNSON AVE. SUPPOLK, VA 23434 HASSAN A. MELOUK USDA DEPT. PLANT PATHOLOGY OKLAHONA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 475-624-5644 DUANE MELTON PO BOX 2524 VALDOSTA, GA 31601 912-247-2316 THOMAS E. MICHAELS DEPT. OF CROP SCIENCE UNIV. OF GUELPH GUELPH, ONTARIO N1G1B6 CANADA K. J. MIDDLETON QUEENSLAND DEPT PRIM. IND. PO BOX 23 KINGAROY, QUEENSLAND 4610 AUSTRALIA 071-621-3555

LAWRENCE I. MILLER DEPT PLANT PATH & PHY VPI & SU BLACKSBURG, VA 24061 703-961-5024 PHILIP A. MILLER USDA-ARS-NPS BLDG. 005 BARC-WEST BELTSVILLE, ND 20705 ROBERT H. MILLER 801 CHALPONTE DRIVE ALEXANDRIA, VA 22305 202-447-8839 NORMAN A. MINTON COASTAL PLAIN EXP STA TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3372 AUBREY MIXON USDA-SEA/AR COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STATION TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3561 AHMAD MOHAMED ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OP INTERN. PDUC. 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 S.C. MOHAPATRA NC STATE UNIVERSITY DEPT. OF BIOL. & ÅGR. ENGR BOX 7625 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7625 919-737-3101 PHIL MONPORT SNACKMASTER-DIV OF MARS PO BOX 3289 ALBANY, GA 31708 912-883-4000 GORDON E. MONROE USDA-ARS PO BOX 748 TIFTON, GA 31794-0748 PRANK MOORE CIBA-GEIGY PO BOX 10657 PENSACOLA, PL 32504 LOY W. MORGAN EXPERIMENT STATION TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3374 R. HARVEY MORRIS PO BOX 248 ELIZABETHTOWN, NC 28337 919-862-4591 J.P. MOSS ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST OF INTERN EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 ROBERT B. MOSS UNIV. OP GEORGIA SOUTHWEST BRANCH EXP. STA. PLAINS, GA 31780 WALTON MOZINGO TRACEC SUPPOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6450

٦

DON S. MURRAY DEPARTMENT OF AGRONOMY OKLAHOMA STATE UNIV. STILLWATER, OK 74078 POGER MUSICK CROP-GUARD, INC. BOX 232 EAKLY, OK 73033 AUNG MYAING TOWNSHIP MANAGER AGRICULTURE CORPORATION MAGWE - BURMA TOMMY NAKAYAHA FOOD SCIENCE DEPT. GA EXP. STA. EXPERIMENT, GA 30212 404-228-7284 RICHARD NASH RT. 4 BOX 633 TIPTON, GA 31794 912-382-7994 ALY NDIAYE ISRA CNRA BAMBEY SENEGAL K. E. NEPRING NCLENSSTRAAT 10 6702CS WAGENINGEN THE NETHERLANDS JAMES S. NEWMAN TEXAS AGR. EXP. STATION TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY P.O.BOX 292 STEPHENVILLE, TX 76401 S.N. NIGAM ICRISAT REG GNUT PROG S AP PRIVATE BAG 63 LILONGWE, MALAWI CENTRAL APRICA A. J. NORDEN 402 NEWELL HALL UNIVERSITY OF PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1811 BRUCE E. NOWLIN CROP-GUARD, INC. PO BOX 232 EAKLY, OK 73033 405-797-3213 BILL NUNLEY RT. 1 MARLOW, OK 73055 405-658-3896 GRAHAM R. O'BERRY COLUMBIAN PEANUT CO. PO BOX 284 AHOSKIE, NC 27810 WILLIAM C. ODLE SDS BIOTECH CORP. 1039 HUNTERS POINT CORDOVA, TN 38018 POBERT L. ORY USDA-ARS SO. REG. RES. CENTER PO BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 504-589-7075

JACK OSWALD PLA. POUND. SEED PRODUCERS P.O. BOX 309 GREENWOOD, PL 32443 CHINTANA OUPADISSAKOON DEPT. PRODUCT DEV. COLLEGE OP AGRO-INDUSTRY KASETSART UNIVERSITY BANGKOK 10900, THAILAND G.A. PALANISAMY AGRICULTURAL RESEARCH STAT ALIYARNAGAR 642 101 COIMBATORE DISTRICT INDIA JAMES PALLAS USDA-SEA/AR BOX 555 WATKINSVILLE, GA 30677 404-769-5631 HORACE PALMER HOLSUM POODS PO BOX 218 WAUKESHA, WI 53186 RUI-CHI PAN HEAD OP BIOLOGY DEPT SOUTH CHINA NORMAL UNIV. GUANGZHOU - CHINA S. K. PANCHOLY DIVISION OF AGRI SCI FLORIDA ACH UNIVERSITY TALLAHASSEE, PL 32307 904-599-3119 ROY C. PARKER RR # 1, BOX 24-A2 LEXINGTON, SC 29072 WILBUR PARKEP PERT LABORATORIES INC. P.O.BOX 267 EDENTON, NC 27932 919-482-4456 JERALD K. PATAKY DEPT. OF PLANT PATHOLOGY UNIV. OF ILLINOIS 1102 S. GOODWIN AVE. URBANA, IL 61801 217-333-1524 ARAN PATANOTHAI HEAD, PLANT SCIENCE DEPT. KHON KAEN UNIVERSITY PACULTY OP AGRICULTURE KHON KAEN, THAILAND HAROLD PATTEE BOX 7625 N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7625 919-737-3121 DONALD R. PATTERSON 6328 RALEIGH LA GRANGE RD MEMPHIS, TN 38134 JOHN C. PAULSON MINERAL RES. & DEV. CORP. 4 WOODLAWN GREEN SUITE 232 CHARLOTTE, NC 28210 JAMES R. PEARCE 1404 CAPTAINS ROAD TARBORO, NC 27886

JACK PEARSON NATL PEANUT RESEARCH LAB. 1011 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4441 CLYDE PEEDIN BOX 37 HALIPAX, NC 27839 919-583-5161 ASTOR PERRY 1201 PINEVIEW DRIVE RALEIGH, NC 27606 919-851-4714 NAT K. PERSON, JR. AGR. ENGINEERING DEPT. TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-1131 ROBERT PETTIT PLANT SCIENCE DEPT. TEXAS A & H UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-7311 SANKARA PHILIPPE ASST. A L'UNIVERSITE I.S.P BP 7021 OUAGADOUGOU UPPER VOLTA WEST APRICA PATRICK M. PHIPPS VPI & SU TRACEC SUPPOLK, VA 23437 CALVIN PIGG, JR. SOUTHWEST PARM PRESS 13531 N. CENTRAL EXPRESS. SUITE 2225 DALLAS, TX 75243 214-690-0721 CAROL L. PINNELL-ALISON SDS BIOTECH CORPORATION 4712 EDWARDS MILL RD. RALFIGH, NC 27612 ROY PITTMAN 3701 N. MONROE STILLWATER, OK 74074 405-624-3936 SIDNEY L. POE DEPT OF ENTOMOLOGY PRICE HALL VPI & SU BLACKSBURG, VA 24061 703-961-6341 JOSEPH POMINSKI SO. PEG. RES. LAB. P.O. BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 504-589-7012 J. MATHEW POPE HANCOCK PEANUT COMPANY BOX 198 COURTLAND, VA 23837 DOUGLAS J. PORTBOUS 502 WOODCLIPP DR ATLANTA, GA 30338 MORRIS PORTER USDA-ARS TIDEWATER RESEARCH CENTER SUFFOLK, VA 23437 R04-657-6744

DANNY POWELL PO BOX 869 ATHENS, GA 30603 NORRIS L. POWELL DEPT. OF AGRONOMY VPI & SU BLACKSBURG, VA 24061 703-951-5741 BILL PRYOR 1098 MEADOWBROOK DR BEDFORD, VA 24523 STEVEN G. PUEPPKE DEPT OP PLANT PATHOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI COLUMBIA, MO 65211 Y. RAMANATHA RAO ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST OP INTERN EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 MICHAEL J. READ PO BOX 26 PEANUT MARKETING BD KINGAROY QUEENSLAND AUSTRALIA 074-72-2211 S. C. REAGAN 10 DUNCANNON COURT GLEN LAKES DALLAS, TX 75225 214-692-3332 D. V. RGAHAVA REDDY ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST OP INTERN EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 L.J. BEDDY ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OF INTERN. EDUC. 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 LEONARD REDLINGER 734 BEECHWOOD DR. SAVANNAH, GA 31406 912-233-7981 EDILBERTO D. REDONA INST. OP PLANT BREEDING UNIV. OP THE PILIPPINES COLLEGE, LAGUNA 3720 PHILIPPINES JOSEPH M. REIDHART KOCIDE CHEMICAL CORP. PO BOX 45539 12701 ALMEDA RD. HOUSTON, TX 77045 713-433-6404 KEN RILEY INST. OF AGRICULTURAL RES. HOLETTA STATION PO BOX 2003 ADDIS ABABA, ETHIOPIA DENNIS ROBBINS DOTHAN OIL MILL CO. PO BOX 458 DOTHAN, AL 36302 205-792-4104 ROY ROBERSON 300 S. CEDARBROOK DR AUBURN, AL 36830

.

.

2

.

z

A. STERETT ROBERTSON DOW CHEMICAL CO SUITE 600 12700 PARK CENTRAL PL DALLAS, TX 75251 214-387-2211 ROBERT L. ROBERTSON BOX 7613 NC STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7613 919-737-2703 R. RODRIGUEZ-KABANA BOTANY & MICROBIOLOGY DEPT AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-826-4830 BENNY ROGERSON UNIROYAL 158 WINDCHINE CT RALEIGH, NC 27612 E. W. ROGISTER JR. COUNTY BXT. CHAIRMAN PO BOX 605 JACKSON, NC 27845 9 19-534-2711 ROBERT L. ROTH UNIV. OF ARIZONA 6425 W. EIGHTH STREET YUMA, AR 85364 602-782-3836 ROBERT ROY TOBACCO RES. STATION BOX 186 DELHI, ONTARIO N4B2VG CANADA 519-582-2861 O.E. RUD TIDEWATER RESEARCH CENTER SUPPOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6450 RICHARD RUDOLPH MOBAY CHENICAL CORP. 1587_PHOENIX BLVD. SUITE 6 ATLANTA, GA 30349 404-487-7468 V. RUMOBE PLANTERS DIVISION 200 JOHNSON AVE. SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-2343 MALLIKA SAMARASINGHE SRIYAWASA SIDDAMULLA PILIYANDALA SPILANKA L. E. SAMPLES COOP. EXT. SERVICE COLLEGE OP AGRICULTURE TIPTON. GA 31793 912-386-3442 TIMOTHY H. SANDERS NATL PEANUT RES. LAB. 1011 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4441

DONALD R. SCHMIDT 'C'-RMI-JAKARTA AGENCY POR INTERN. DEV. WASHINGTON, DC 20523 A.M. SCHUBERT PLANT DISEASE RES. STATION TEXAS AGRIC. EXP. STAT. PO BOX 755 YOAKUM, TX 77995 512-293-6326 LOREN L. SCHULZE AGENCY POR INTERN. DEVELOP RM. 4 13C SA- 18 WASHINGTON, DC 20523 DONALD G. SCOTT GUSTAPSON, INC. PO BOX 660065 DALLAS, TX 75266-0065 214-931-8899 JAMES A. SCOZZIE DIAMOND SHAMROCK CORP TR EVANS RESEARCH CENTER PO BOX 348 PAINESVILLE, OH 44077 EDWARD B. SEIFRIED CIBA-GEIGY PO BOX 4828 MCALLEN, TX 78502 512-687-5796 MORENA SEITZ 840 METHOD RD. UNIT 3 RALEIGH, NC 27607 MEHBOOB B. SHEIKH PEANUT RESEARCH LAB DIV OF AGR SCIENCES PLORIDA A&M UNIV TALLAHASSEE, PL 32307 P. M. SHOKES UNIVERSITY OP PLOBIDA AG. RES. & ED. CENTER OUINCY, PL 32351 904-627-9236 JAMES R. SHOLAR 376 AG HALL OKLAHONA STATE UNIV. STILLWATER, OK 74078 405-624-6423 ROBERT A. SHORT, SR. US GYPSUN CO. PO BOX 442 ALBANY, GA 31702 912-888-2440 RAY SHORTER DEPT OP PRIMARY IND. PO BOX 23 RINGAROY, QLD. 4610 AUSTRALIA 074-72-1355 NICHAEL D. SIEGEL ANDERSON BAKERY CO. 2060 OLD PHILADELPHIA PIKE LANCASTER, PA 17602 BYRON L. SIMONDS PO BOX 188 WINTON, NC 27986 919-358-1519

CHARLES E. SIMPSON TEXAS A 6 M UNIVERSITY P.O.BOX 292 STEPHENVILLE, TX 76401 817-968-4144 JACK SIMPSON BIRDSONG PEANUTS BOX 698 GORMAN, TX 76454 817-734-2226 A. K. SINGH ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST OP INTERNATIONAL EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 BHARAT SINGH POOD SCIENCE DEPT ALABAMA A&M UNIV. PO BOX 274 NORMAL, AL 35764 SATHORN SIBISINGH DEPT. OF AGRICULTURE KASRTSART UNIV. CAMPUS BANGKHEN, BANGKOK 9 THILAND WHIT O. SLAY NATL PEANUT RESEARCH LAB. 1011 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4481 C. B. SNITH, PRESIDENT C.B.S. INTERNATIONAL INC. PO BOX M EDENTON, NC 27932 919-482-7766 D. H. SNITH TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY P.O.BOX 755 YOAKUM, TX 77995 512-293-6326 H. RAY SMITH SDS BIOTECH CORP. PO BOX 348 7528 AUBURN RD. PAINESVILLE, OH 44077 216-694-5208 JAMES W. SMITH DEPT. ENTOHOLOGY TEXAS ACM UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-2516 JOHN C. SMITH TRACEC SUPPOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6450 JCHN S. SMITH, JR. USDA, AR, SR, SE AREA NATIONAL PEANUT RES. LAB. 1011 PORRESTER DR. SE DAWSON, GA 31742 912-995-4481 OLIN SMITH TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY DEPT. CROP & SOIL SCIENCE COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-8795 J. W. SORENSON, JR. 125 PERSHING ST. COLLEGE STATION, TX 77840 713-696-4061

RICHARD K. SPRENKEL AREC BT. 3 BOX 638 OUINCY. PL 32351 904-627-9236 HARVEY W. SPURR USDA-ARS OXFORD TOBACCO LAB ROUTE 2 BOX 16G OXFORD, NC 27565 H. THOMAS STALKER DEPT CROP SCI. - BOX 7629 840 METHOD RD. UNIT 3 NC STATE UNIVERSITY RALEIGH, NC 27695-7629 919-737-3281 J. R. STANSELL CPES AG. ENGINEBRING DEPT. TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3377 JAMES L. STEELE USDA ARS TIDEWATER RESEARCH CENTER SUPPOLR, VA 23437 804-657-6403 WILLIAM J. H. STONE THE UPJOHN COMPANY 455 N. W. 11TH AYENUE BCCA RATON, FL 33432 305-392-1025 PETER STONEHOUSE SCHOOL OF AGR. ECON. UNIV. OF GUELPH GUELPH, ONTARIO CANADA, NIG 2 W1 519-824-4120 R. V. STURGEON, JR. EXT. PLANT PATHOLOGIST 15 LIPE SCIENCE BAST OKLARONA STATE UNIV. STILLWATER, OK 74078 405-624-5645 P. SUBRAHMANYAN PLANT DISEASE RES. STAT. TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY PO BOX 755 YOAKUH, TX 7799517 GENE SULLIVAN NC STATE UNIVERSITY BOX 7620 Raleigh, NC 27695-7620 919-737-4441 BRUCE G. SUTTON DEPT. AGRON. & HORT. SCI. UNIV. OF SYDNEY, NSW 2006 SYDNEY AUSTRALIA CAREL J. SWANEVELDER SR RES. OPP, AG. RES. PRIVATE BAG X 1251 POTCHEFSTROOM 2520 REPUBLIC OP SOUTH APRICA CHARLES SWANN GA. EXTENSION SERVICE BOX 1209 RURAL DEVELOPMENT CTR. TIPTON GA 31793 912-366-3430

٠

7

.

SAW THET SWE DEPT OP AGRONOMY COASTAL PLAIN EXPT STAT PO BOX 748 TIPTON, GA 31793-5401 RUTH ANN TABER DEPT. OP PLANT SCIENCES TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-7311 Y. TAKAHASHI CHIBA PREP AGR EXT STA YACHIMATA INBA-GUN CHIBA-PREPECTUR B JAPAN 043-444-0676 ALLISON TALLY CIBA-GEIGY RT. 1, BOX 185 ARNOLDSVILLE, GA 30619 J. W. TANNER CROP SCIENCE DEPT. UNIVERSITY OP GUELPH GUELPH, ONTABIO CANADA 519-824-4120 WILLIAN B. TAPPAN 106 CHEESEBOROUGH AVE. QUINCY, PL 32351 JOHN D. TAYLOR J & S PLANT CONSULTANTS PO BOX 23 SKIPPERS, VA 23879 804-634-4319 S.L. TAYLOR POOD RESEARCH INST. UNIV. OF WISCONSIN 1925 WILLOW DRIVE MADISON, WI 53706 608-263-6935 W. KENT TAYLOR PT. 6-BOX 194 TIPTON, GA 31793 912-382-1018 H. HOOVER THOMAS 5601 CALTON DE. RALEIGH, NC 27612 919-782-3263 L. NIC THOMAS GUSTAPSON, INC. PO HOX 660065 DALLAS, TX 75266-0065 214-931-8899 STEPHEN D. THOMAS PO BOX 494 MENTMORE, NM 87319 505-722-2153 LAPAYETTE THOMPSON AMER. AGRI. SERVICES INC. 1142 E. MAYNARD RD. CARY, NC 27511 919-469-1800 SAMUEL THOMPSON EXT. PLANT PATHOLOGIST BOX 1209 TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3509

٠

P. DALP THREADGILL AGR. ENGR. DEPT. COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STATION UNIVERSITY OF GA TIFTON, GA 31793 BARBARA TRIPLETT USDA-ARS-S. REG. RES. CENT 1100 ROBERT E. LEE PO BOX 19687 NEW ORLEANS, LA 70179 LELAND TRIPP ROOM 350 SOIL & CROP SCIENCE BLDG. TEXAS A & H UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 713-845-7910 JOHN TROEGER USDA COASTAL PLAIN STATION TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3348 CHI-YEH TSAI GUANGXI ACADEMY OP AG. SCI NANNING, GUANGXI PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA ALLEN K. UNDERWOOD HELENA CHEMICAL CO. BOX 5977 CAYCE-W. COLUMBIA, SC 29171 RICHARD L. URBANOWSKI SDS BIOTECH CORPORATION 1760 THE EXCHANGE-ST.103 ATLANTA, GA 30339 404-952-3700 SAMUPL N. UZZELL PITT CO EXTENSION SERVICE 1717 W PIPTH ST Greenville, NC 27834 919-758-1196 WAYNE VACLAVIK POUNDATION SEED SERVICE TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 409-845-4051 JOSE P.M. VALLS EMBRAPA/CENARGEN SAIN-PARQUE RURAL C.P.10.2372 70770 BRASILIA-DF, BRAZIL MILTON WALKER DEPT. OF AGRONOMY UNIVERSITY OF GA TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3327 I. S. WALLERSTEIN AGRICULTURAL RES ORG THE VOLCANI CENTER PO BOX 6 BET DAGAN, ISRAEL L. R. WALTON PET INC. 400 SOUTH 4TH STREET ST. LOUIS, MO 63166

AREE WARANYUWAT KASETSART UNIVERSITY DEPT. OP AGRONOMY BANGKNEN, BANGKOK 10900 THAILAND

~

BYRON WARNKEN WILCO PEANUT CO. P.O.BOX B PLRASANTON, TX 78064 512-569-3808 KURT WARNKEN WILCO PEANUT CO. PO BOX B PLEASANTON, TX 78064 512-569-3808 DAVID L. WATSON WATSON CONSULTING INC. PO BOX 2144 GLEN ELLYN, IL 60137 PENNY WILSON WEBER DUPONT AGRIC. CHEMICALS PO BOX 4231 ALBANY, GA 31706 JAMES R. WEEKS ROUTE 2 BOX 86A ASHPORD, AL 36312 205-693-2010 GLENN WEHTJE AGRONCNY DEPARTMENT AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 205-828-4900 DOYLE WELCH COLUMBIAN PEANUT CO. P.O.BOX 226 DE LEON, TX 76444 817-893-2059 J.C. WELLS BOX 7616 N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY FALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 919-851-1469 TOM WEST BIRDSONG PEANUTS PO BOX 1400 SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-3456 JIMMY WHATLEY PO BOX 1847 VALDOSTA, GA 31601 912-242-8635 THOMAS WHITAKER BOX 7625 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7625 919-737-3101 PETER WHITE BOX 186 DELHI RESEARCH STATION DELHI, ONTARIO CANADA N4B2W9 519-582-1950 P.B. WHITTY 303 NEWFLL HALL UNIVERSITY OP FLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 904-392-1817 R. JAY WILLIANS USDA-ARS GA COASTAL PLAIN EXP. STA. TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3348 J. H. WILLIAMS ICRISAT/AGINSPO INST. OF INTERN. EDUC. 809 UNITED NATIONS PL. NEW YORK, NY 10017 J. MICHAEL WILLIAMS PO BOX 1030 EDENTON, NC 27932 DAVID WILSON DEPT. PLANT PATH COASTAL PLAIN STATION TIPTON, GA 31793 912-386-3370 LUKE WISNIEWSKI 2417 38TH ST. LUBBOCK, TX 79412 HERB WOMACK P.O. BOX 1209 RURAL DEVELOPMENT CENTER TIFTON, GA 31793 912-386-3424 HARRY WOOD BOX 46 EVINSTON, PL 32633 904-591-2430 RICHARD E. WOODWARD STOLLER CHEM CO., INC. 8582 KATY PREEWAY STE. 200 HOUSTON, TX 77024 713-461-2910 R. E. WORTHINGTON UNIV. OF GA. EXP. STA. EXPERIMENT, GA 30212 404-228-7285 P. SCOTT WRIGHT USDA ARS TIDEWATER RESEARCH CENTER SUPPOLK, VA 23437 804-657-6403 JOHNNY C. WYNNE NC STATE UNIVERSITY CROP SCIENCE DEPT. BOX 7629 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7629 919-737-3281 CLYDE T. YOUNG DEPT. FOOD SCIENCES BOX 7624 N.C. STATE UNIV. FALEIGH, NC 27695-7624 919-737-2964 JAMES H. YOUNG N.C. STATE UNIVERSITY BOX 7625 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7625 919-737-3101 GERRY ZEKERT NABISCO BRANDS PLANTERS DIVISION 200 JOHNSON AVP. SUPPOLK, VA 23434 804-539-2343 GAOYING Y. ZHANG SHANDONG AG. COLLEGE TAI-AN, SHANDONG PROVINCE THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OP CHINA

2

C

•

.

ŕ

SUSAN ARBENDELL BOX 7629 NC STATE UNIV. Raletgh, NC 27695-7629 JOHN P. BEASLEY, JR. DEPARTMENT OP AGBONOMY LOUISIANA STATE UNIY. BATON ROUGE, LA 70803 TIMOTHY BRENNEMAN DEPT. OP PLANT PATHOLOGY PRICE HALL, VPI & SU RLACKSBURG, VA 24061 ALLAN J. CHIYEMBEKEZA 3028 MCCARTY HALL UNTVERSITY OP PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 DANIEL L. COLVIN UNIVERSITY OF PLORIDA 303 NEWELL HALL GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 L¹IS J. GIRAUDO J-312 AREA III UNIVERSITY VILLAGE ATHENS, GA 30609 4^4-548-6309 CINDY GREEN 1316 BANBURY RD. RALEIGH, NC 27607 919-737-3281 H. GARY HANCOCK DEPT. BOTANY, PLANT PATH. & MICROBIOLOGY AUBURN, UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 JAMES S. HOW NC STATE UNIV. DEPT OF POOD SCIENCE BOX 7624 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7624 MING-TEH PRANK HUANG DEPT OP AGRONOMY OKLAHOMA STATE UNIV. STILLWATER, OK 74078 CHARLES S. JOHNSON DEPT. OP PLANT PATHOLOGY BOX 7616 NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIV. PALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 CHARLES T. KISYOMBE NC STATE UNIVERSITY PLANT PATHOLOGY DEPT. BOX 7616 PALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 CHARAS KITBAMROONG OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY 33-6 N. UNIVERSITY PL. STILLWATER, OK 74075 RAGHAVENDRA MARGAPURAM 1112 WILLIAMS HALL BOX 7619, NCSU RALEIGH, NC 27695-7619 919-737-3027 EDGARDO MONTEVERDE-P. 2311 MCNULLAN CR. RALEIGH, NC 27608 919-851-3296 STEPHEN J. NECK DEPT. OP PLANT PATH. & MICROBIOLOGY TEXAS AGM UNIVERSITY COLLEGE STATION, TX. 77843

MEMBERSHIP TYPE: STUDENT

LI LIN ONG 84 GARDNER ST APT 27 ALLSTON, MA 02134 617-782-7396 ABDELRAHMAN KHIDIR OSMAN EL OBEID STATION W. SUDAN AG. RES. PROJ. PO BOX 5141 KHARTOUM, SOUTH SUDAN MIKE PATTERSON AGRONOMY DEPARTHENT AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 JOHN H. PAYNE DEPT. OP PLANT PATHOLOGY UNIVERSITY OP PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 KEVIN V. PIXLEY PO BOX 14922 GAINESVILLE, PL 32604 S.M. RAJU DEPT. OP FOOD SCENCE NC STATE UNIVERSITY BOX 7624 Raleigh, NC 27695-7624 PRED RATTUNDE ICRISAT - PANCNCHERO P.O. ANDHRA PRADESH INDIA 502 324 MARK D. RICKER NC STATE UNIV. DEPT. OF PLANT PATHOLOGY BOX 7616 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7616 919-737-2753 MICHAEL RIPPLE 303 NEWELL HALL GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 JOSE CARLOS SACA 2811 SW ARCHER RD APT. S-48 GAINESVILLE, PL 32608 RUSTICO B. SANTOS ISABELA STATE UNIVERSITY ECHAGUE, ISABELA 1318 PHILIPPÍNES JAMES P. STACK DEPT. PLANT PATH. & Microbiology Texas A&H UNIVERSITY College Station, TX 77843 ELLEN SYKES RR # 1 CALEDONIA, ONTARIO NOA 140, CANADA JCHN T. TURNER, JR. 549 THORP ST. AUBURN, AL 36830 GREG TURPIN 562 AG HALL OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 405-892-3703 GREG WATSON 1453 HS/PP DEPT. OP PLANT PATHOLOGY UNIVERSITY OP PLORIDA GAINESVILLE, PL 32604 TIN WIN Agronomy department Coastal plain Expt. Stat. Tipton, ga 31794

ACCESSIONS DEPT BRITISH LIB, LENDING DIV. BOSTON SPA, WETHERBY YORKSHIRE LS23 7 BQ ENGLAND ACQUISITIONS DEPT-LIBRARY UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA DAVIS, CA 95616 ACQUISITIONS DIVISION THE ALBERT R. MANN LIBRARY ITHACA, NY 14853 AG. RESEARCH CENTER - JAY ROUTE 3, BOX 575 JAY, PL 32565 904-99415 AGRICULTURE CANADA NRS. M. MORTON, LIBRARY SIR JOHN CARLINE BLDG. OTTAWA, CANADA FIA OC5 AGRICULTURE CANADA RESEARCH BRANCH, RES. STAT BOX 196 DELHI, ONTARIO, N4B 2W9 CANADA ANHEUSER BUSCH INC. S. J. GALLUZZO EAGLE SNACKS ONE BUSCH PLACE ST. LOUIS, MO 63118 ANHEUSER-BUSCH CO. INC. CORPORATE LIBRARY PO BOX 1828 BECHTOLD STATION ST LOUIS, NO 63118 ANTON DE KON UNIVERSITY OF SURINAME P.O.B. 9212 PARAMARIBO - SURINAME SOUTH AMERICA BABHA ATOMIC RESEARCH CENT DR. R. N. PAI LIBRARY & INPORMATION SERV CENTRAL COMPLEX TROMBAY BOMBAY-400 085 INDIA CENTRAL LIB OF AGR SCI (2) POB 12 REHOVOT 76100 ISRAPL CHEMICAL ABSTRACTS SERVICE MAX MOORE, LIBRARIAN PO BOX 30 12 Columbus, oh 432 10 DEPARTNENT OF AGRICULTURE LIBRARIAN JARRAH ROAD SOUTH PERTH WESTERN AUSTRALIA 6151 DH HILL LIB/PER SER CTR NC STATE UNIVERSITY BOX 7111 RALEIGH, NC 27695-7111 DIR. OF OIL SEEDS RESEARCH LIBRARY, OFFICER IN CHARGE RAJENDRANAGAR HYDERABAD-500 030 INDIA

DIRECTOR, LIBRARY SERVICES UNIVERSITY OP O P S PO BOX 301 BLOERPONTEIN 9300 SOUTH APRICA KON.PABR.T.DUYVIS JZ. B.V. NRS. J. E. STUVE P.O. BOX 4 1540 AA KOOG AAN DE ZAAN HOLLAND ECONOMIC BOTANY LIBRABY HARVARD BOTANICAL MUSEUM OXFORD STREET CAMBRIDGE, MA 02138 EDMON LOW LIBRARY SERIALS SECTION OKLAHONA STATE UNIVERSITY STILLWATER, OK 74078 PAO PROJECT MANAGER PO BOX 30563 LUSAKA ZAMBIA, APRICA PAO LIBRARY-SERIALS VIA DELLE TERME DI GARACALLA 1-00100 ROME ITALY POSTIS CENTRAL POOD TECH. RESEARCH INSTITUTE NYSORR, 570013 INDIA ICRISAT/AGINSPO THE LIBRARIAN INST OF INTERNATIONAL EDUC 809 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA NEW YORK, NY 10017 INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECH. LIBRARY KHARAGPUR INDIA 721302 INSTITUT DE RECHERCHES POUR LES HUILES ET OLEAGINEUX 11 SQUARE PETRARQUE 75016 PARIS, FRANCE ITC SENIOR TRADE PROMOTION ADVISOR C/O UNDP PO BOX 913 KHARTOUM, SUDAN KOKKAI-TOSHOKAN KAGARU-JPT NAGATA-CHO CHIYODA-KU TOKYO 100 JAPAN KRAFT INC. R AND D LIBRARY 801 WAUKEGAN ROAD GLENVIEW, IL 60025 LIBRARIAN AGRICULTURAL LIBRARY MAIN LIBRARY SETS DEPT. ATHENS, GA 30601

۹

LIBRARIAN - SERIALS DEPT-UNIVERSITY OF QUEENSLAND MAIN LIBRARY ST. LUCIA QUEENSLAND-AUSTRALIA 4067 LIBRARIAN, DEPUTY COLLEGE OP AGRICULTURE DHARWAR-580005 KARNATAKA, INDIA LIBRARIAN, SERIALS-REC. UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES VPI & SU BLACKSBURG, VA 24061 LIBRARIAN: ASSOC. DOS PLANT. DE CANA SÃO PAULO RUA ANGUSTO ZANINI NO.1591 CEP: 14160 - SERTAOZINHO SÃO PAULO - BRAZIL LIBRARY THOMAS J. LIPTON, INC 800 Sylvan Avenue Englewood Clipps, NJ 07632 LIBRARY BRANCH DEPT OF PRIMARY INDUSTRIES WILLIAM STREET BRISBANE, QUEENSLAND 4000 AUSTRALIA LIBRARY BRANCH (2) DEPT OF PRIMARY INDUSTRIES WILLIAM STREET BRISBANE, QUEENSLAND 4000 AUSTRALIA LIBRARY-SERIALS DEPT Iowa State University Ames, IA 50010 LINDA HILL LIBRARY SERIALS DEPT. 5109 CHERRY KANSAS CITY, MO 64110 MAR BV ATTN: MRS.ELAIS TAYLORWEG 5 5466 AE VEGHEL NETHERLANDS MAX PLANCK INSTITUT FUR ZUCHTUNGSPORSCHUNG KOLN-VOGELSANG 5 KOLN 30 FED. REPUBLIC OP GERMANY YFLKA WERA RESEARCH STAT. LOWLANDS OILCROPS PROJ. BOX 2003, ADDIS ABABA ETHIOPIA MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY-SERIALS EAST LANSING,NI 48824-1048 MISSISSIPPI STATE UNIV. LIDRARIAN STATE COLLEGE, MS 39762

P

MOHINDER RANDHAWA LIBRARY THE UNIVERSITY LIBRARIAN PUNJAB AGRICULTURAL UNIV. LUDHIANA-141004 PUNJAB, INDIA

MRS. AVIVIT LAVY MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE EXT. SERV. PO BOX 7054 TEL AVIV 61070 ISRAEL NTUG SCIENCE & TECH. INP. CTR. PO BOX 4 NANKANG TAIPEI (115) TAIWAN REPUBLIC OP CHINA PEANUT MARKETING BOARD MARC P. DESMARCHELIER KINGAROY, QUEENSLAND AUSTRALIA 074-72-2211 PERIODICAL RECORDING CLERK MORRIS LIBRARY SOUTHERN ILLINOIS UNIV. CARBONDALE, IL 62901 PERPUSTAKAAN FAKULTAS PERT ARIP BUDIWIJAYA UNIVERSITAS GADJAH MADA JLN.SEKIP, PO BOX 1 YOGYAKARTÁ, INDONESIA PUNJABRAO KRISHI VIDYAPEETH LIBRARY MR. P. O. DESHMUKH AKOLA-444 104 MAHARASHTRA STATE, INDIA RALPH BROWN DRAUGHON LIB. SERIALS DEPARTMENT AUBURN UNIVERSITY AUBURN, AL 36849 SELSKO-KHOZJAJSTVEN BIBLIOTEKA ORLIKOV PER., 3 MOSCOV, USSR SERIALS DEPT GENERAL LIBRARY UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA BERKELEY, CA 94720 SIRPRIAT POALIM PO BOX 526 TEL AVIV 61004 ISRAEL SOC. FOR INF. & DOCUMENT. HRS. CHRISTINE W. HIGNETT 1990 M. ST. NW SUITE 680 WASHINGTON, DC 20036 SUGAR IND RES INST M. LY-TIO-PANE REDUIT MAURITIUS TAINAN DIST. AG. IMP. STAT 350 LIN-SEN RD., SECTION 1 TAINAN, TAIWAN 760 REPUBLIC OP CHINA TAIWAN AGR RES INST LIB 189 CHUNG CHENG ROAD WAN-PENG WU-PENG TAICHUNG CHINA (TAIWAN) REPUBLIC OF CHINA TAMIL NADU AGR. UNIV. LIBRARY COIMBATORE - 641003 INDIA

TARLETON STATE UNIVERSITY THE LIBRARY TARLETON STATION STEPHENVILLE, TX 76402 TEXAS A & M UNIVERSITY LIBRARY SERIALS RECORD COLLEGE OF AGR. COLLEGE STATION, TX 77843 THE BRITISH LIBRARY SCIENCE REY. LIB. (A) 25 SOUTHANPTON BLOGS. CHANCERY LANE LONDON WC2A 1AW ENGLAND THE LIBRARIAN REGONAL LIBRARY A.P.A.U. CAMPUS TIRUPATI - 517 502 ANDHRA PRADESH, INDIA THE LIBRARIAN DEPT. OP PRIMARY PROD. BOX 4160, DARWIN NORTHERN TERRITORY AUSTRALIA, 5794 THY LIBRARY CIBA-GEIGY COMPORATION P.O. BOX 18300 REENSBORO, NC 27419 THE LIBRARY RUPPIN INSTITUTE ENER HEPER CODE 60960 ISRAEL OS-395-1317 TOKO BUKU INSULINDE C V. THE DY. DIRECTOR JL OTO ISKBDAR-CLINATA 64 BANDUNGA INDONESIA TROPICAL PRODUCTS INST. THE LIBRARIAN 56-62 GRAY'S INN BOAD LONDON, MCYA BLU UNIV. DEE TECHNISCHEH EDITH BEINKMANN D-3 HANNOVER 1 WELPENGARTEN 1B GERMANY (FEDERAL REPUBLIC) UNIV. OF ILLINOIS SERIALS-FAX 1408 W. GREGORY DRIVE URBANA, IL 61801 UNIV. PERTANIAN MALAYSIA LIBBARIS SERIALS DIVISION SERDANG, SELANGOB MALAYSIA UNIVERSITY OF AG. SCI. LIBRARIAN, G.K.V.K. BANGALORE-56065 KARNATAKA STATE INDIA UNIVERSITY OF PLORIDA HUME LIBBRARY SERIALS I.P.A.S. GAINESVILLE, PL 32611 UNIVERSITY OF GUELPH LIBBARY-SERIALS DIVISION GUELPH, ONTARIO CANADA NIG 2W1 USDA-ARS STORED-PROD.RES.FDEV.LAB. 3401 EDWIN AVENUE PO BOX 22300 SAVANNAH, GA 31403 MHATMA P.K. WINAPENE

NAHATMA P. K. VIDYAPEETH UNIVERSITY LIBRARIAN 3069 RAHUPIA 413 722 DIST. AHMEDNAGAR MAHARASHTRA, INDIA

VIENNA INTERN.CENTRE LIB. PO BOX 100 A-1400 VIENNA AUSTRIA

124

.

•

6

.

AUTHOR INDEX

ڍ

ADAMSEN, F. J.	41	DICKSON, D. W.	54,68
AHMED, E. M.	27	DOWLER, C. C.	49
ALLISON, A. H.	21	DRYE, C. E.	20
ANDREWS, M. W.	15	DWIVEDI, S. L.	38
AUMA, E. O.	34	ELDER, A.	60
BACKMAN, P. A.	19,52	ERICKSON, P. I.	33
BAILEY, J. E.	40, 68	FILONOW, A. B.	15
BALDWIN, C. H.	68	FRENCH, J. C.	24
BANKS, D. J.	30,38	GAINES, T. P.	32,40
BASHA, S. M.	26	GALLIMORE, G. G.	21
BASS, M. H.	36	GARDNER, F. P.	29,34
BENNETT, C.T.	43	GASCH, C. T.	21
BIESHIADA, K.	27	GIBBONS, R. W.	38
BLANKENSHIP, P. D.	23,29,43,45	GCODEN, D. T.	20
BOOTE, K. J.	31	GORBET, D. W.	24,31,37,51
BRANCH, A. L.	27	GUERKE, W. R.	23
BRANCH, W. D.	20,37	HAGAN, A. K.	16
BRECKE, B. J.	24	HAIRSTON, W. G.	66
BRENNEMAN, T. B.	17	HALE, D. B.	66
BUCHANAN, G. A.	11	HAMMONS, R. O.	28
BUTLER, J. L.	42	HANCOCK, H. G.	52
CADAPAN, E. P.	36	HARGROVE, W. L.	35
CAMPBELL, W. V.	36	HEALD, C. M.	38
CHAPIN, J. W.	20,35	HENNING, R. H.	23
CHESHIRE, J. M., JR.	35	HIEBERT, E.	57
CHEW, V.	46	HIGGINS, D. L.	39
CHHINNAN, M. S.	27	HILL, R. A.	23,45
CHIYEMBEKEZA, A. J.	19	HOWARD, E. R.	39
CHRISTIE, R. G.	57	HOWELL, R. K.	33,41
CHRISTIE, S. R.	57	HUANG, MING-TEH	33
COFFELT, T. A.	33,47	ISMAIL, W.	22
COLE, R. J.	23,45	JACKSON, K. E.	18
COLVIN, D. L.	25	JOHNSON, B. B.	30
CSINOS, A. S.	16,32,40	KEERATI-KASIKORN, M.	36
CULBREATH, A. K.	14	KETRING, D. L.	30,33
CULLEN, R.	17	KEYS, R. D.	32
DAIGLE, D. J.	47	KING, P. S.	14,15
DAVIDSON, J. I., JR.	23,43,44,46	KNAUFT, D. A.	37
DeLUCCA, A. J., II	47	KUCHAREK, T.	17
DELWICHE, S. R.	42	LANSDEN, J. A.	46
DEMSKI, J. W.	56	LEE, B. G.	60
DICKENS, J. W.	44,46	LEE, T. A., JR.	65

LITTRELL, R. H.	51,53	SHAIK, M. B.	27
LOVEGREN, N. V.	28	SHOKES, F. M.	31,37,51,53
LOVELL, G. R.	58	SHUPE, W. L.	42
LUMMUS, P. F.	21	SIMONAITIS, R. A.	23
LYNCH, R. E.	35,47	SIMPSON, C. E.	39
MARGAPURAM, R.	32	SIRISHINGH, S.	36
McDONALD, D.	38	SMITH, D. H.	18
McGUIRE, J. A.	25	SMITH, J. C.	21
McMEANS, J. L.	42	SMITH, J. S., JR.	43
MICHAELS, T. E.	39	STACK, J. P.	45
MINTON, N. A.	55	STEELE, J. L.	26
MIXON, A. C.	20,47	STIPES, R. J.	17
MELOUK, H. A.	18	STURGEON, R. V., JR.	62
MORGAN, L. W.	36	SUBRAHMANYAM, P.	19,38
MOZINGO, R. W.	26,44	SULLIVAN, G. A.	22
MULLINIX, B. G., JR.	32	SYKES, E. E.	39
NAKAYAMA, T. O. M.	27	TEEM, D. H.	24
NGWIRA, P.	19	THREADGILL, E. D.	48
NIGAM, S. N.	19,38	TOUCHTON, J. T.	15
NORDEN, A. J.	37	TURNER, J. T., JR.	19
PARRISH, F. W.	28	UNDERWOOD, A.	65
PATTEE, H. E.	28	WALKER, M. E.	32,35,40
PATTERSON, M. G.	25	WALKER, R. H.	25
PEARSON, J. L.	42	WEAVER, C. F.	14
PETTIT, R. E.	45	WEED, C.	66
PHIPPS, P. M.	17,21,67	WEEKS, J. R.	16,24
PITTMAN, R. N.	30,38	WEETE, J. D.	52
PIXLEY, K. V.	31	WEHTJE, G.	25
PORTER, D. M.	22	WHITAKER, T. B.	44,46
POWELL, N. L.	22	WILLIAMS, J. H.	31
PURCIFULL, D. E.	57	WILSON, D. M.	35,47
RAO, R. C. N.	31	WOODWARD, R. E.	67
REDDY, L. J.	38	WORTHINGTON, R. E.	27
REDLINGER, L. M.	23	WRIGHT, F. S.	22
REUSCHE, G. A.	32	WYNNE, J. C.	36,59
RIFFLE, M. S.	24	XIONG, Z.	57
ROBERTSON, D. G.	14	YOUNG, C. T.	26,44
ROCHESTER, E. W.	50	YOUNG, J. H.	42
RODRIGUEZ-KABANA, R.	14,15,54,68		
ROSE, L. P., JR.	41		
ROSS, B. B.	22		
ROTHROCK, C. S.	35		
RUD, O. E.	21		
SANDERS, T. H.	23,29,42,43,45		